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318 SHARES
WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC.

COMMON STOCK
     Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol �WMI.� On October 16,
2008, the last reported sale price of the common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $29.89 per share.
     We are issuing the shares pursuant to the November 2001 settlement agreement relating to the class action lawsuit
brought against us arising from events related to our earnings announcements in July and August 1999. This share
issuance is pursuant to a court order authorizing a second distribution of the remaining balance of the settlement fund
established in 2001. Under the agreement, certain members of the class were required to receive shares of our
common stock in lieu of cash they would otherwise receive under the settlement agreement. The number of shares we
are issuing is based on the aggregate amount of cash otherwise payable under the settlement agreement to these class
members divided by a trailing average closing price of our common stock for thirty days prior to issuance. We will not
receive any proceeds from the issuance of the shares.

Investing in the common stock involves risks that are described in the �Risk Factors� section of our periodic
reports and incorporated in the prospectus dated September 22, 2006 by reference to the those reports.

NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NOR ANY STATE SECURITIES
COMMISSION HAS APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED OF THESE SECURITIES OR PASSED UPON THE
ADEQUACY OR ACCURACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO
THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

We expect to deliver the shares against payment therefor in Houston, Texas on or about October 17, 2008.
Prospectus Supplement dated October 17, 2008
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Years Ended December 31,

2016

% of
Revenue

2015

% of
Revenue

(In thousands)
Excluding Impairment (1)

$
82,541
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3.7%

$
89,470

3.8%
Charge related to Impairment (1)

(655,000
)

—%

—

—%
(Loss) income from operations (1)

$
(572,459
)

(25.9)%

$
89,470

3.8%

(1) The break-out of 2016 (loss) income from operations represents a non-GAAP financial disclosure, which we
believe provides better comparability with our 2015 results.    

Excluding the impact of the goodwill impairment charge, income from operations was approximately $82.5 million
(3.7% of revenue) for 2016.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
General
Cash and Cash Equivalents—At December 31, 2017, our cash and cash equivalents were $354.6 million, and were
maintained in local accounts throughout the world, substantially all of which were maintained outside The
Netherlands, our country of domicile. Approximately $165.8 million of our cash and cash equivalents at December
31, 2017 was within our variable interest entities (“VIEs”) associated with our partnering arrangements, which is
generally only available for use in our operating activities when distributed to the partners.
With respect to tax consequences associated with repatriating our foreign earnings, distributions from our EU
subsidiaries to their Netherlands parent companies are not subject to taxation. Further, for our non-EU companies and
their subsidiaries and our U.S. companies, to the extent taxes apply, the amount of permanently reinvested earnings
becomes taxable upon repatriation of assets from the subsidiary or liquidation of the subsidiary. We have accrued
taxes on undistributed earnings that we intend to repatriate and we intend to permanently reinvest the remaining
undistributed earnings in their respective businesses, and accordingly, have accrued no taxes on such amounts.
Summary of Cash Flow Activity
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Operating Activities—During 2017, net cash used in operating activities was $909.4 million (including approximately
$39.0 million related to our discontinued Capital Services Operations), primarily due to cash utilized as a result of net
losses; a net increase of $262.1 million in our accounts receivable, inventory, accounts payable and net contracts in
progress account balances (collectively “Contract Capital”); a net increase of $36.0 million in other current and
non-current assets; and a net reduction of $103.4 million in other current and non-current liabilities. The components
of our net Contract Capital balances for our continuing operations at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and changes for
our consolidated operations during 2017 was as follows:

Continuing Operations
Capital
Services
(2)

Consolidated

December
31, 2017

December
31, 2016 Change Change Change

(In thousands)
Total billings in excess of costs and estimated
earnings (1) $(1,275,441) $(1,395,349) $119,908 $6,482 $ 126,390

Total costs and estimated earnings in excess of
billings (1) 315,744 410,749 (95,005 ) (3,332 ) (98,337 )

Contracts in Progress, net (959,697 ) (984,600 ) 24,903 3,150 28,053
Accounts receivable, net 759,701 488,513 271,188 (9,973 ) 261,215
Inventory 101,573 190,102 (88,529 ) (1,704 ) (90,233 )
Accounts payable (971,735 ) (964,548 ) (7,187 ) 70,294 63,107
Contract Capital, net $(1,070,158) $(1,270,533) $200,375 $61,767 $ 262,142
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(1)
Represents our cash position relative to revenue recognized on projects, with (i) billings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings representing a liability reflective of future cash expenditures and non-cash earnings, and (ii)
costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings representing an asset reflective of future cash receipts.

(2)

Although our Capital Services Operations were sold on June 30, 2017 and reported as a discontinued operation in
our December 31, 2016 Balance Sheet, our Statement of Cash Flows reflects the changes in Contract Capital
balances (and all balance sheet components) during the six months ended June 30, 2017 (prior to the Closing Date)
on a non-discontinued operations basis.

Fluctuations in our Contract Capital balance, and its components, are not unusual in our business and are impacted by
the size of our projects and changing mix of cost-reimbursable versus fixed-price backlog. Our cost-reimbursable
projects tend to have a greater working capital requirement (“costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings”), while
our fixed-price projects are generally structured to be cash flow positive (“billings in excess of costs and estimated
earnings”). Our Contract Capital is particularly impacted by the timing of new awards and related payments in advance
of performing work, and the achievement of billing milestones on backlog as we complete certain phases of work.
Contract Capital is also impacted at period-end by the timing of accounts receivable collections and accounts payable
payments for our large projects.
The $262.1 million increase in our Contract Capital during 2017 (including an increase of approximately $61.8
million related to our discontinued Capital Services Operations) was primarily due to a net increase in accounts
receivable and contracts in progress and a decrease in accounts payable, partly offset by a decrease in inventory. The
net increase in accounts receivable and contracts in progress was primarily due to the timing of billings and the net use
of advance payments on our large projects in the U.S. within our Engineering & Construction operating group. The
decrease in inventory was primarily related to the wind down of fabrication projects within our Fabrication Services
operating group. The decrease in accounts payable was primarily due to our Capital Services Operations. The net
increase in current and other non-current assets was primarily due to a change in the classification of receivables from
accounts receivable, net, to other non-current assets, for a previously completed consolidated joint venture project, as
we do not anticipate collection within the next year. The decrease in our other current and non-current liabilities
during the period was primarily due to the payment of payroll related obligations resulting from the wind down of
certain projects in the Asia Pacific region. Our net cash used in operating activities, combined with payments in
advance of performing work for our unconsolidated equity method joint ventures, which are reflected in financing
activities because the joint ventures are not consolidated, totaled approximately $882.7 million during 2017. We
anticipate future quarterly variability in our operating cash flows due to ongoing fluctuations in our Contract Capital
balance and the prospective cash impacts of the project charges described above. See “Credit Facilities and Debt” below
for further discussion of our liquidity.
Investing Activities—During 2017, net cash provided by investing activities was $928.7 million, and primarily related to
proceeds from the sale of our discontinued Capital Services Operations of $645.5 million, net of cash sold (see Note 5
within Item 8 for further discussion), net inflows from advances of $235.9 million to our venture partners by our
proportionately consolidated ventures (see Notes 8 and 9 within Item 8 for further discussion), and insurance proceeds
of $99.0 million received as a result of damage to a fabrication facility during Hurricane Harvey, partly offset by
capital expenditures of $46.2 million and other investments of $14.9 million.
Financing Activities—During 2017, net cash used in financing activities was $257.3 million, and primarily related to
repayments on our long-term debt of $632.8 million, net advances from our equity method and proportionately
consolidated ventures of $229.2 million (see Notes 8 and 9 within Item 8 for further discussion), capitalized debt
issuance costs of $44.1 million associated with amendments to our Senior Facilities (see Note 11 within Item 8 for
further discussion), distributions to our noncontrolling interest partners of $29.9 million, dividends paid to our
shareholders of $14.1 million, and stock-based compensation-related withholding taxes on taxable share distributions
totaling $13.5 million (0.6 million shares at an average price of $24.53 per share). These cash outflows were partly
offset by net revolving facility and other short-term borrowings of $694.7 million and cash proceeds from the issuance
of shares associated with our stock plans of $11.7 million.
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents—During 2017, our cash and cash equivalents balance
increased by $87.4 million due to the impact of changes in functional currency exchange rates against the U.S. Dollar
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for non-U.S. Dollar cash balances, primarily for net changes in the Australian Dollar, British Pound and Euro
exchange rates. The net unrealized gain on our cash and cash equivalents resulting from these exchange rate
movements is reflected in the cumulative translation adjustment component of other comprehensive income (loss)
(“OCI”). Our cash and cash equivalents held in non-U.S. Dollar currencies are used primarily for project-related and
other operating expenditures in those currencies, and therefore, our exposure to realized exchange gains and losses is
not anticipated to be material.

46

Edgar Filing: WASTE MANAGEMENT INC - Form 424B5

5



Table of Contents

Credit Facilities and Debt
General—Our primary internal source of liquidity is cash flow generated from operations and capacity under our
revolving credit and other facilities discussed below. Such facilities are used to fund operating, investing and
financing activities, and provide necessary letters of credit. Letters of credit are generally issued to customers in the
ordinary course of business to support advance payments and performance guarantees, in lieu of retention on our
contracts, or in certain cases, are issued in support of our insurance programs.
Committed Facilities—We have a five-year, $1.15 billion, committed revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Facility”)
with Bank of America N.A. (“BofA”), as administrative agent, and BNP Paribas Securities Corp., BBVA Compass,
Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank (“Credit Agricole”) and TD Securities, each as syndication agents,
which expires in October 2018. The Revolving Facility has a $100.0 million total letter of credit sublimit. At
December 31, 2017, we had $683.2 million and $52.1 million of outstanding borrowings and letters of credit,
respectively, under the facility, providing $414.7 million of available capacity, of which $47.9 million was available
for letters of credit based on our total letter of credit sublimit.
We also have a five-year, $800.0 million, committed revolving credit facility (the “Second Revolving Facility”) with
BofA, as administrative agent, and BNP Paribas Securities Corp., BBVA Compass, Credit Agricole and Bank of
Tokyo Mitsubishi UFJ, each as syndication agents, which expires in July 2020. The Second Revolving Facility has a
$100.0 million total letter of credit sublimit. At December 31, 2017, we had $418.9 million of outstanding borrowings
and $91.9 million of outstanding letters of credit under the facility (including $2.7 million of financial letters of
credit), providing $289.1 million of available capacity, of which $8.1 million was available for letters of credit based
on our total letter of credit sublimit.
Maximum outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Facility and Second Revolving Facility (together, “Committed
Facilities”) during 2017 were approximately $1.7 billion. We are assessed quarterly commitment fees on the unutilized
portion of the facilities as well as letter of credit fees on outstanding letters of credit. Interest on borrowings is
assessed at either prime plus 4.00% or LIBOR plus 5.00%. In addition, fees for financial and performance letters of
credit are 5.00% and 3.50%, respectively. During 2017, our weighted average interest rate on borrowings under the
Revolving Facility and Second Revolving Facility was approximately 4.78% and 6.00%, respectively, inclusive of the
applicable floating margin. As a result of the December 18, 2017 amendment described below, our debt obligations
under the Committed Facilities are required to be repaid in connection with the consummation of the Combination.
The Committed Facilities have financial and restrictive covenants described further below.
Uncommitted Facilities—We also have various short-term, uncommitted letter of credit facilities (the “Uncommitted
Facilities”) across several geographic regions, under which we had $1.5 billion of outstanding letters of credit at
December 31, 2017.
Term Loans—On February 13, 2017, we paid the remaining $300.0 million of principal on our four-year, $1.0 billion
unsecured term loan (the “Term Loan”) with BofA as administrative agent. Interest was based on LIBOR plus an
applicable floating margin for the period (0.98% and 2.25%, respectively). In conjunction with the repayment of the
Term Loan, we also settled our associated interest rate swap that hedged against a portion of the Term Loan, which
resulted in a weighted average interest rate of approximately 2.60% during 2017 for the duration of the Term Loan.
At December 31, 2017, we had $440.7 million outstanding under a five-year, $500.0 million term loan (the “Second
Term Loan”) with BofA as administrative agent. Interest and principal under the Second Term Loan is payable
quarterly in arrears, and interest is assessed at either prime plus 4.00% or LIBOR plus 5.00%. During 2017, our
weighted average interest rate on the Second Term Loan was approximately 4.42%, inclusive of the applicable
floating margin. Future annual maturities for the Second Term Loan are $75.0 million, $75.0 million, and $290.7
million for 2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively. As a result of the December 18, 2017 amendment described below, our
debt obligations under the Second Term Loan are required to be repaid in connection with the consummation of the
Combination. The Second Term Loan has financial and restrictive covenants described further below.
Senior Notes—We have a series of senior notes totaling $584.6 million in aggregate principal amount outstanding at
December 31, 2017 (the “Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes include Series A through D and contained the following
terms at December 31, 2017:
•
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Series A—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 9.15%, with principal of $104.7 million due in August 2018 (as a
result of the December 18, 2017 amendment described below)
•Series B—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 7.57%, with principal of $165.8 million due in December 2019
•Series C—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 8.15%, with principal of $195.2 million due in December 2022
•Series D—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 8.30%, with principal of $118.9 million due in December 2024
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The principal balances above reflect the use of $211.8 million of the proceeds from the sale of our Capital Services
Operations to repay a portion of each series of senior notes during 2017 in the following amounts: Series A - $44.6
million, Series B - $58.2 million, Series C - $78.5 million and Series D - $30.5 million. As a result of the December
18, 2017 amendment described below, our debt obligations under the Senior Notes are required to be repaid in
connection with the consummation of the Combination.
We also have senior notes totaling $141.9 million in aggregate principal amount outstanding as of December 31, 2017
(the “Second Senior Notes”) with BofA as administrative agent. Interest is payable semi-annually at a fixed rate of
7.53%, with principal of $141.9 million due in July 2025. The principal balance reflects the use of $57.1 million of the
proceeds from the sale of the Capital Services Operations to repay a portion of the Second Senior Notes. As a result of
the December 18, 2017 amendment described below, our debt obligations under the Second Senior Notes are required
to be repaid in connection with the consummation of the Combination.
The Senior Notes and Second Senior Notes (together, the “Notes”) have financial and restrictive covenants described
further below. The Notes also include provisions relating to our credit profile, which if not maintained will result in an
incremental annual cost of up to 1.50% of the outstanding balance under the Notes. Further, the Notes include
provisions relating to our leverage, which if not maintained, could result in an incremental annual cost of up to 1.00%
(depending on our leverage level) of the outstanding balance under the Notes, provided that the incremental annual
cost related to our credit profile and leverage cannot exceed 2.00% per annum. Finally, the Notes are subject to a
make-whole premium in connection with certain prepayment events.
Compliance and Other—As a result of noncompliance with certain financial covenants, on February 24, 2017, May 8,
2017 and August 9, 2017, we entered into amendments for our Revolving Facility, Second Revolving Facility, and
Second Term Loan (collectively, the “Bank Facilities”) and Notes (collectively, with the Bank Facilities, the “Senior
Facilities”). The amendments adjusted certain original and amended financial and restrictive covenants, introduced new
financial and restrictive covenants, and waived noncompliance with certain covenants and other defaults and events of
default. The amendments:

•

Required us to secure the Senior Facilities through the pledge of cash, accounts receivable, inventory, fixed assets,
certain real property, and stock of subsidiaries, which was in the process of being completed as of December 31,
2017, and will result in substantially all of our assets, subject to customary exceptions, being pledged as collateral for
our Senior Facilities.

•
Required us to repay portions of the Senior Facilities with all of the net proceeds from the sale of our Capital Services
Operations (which occurred on June 30, 2017), the issuance of any unsecured debt that is subordinate (“Subordinated
Debt”) to the Senior Facilities, the issuance of any equity securities, or the sale of any assets.

•Replaced the previous financial letter of credit sublimits for our Revolving Facility and Second Revolving Facilitywith a $100.0 million letter of credit sublimit for each.

•Prohibited mergers and acquisitions, open-market share repurchases and dividend payments and certaininter-company transactions.
•Adjusted the interest rates on our Senior Facilities.

•
Required us to execute on our plan to market and sell our Technology Operations by December 27, 2017 (the
“Technology Sale”), with an extension of up to 60 days at the discretion of the holders of a majority of the outstanding
Notes and at the discretion of the administrative agents of the Bank Facilities.

•

Required us to maintain a minimum aggregate availability under our Committed Facilities, including borrowings and
letters of credit, of $150.0 million at all times from the date of the applicable amendment through the date of the
Technology Sale, and $250.0 million thereafter (“Minimum Availability”). Our amendments required the proceeds from
the Technology Sale be used to repay our Senior Facilities (“Mandatory Repayment Amount”). Further, our aggregate
capacity under the Committed Facilities would be reduced by seventy percent (70%) of the portion of the Mandatory
Repayment Amount allocable to the Committed Facilities, upon closing the Technology Sale and certain other
mandatory prepayment events.
•Required minimum levels of trailing 12-month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”), as defined by the amendments, as follows: $500.0 million at September 30, 2017; $550.0 million at
December 31, 2017; $500.0 million at March 31, 2018; $450.0 million at June 30, 2018 and September 30, 2018; and
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$425.0 million at December 31, 2018 and thereafter (“Minimum EBITDA”). Trailing 12-month EBITDA for purposes
of determining compliance with the Minimum EBITDA covenant is adjusted to exclude: an agreed amount
attributable to restructuring or integration charges during the third and fourth quarters of 2017; an agreed amount
attributable to previous charges on certain projects which occurred during the first and second quarters of 2017; and
an agreed
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amount for potential future charges for the same projects if they were to be incurred during the third and fourth
quarters of 2017 (collectively, the “EBITDA Addbacks”).

•

Provided for an amended maximum leverage ratio and minimum fixed charge ratio of 1.75 (“Maximum Leverage
Ratio”) and new minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 2.25 (“Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio”), which were
temporarily suspended and would resume as of March 31, 2018. Trailing 12-month EBITDA for purposes of
determining compliance with the Maximum Leverage Ratio and consolidated net income for purposes of determining
compliance with the Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio would be adjusted for the EBITDA Addbacks.

•

Limited the amount of certain of our funded indebtedness to $3.0 billion prior to the Technology Sale and $2.9 billion
thereafter, in each case, subject to reduction pursuant to scheduled repayments and mandatory prepayments thereof
(but, with respect to the Committed Facilities, only to the extent the commitments have been reduced by such
prepayments) made by us after August 9, 2017.
As discussed above, our amended covenants following the August 9, 2017 amendment required, among other things,
the completion of our plan to sell the Technology Operations and utilization of the proceeds to repay our Senior
Facilities. In connection with the decision to pursue the Combination, we further amended our Senior Facilities on
December 18, 2017 (the “Effective Date”). The amendments:

•
Waive any noncompliance with the Maximum Leverage Ratio or Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio beginning
on the Effective Date and ending on the earlier of (i) June 18, 2018 or (ii) the occurrence of certain Combination
termination events (the “Covenant Relief Period”).

•Extend the maturity of the Series A Senior Notes, from December 27, 2017 to August 31, 2018 and increase theinterest rates on the Series A Senior Notes.

•Reduce the Minimum Availability threshold for the Committed Facilities from $150.0 million to $50.0 million duringthe Covenant Relief Period.

•
Adjust the required minimum levels of trailing 12-month EBITDA as follows: $550.0 million at December 31, 2017,
$500.0 million at March 31, 2018, $500.0 million at June 30, 2018, $550.0 million at September 30, 2018, and $575.0
million at December 31, 2018 and each quarter thereafter.

•
For the duration of the Covenant Relief Period, increase the amount of certain of our funded indebtedness from $3.0
billion to $3.1 billion less the aggregate amount of all scheduled repayments and mandatory prepayments of such
funded indebtedness made after the August 9, 2017 amendment date.

•

Suspend the requirement to consummate the Technology Sale and require the completion of the Combination by June
18, 2018 (the “Combination Closing Deadline”), subject to earlier milestones including: (i) filing of a joint proxy
statement/prospectus (“Form S-4”) by February 15, 2018, (ii) filing of a solicitation/recommendation statement on
Schedule 14D-9 as promptly as reasonably practicable following (but in any event by no later than 10 business days
after) the commencement of the exchange offer related to the Combination, and (iii) duly calling and giving notice of
a meeting of the Company’s shareholders as promptly as reasonably practicable after the Form S-4 is declared
effective under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (but in any event by no later than May 18, 2018) (collectively,
the “Combination Milestones”).

•

Provide for the mandatory repayment of the outstanding debt under the Senior Facilities on the day of the
closing of the Combination, which in the case of the Notes, is to be at the price of the make-whole amount as
modified by the amendments. During 2017, we accrued approximately $35.0 million within interest expense
related to the anticipated modified make-whole payment.

•

Provide for certain events of default in respect of the Combination, including: (i) termination of documentation related
to the Combination, (ii) failure of the applicable proposals related to the Combination to be brought for a vote by the
shareholders of the Company or McDermott, (iii) the failure of the shareholders of either McDermott or the Company
to approve the applicable proposals related to the Combination at their respective shareholder meetings, subject to a
seven day grace period, (iv) the supervisory board of directors of the Company changing its recommendation to the
Company’s shareholders in respect of the Combination, or (v) the failure of certain financing commitments in respect
of the Combination, subject to customary minimum thresholds.
•Provide for certain other information and modified reporting rights, modifications to mandatory prepayment
requirements, and consent rights of the holders of the outstanding Notes and administrative agents of the Bank
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At December 31, 2017, we were in compliance with our amended restrictive and financial covenants, with a trailing
12-month EBITDA of $656.2 million, and aggregate availability under our Committed Facilities of at least $200.0
million at all times from August 9, 2017 through December 17, 2017, and at least $221.1 million at all times from
December 18, 2017 through December 31, 2017. Based on our forecasted EBITDA and cash flows, we project future
compliance with our financial covenants through the Combination Closing Deadline. Further, we believe we will
successfully achieve the various Combination Milestones required by our December 18, 2017 amendments, and
believe it is probable we will complete the Combination by the Combination Closing Deadline. Although we do not
project future loan compliance violations, due to the requirement for our debt obligations to be repaid in connection
with the Combination, debt of approximately $982.0 million, which by its terms is due beyond one year and would
otherwise be shown as long-term, has been classified as current.
Prior to the Combination Agreement, our plan to maintain compliance with our covenants, satisfy our debt
obligations, and continue as a going concern included the Technology Sale. However, our current plan is to complete
the aforementioned Combination, with no further financing alternatives beyond the Combination. Absent this plan, we
would be unable to satisfy our debt obligations, raising substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going
concern; however, the Combination alleviates the substantial doubt.
The consummation of the Combination is subject to customary closing conditions, including but not limited to: receipt
of required regulatory approvals; approval of certain proposals by the shareholders of the Company and the
stockholders of McDermott; the availability of the transaction-related financing; the accuracy of representations and
warranties of McDermott and the Company (including the absence of a material adverse effect with respect to each of
McDermott’s and the Company’s respective businesses); and each party’s compliance with their covenants, subject to
materiality qualifiers. We may be unable to satisfy the conditions to closing of the Combination, within the required
timeframe or at all. In addition, our ability to consummate the Combination and generate cash flows from operations,
access funding under our Committed and Uncommitted Facilities, and comply with our financial and other covenants
through the Combination Closing Deadline, may also be impacted by a variety of business, economic, legislative,
financial and other factors which may be outside of our control, including, but not limited to: the delay or cancellation
of projects; decreased profitability on our projects; decreased cash flows on our projects due to the timing of receipts
and required payments of liabilities and funding of our loss projects; the timing of approval or settlement of
unapproved change orders and claims; changes in foreign currency exchange or interest rates; performance of pension
plan assets; changes in actuarial assumptions; the inability to obtain required regulatory approvals on acceptable terms
and within the required timeframe; the failure of the shareholders of either the Company or McDermott to approve
their respective merger-related proposals; or conditions to closing of the Combination due to negative developments in
the Company’s business or otherwise. Further, we could be impacted if our customers experience a material change in
their ability to pay us or if the banks associated with our lending facilities were to cease or reduce operations, or if
there is a full or partial break-up of the EU or its currency, the Euro. If we were unable to maintain compliance with
our covenants or timely consummate the Combination our debt would become immediately due, which would require
further amendments from the administrative agents for our Bank Facilities and holders of a majority of the outstanding
Notes (collectively, “Lender(s)”). In addition, we would be required to renew or replace the capacity under our
Revolving Facility (which expires in October 2018) and Second Revolving Facility, obtain relief from payment of our
Series A Notes (which are due in August 2018), and initiate revised plans to maintain compliance with any amended
covenants and to ensure sufficient liquidity, all of which would require Lender approval. There can be no assurances
that our Lenders will provide us with any necessary waivers or amendments if we were unable to maintain compliance
with our financial or other covenants or complete the Combination.
In addition to the above, our Uncommitted Facilities share pari passu in the liens securing the Senior Facilities subject
to a cap of $500.0 million. There can be no assurance that these outstanding letters of credit will be renewed on their
scheduled annual renewal dates or that new letters of credit can be sourced from our Uncommitted Facilities. In
addition, there can be no assurance that we will have sufficient capacity under our Senior Facilities for replacement of
such letters of credit or new letters of credit, if required.
In addition to providing letters of credit, we also issue surety bonds in the ordinary course of business to support our
contract performance. At December 31, 2017, we had $344.0 million of outstanding surety bonds in support of our

Edgar Filing: WASTE MANAGEMENT INC - Form 424B5

12



projects. In addition, we had $411.4 million of surety bonds maintained on behalf of our former Capital Services
Operations, for which we have received an indemnity from CSVC. We also continue to maintain guarantees on behalf
of our former Capital Services Operations in support of approximately $76.8 million of backlog, for which we have
also received an indemnity.
See “Item 1A. Risk Factors” within Part II.
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Other
Contractual Obligations—At December 31, 2017, our contractual obligations were as follows:

Payments Due by Period

(In thousands) Total Less than 1
Year

1-3
Years

3-5
Years

After 5
Years

Senior Notes (1) $628,418 $628,418 $— $— $—
Second Senior Notes (2) 155,363 155,363 — — —
Second Term Loan (3) 455,527 455,527 — — —
Operating leases 235,441 55,633 74,395 47,204 58,209
Information technology (“IT”) obligations (4) 35,495 27,204 6,158 2,133 —
Self-insurance obligations (5) 21,034 21,034 — — —
Pension funding obligations (6) 18,242 18,242 — — —
Postretirement benefit funding obligations (6) 2,357 2,357 — — —
Purchase obligations (7) — — — — —
Unrecognized tax benefits (8) — — — — —
Total contractual obligations $1,551,877 $1,363,778 $80,553 $49,337 $58,209

(1)
Includes interest accruing on our outstanding $584.6 million Senior Notes at a weighted average fixed rate of
8.20%, and the anticipated modified make-whole payment that is required as a result of early repayment of the
Senior Notes in connection with the Combination.

(2)
Includes interest accruing on our outstanding $141.9 million Second Senior Notes at a fixed rate of 7.53%, and the
anticipated modified make-whole payment that is required as a result of early repayment of the Second Senior
Notes in connection with the Combination.

(3) Includes interest accruing on our outstanding $440.7 million Second Term Loan at a rate of 7.07%.
(4) Represents commitments for IT technical support and software maintenance contracts.

(5) Represents expected 2018 payments associated with our self-insurance programs. Payments beyond one year have
not been included as amounts are not determinable.

(6) Represents expected 2018 contributions to fund our defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans.
Contributions beyond one year have not been included as amounts are not determinable.

(7)
In the ordinary course of business, we enter into commitments (which are expected to be recovered from our
customers) for the purchase of materials and supplies on our projects. We do not enter into long-term purchase
commitments on a speculative basis for fixed or minimum quantities.

(8) Payments for income tax reserves of $16.3 million are not included as the timing of specific tax payments is not
determinable.

Other—Although we currently have uncommitted bonding facilities, a termination or reduction of these bonding
facilities could result in the utilization of letters of credit in lieu of performance bonds, thereby reducing the available
capacity under the Committed Facilities. Although we do not anticipate a reduction or termination of our bonding
facilities, there can be no assurance that such facilities will continue to be available at reasonable terms to meet our
ordinary course requirements.
A portion of our pension plans’ assets are invested in EU government securities, which could be impacted by economic
turmoil in Europe or a full or partial break-up of the EU or its currency, the Euro. However, given the long-term
nature of pension funding requirements, in the event any of our pension plans (including those with investments in EU
government securities) become materially underfunded from a decline in value of our plan assets, we believe our cash
on hand, proceeds from divestitures, and amounts available under our existing Committed Facilities and Uncommitted
Facilities would be sufficient to fund any increases in future contribution requirements. See Note 13 within Item 8 for
further discussion of our pension plan assets.
We are a defendant in a number of lawsuits arising in the normal course of business and we have in place insurance
coverage that we believe is appropriate for the type of work that we perform. As a matter of practice, we review our
litigation accrual quarterly and as further information is known on pending cases, increases or decreases, as
appropriate, may be recorded. See Note 14 within Item 8 for a discussion of pending litigation.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
We use operating leases for facilities and equipment when they make economic sense, including sale-leaseback
arrangements. Our sale-leaseback arrangements are not material to our Financial Statements, and we have no other
significant off-balance sheet arrangements.
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
See the applicable section of Note 2 within Item 8 for a discussion of new accounting standards.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our Financial Statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. The preparation of these Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities.
We continually evaluate our estimates based on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Our management has discussed the development and selection of our critical
accounting estimates with the Audit Committee of our Supervisory Board. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our
more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our Financial Statements.
Revenue Recognition
Our revenue is primarily derived from long-term contracts and is generally recognized using the percentage of
completion (“POC”) method, primarily based on the percentage that actual costs-to-date bear to total estimated costs to
complete each contract. We follow the guidance of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) Revenue Recognition Topic 605-35 for accounting policies relating to our use of the
POC method, estimating costs, and revenue recognition, including the recognition of incentive fees, unapproved
change orders and claims, and combining and segmenting contracts. We primarily utilize the cost-to-cost approach to
estimate POC as we believe this method is less subjective than relying on assessments of physical progress. Under the
cost-to-cost approach, the use of estimated costs to complete each contract is a significant variable in the process of
determining recognized revenue and is a significant factor in the accounting for contracts. Significant estimates that
impact the cost to complete each contract are costs of engineering, materials, components, equipment, labor and
subcontracts; labor productivity; schedule durations, including subcontractor or supplier progress; liquidated damages;
contract disputes, including claims; achievement of contractual performance requirements; and contingency, among
others. The cumulative impact of revisions in total cost estimates during the progress of work is reflected in the period
in which these changes become known, including, to the extent required, the reversal of profit recognized in prior
periods and the recognition of losses expected to be incurred on contracts in progress. Due to the various estimates
inherent in our contract accounting, actual results could differ from those estimates, which could result in material
changes to our Financial Statements and related disclosures. See Note 18 within Item 8 for discussion of projects with
significant changes in estimated margins during 2017, 2016 and 2015.
Our long-term contracts are awarded on a competitively bid and negotiated basis and the timing of revenue
recognition may be impacted by the terms of such contracts. We use a range of contracting options, including
cost-reimbursable, fixed-price and hybrid, which has both cost-reimbursable and fixed-price characteristics.
Fixed-price contracts, and hybrid contracts with a more significant fixed-price component, tend to provide us with
greater control over project schedule and the timing of when work is performed and costs are incurred, and
accordingly, when revenue is recognized. Cost-reimbursable contracts, and hybrid contracts with a more significant
cost-reimbursable component, generally provide our customers with greater influence over the timing of when we
perform our work, and accordingly, such contracts often result in less predictability with respect to the timing of
revenue recognition. Contract revenue for our long-term contracts recognized under the POC method reflects the
original contract price adjusted for approved change orders and estimated recoveries for incentive fees, unapproved
change orders and claims, and liquidated damages. We recognize revenue associated with incentive fees when the
value can be reliably estimated and recovery is probable. We recognize revenue associated with unapproved change
orders and claims to the extent the related costs have been incurred, the value can be reliably estimated and recovery is
probable. Our recorded incentive fees, unapproved change orders and claims reflect our best estimates of recovery
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amounts; however, the ultimate resolution and amounts received could differ from these estimates. Liquidated
damages are reflected as a reduction to contract price to the extent they are deemed probable. See Note 18 within Item
8 for additional discussion of our recorded unapproved change orders, claims and incentives.
With respect to our EPC services, our contracts are not segmented between types of services, such as engineering and
construction, if each of the EPC components is negotiated concurrently or if the pricing of any such services is subject
to the ultimate negotiation and agreement of the entire EPC contract. However, an EPC contract including technology
or fabrication services may be segmented if we satisfy the segmenting criteria in ASC 605-35. Revenue recorded in
these situations is based
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on our prices and terms for similar services to third party customers. Segmenting a contract may result in different
interim rates of profitability for each scope of service than if we had recognized revenue without segmenting. In some
instances, we may combine contracts that are entered into in multiple phases, but are interdependent and include
pricing considerations by us and the customer that are impacted by all phases of the project. Otherwise, if each phase
is independent of the other and pricing considerations do not give effect to another phase, the contracts will not be
combined.
Cost of revenue for our long-term contracts includes direct contract costs, such as materials and labor, and indirect
costs that are attributable to contract activity. The timing of when we bill our customers is generally dependent upon
advance billing terms, milestone billings based on the completion of certain phases of the work, or when services are
provided. Projects with costs and estimated earnings recognized to date in excess of cumulative billings are reported
on the Balance Sheets as costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings. Projects with cumulative billings in excess
of costs and estimated earnings recognized to date are reported on the Balance Sheets as billings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings. Any uncollected billed amounts, including contract retentions, are reported as accounts receivable.
Revenue for our service contracts that do not satisfy the criteria for revenue recognition under the POC method is
recorded at the time services are performed. Revenue associated with incentive fees for these contracts is recognized
when earned. Unbilled receivables for our service contracts are recorded within accounts receivable.
Revenue for our pipe and steel fabrication and catalyst manufacturing contracts that are independent of an EPC
contract, or for which we satisfy the segmentation criteria discussed above, is recognized upon shipment of the
fabricated or manufactured units. During the fabrication or manufacturing process, all related direct and allocable
indirect costs are capitalized as work in process inventory and such costs are recorded as cost of revenue at the time of
shipment.
Goodwill
At December 31, 2017, our goodwill balance was $2.8 billion. Goodwill is not amortized to earnings, but instead is
reviewed for impairment at least annually at a reporting unit level, absent any indicators of impairment or when other
actions require an impairment assessment (such as a change in reporting units). We perform our annual impairment
assessment during the fourth quarter of each year based on balances as of October 1.
Reporting Units—Prior to the recognition of our Capital Services Operations as a discontinued operation, we had the
following five reporting units within our four operating groups, which represented our reportable segments:
•Engineering & Construction—Our Engineering & Construction operating group represented a reporting unit.
•Fabrication Services—Our Fabrication Services operating group represented a reporting unit.
•Technology—Our Technology operating group represented a reporting unit.

• Capital Services—Our Capital Services operating group included two reporting units: Facilities & Plant Services
and Federal Services.     

During the first quarter 2017, we classified our Capital Services Operations as a discontinued operation (discussed in
Note 5 within Item 8). Our Capital Services Operations were sold on June 30, 2017, and were primarily comprised of
our former Capital Services operating group, which included the aforementioned Facilities & Plant Services and
Federal Services reporting units.
During the third quarter 2017, we classified our Technology Operations as a discontinued operation (discussed in Note
2 within Item 8). Our Technology Operations are primarily comprised of our Technology operating group and
reporting unit and our Engineered Products Operations, representing a portion of our Fabrication Services operating
group and reporting unit. As a result of the classification of our Technology reporting unit as a part of our Technology
Operations within discontinued operations, all of its goodwill (approximately $297.0 million) was allocated to our
Technology Operations. Further, as a result of the classification of our Engineered Products Operations as part of our
Technology Operations within discontinued operations, we allocated a portion of the Fabrication Services reporting
unit’s goodwill (approximately $200.0 million) to our Technology Operations. The allocation was based on the relative
fair values of the Engineered Products Operations and remaining Fabrication Services reporting unit after removal of
the Engineered Products Operations. The fair value of the Engineered Products Operations was determined on a basis
consistent with the basis used for our annual impairment assessment (discussed in Note 2 within Item 8) and gave
consideration to a market indicator of fair value for the Technology Operations. The fair value of the remaining
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Fabrication Services reporting unit was also determined on a basis consistent with the basis used for our annual
impairment assessment. As a result of the aforementioned, at October 1, 2017 (the date of our annual assessment), we
had the following two reporting units within our two operating groups:
•Engineering & Construction—Our Engineering & Construction operating group represented a reporting unit.

•Fabrication Services—Our Fabrication Services operating group (excluding Engineered Products) represented a
reporting unit.
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However, as a result of the Combination (discussed in Note 2 within Item 8), during the fourth quarter 2017 we
reclassified our Technology Operations as a continuing operation. Further, our Engineered Products Operations were
reclassified to our Fabrication Services operating group (consistent with our previous segment reporting) and became
a separate reporting unit within our Fabrication Services operating group. The remaining portion of the Technology
Operations became a separate operating group (consistent with our previous segment reporting) and reporting unit.
Because the Technology Operations were not operationally combined while presented as a discontinued operation, the
goodwill allocated to the Engineered Products reporting unit and Technology reporting unit, when reclassified to
continuing operations, represented the original goodwill amounts allocated during the third quarter 2017 (discussed
above). As a result of the aforementioned, at December 31, 2017, we had the following four reporting units within our
three operating groups:
•Engineering & Construction—Our Engineering & Construction operating group represented a reporting unit.

•Fabrication Services—Our Fabrication Services operating group included two reporting units: Engineered Products and
Fabrication Services (excluding Engineered Products).
•Technology—Our Technology operating group represented a reporting unit.
Interim Impairment Assessment—During the second quarter 2017, we experienced a decline in our market capitalization
and incurred charges on certain projects (discussed in Note 18 within Item 8) within our Engineering & Construction
reporting unit that resulted in a net loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017. We believed these events
and circumstances were indicators that goodwill of our Engineering & Construction reporting unit was potentially
impaired. Accordingly, we performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill for our Engineering & Construction
reporting unit as of June 30, 2017. Based on this quantitative assessment, the fair value of the Engineering &
Construction reporting unit continued to substantially exceed its net book value, and accordingly, no impairment
charge was necessary as a result of our interim impairment assessment. There were no additional indicators of
impairment during 2017. If we were to experience an additional decline in our market capitalization, or a prolonged
market capitalization at our current levels, it could indicate that the goodwill of one or more of our reporting units is
impaired, and require additional interim quantitative impairment assessments.
Annual Impairment Assessment—As part of our annual goodwill impairment assessment during the fourth quarter 2017,
we performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill for our Engineering & Construction reporting unit and
Fabrication Services reporting unit (excluding Engineered Products) as of October 1, 2017. Based on these
quantitative assessments, the fair value of the reporting units each substantially exceeded (in excess of 50%) their
respective net book values, and accordingly, no impairment charge was necessary as a result of our impairment
assessments. In addition, in connection with the fourth quarter reclassification of our Technology Operations as a
continuing operation and related change in reporting units, we performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill for our
Engineered Products reporting unit and Technology reporting unit. Based on these quantitative assessments, the fair
value of the reporting units substantially exceeded (in excess of 100%) their respective net book values, and
accordingly, no impairment charge was necessary as a result of our impairment assessments. If, based on future
assessments our goodwill is deemed to be impaired, the impairment would result in a charge to earnings in the period
of impairment. There can be no assurance that future goodwill impairment tests will not result in charges to earnings.
Determination of Reporting Unit Fair Values—To determine the fair value of our reporting units and test for
impairment, we utilize an income approach (discounted cash flow method) as we believe this is the most direct
approach to incorporate the specific economic attributes and risk profiles of our reporting units into our valuation
model. This is consistent with the methodology used to determine the fair value of our reporting units in previous
years. We generally do not utilize a market approach given the lack of relevant information generated by market
transactions involving comparable businesses. However, to the extent market indicators of fair value become
available, we consider such market indicators in our discounted cash flow analysis and determination of fair value.
The discounted cash flow methodology is based, to a large extent, on assumptions about future events, which may or
may not occur as anticipated, and such deviations could have a significant impact on the calculated estimated fair
values of our reporting units. These assumptions include, but are not limited to, estimates of discount rates, future
growth rates, and terminal values for each reporting unit.
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The discounted cash flow analysis for our reporting units tested during the fourth quarter 2017 included forecasted
cash flows for the fourth quarter 2017 and a seven-year forecast period (2018 through 2024), with our 2018 business
plan used as the basis for our 2018 projections. The discounted cash flow analysis for our reporting unit tested during
the second quarter 2017 included forecasted cash flows for the third and fourth quarters of 2017 and a seven-year
forecast period thereafter (2018 through 2024). These forecasted cash flows took into consideration historical and
recent results, the reporting unit’s backlog and near term prospects, and management’s outlook for the future. A
terminal value was also calculated using a terminal value growth assumption to derive the annual cash flows after the
discrete forecast period. A reporting unit specific discount rate was applied to the forecasted cash flows and terminal
cash flows to determine the discounted future cash flows, or fair value, of each reporting unit.
See Note 7 within Item 8 for further discussion regarding goodwill.
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Other Long-Lived Assets
We amortize our finite-lived intangible assets on a straight-line basis with lives ranging from 6 to 20 years, absent any
indicators of impairment. We review tangible assets and finite-lived intangible assets for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If a recoverability assessment is
required, the estimated future cash flow associated with the asset or asset group will be compared to their respective
carrying amounts to determine if an impairment exists. See Note 7 within Item 8 for further discussion of our
intangible assets.
During 2017, we recorded impairment charges of approximately $17.4 million within restructuring related costs for
fabrication facilities within our Fabrication Services operating group that are being sold as a result of our publicly
announced cost reduction, facility rationalization and strategic initiatives. The impairments were based on the
estimated fair values of the respective facilities based on market indicators of fair value. These facilities are
anticipated to be sold within the next year and were classified as held-for-sale during the fourth quarter 2017. The
carrying value of these facilities within assets-held-for sale on our Balance Sheet totaled approximately $11.6 million
at December 31, 2017. See Note 10 within Item 8 for further discussion of our restructuring charges.
Income Taxes
Deferred Tax Realization Assessments—Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis using currently enacted income tax rates for the years in which the differences
are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided to offset any net deferred tax assets (“DTA(s)”) if, based on
the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the DTAs will not be realized. The realization of
our net DTAs depends upon our ability to generate sufficient future taxable income of the appropriate character and in
the appropriate jurisdictions.
At December 31, 2017 we had total DTAs of $1.1 billion (including U.S. DTAs of $878.9 million after the impacts of
the the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act) and at December 31, 2016 we had total DTAs of $1.2 billion (including U.S. DTAs of
$1.1 billion). On a periodic and ongoing basis we evaluate our DTAs (including our net operating loss (“NOL”) DTAs)
and assess the appropriateness of our valuation allowances (“VA”s). In assessing the need for a VA, we consider both
positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the DTAs. If, based on the weight of available
evidence, our assessment indicates that it is more likely than not that a DTA will not be realized, we record a VA. Our
assessments include, among other things, the amount of taxable temporary differences that will result in future taxable
income, the value and quality of our backlog, evaluations of existing and anticipated market conditions, analysis of
recent and historical operating results (including cumulative losses over multiple periods) and projections of future
results, strategic plans and alternatives for associated operations, as well as asset expiration dates, where applicable. If
the factors upon which we based our assessment of realizability of our DTAs differ materially from our expectations,
including future operating results being lower than our current estimates, our future assessments could be impacted
and result in an increase in VA and increase in tax expense.
Year End 2016 Assessment
During 2015 and 2016, we incurred losses primarily resulting from goodwill impairment and other charges incurred as
a result of the sale of our Nuclear Construction business on December 31, 2015 (discussed in Note 4 within Item 8)
and the anticipated sale of our Capital Services Operations, which occurred on June 30, 2017 (discussed in Note 5
within Item 8). As a result of such losses, we had a cumulative U.S. loss for the three years ended December 31, 2016
(representing our recent results as of December 31, 2016). Accordingly, in assessing the positive and negative
evidence related to the likelihood of utilizing our significant U.S. DTAs (including our U.S. NOL DTAs), we gave
consideration to multiple factors, including the following positive evidence:

•

The operations that resulted in such losses were either sold as of December 31, 2016 or contemplated for sale as of the
filing of our 2016 Form 10-K. Specifically, absent the charges related to the exited businesses (including
non-deductible goodwill charges), our cumulative U.S. income for the three years ended December 31, 2016 was
approximately $1.1 billion;

•We had a history of U.S. income prior to incurring the losses during 2015 and 2016. Specifically, our cumulative U.S.
income for the ten year period ended December 31, 2014 was approximately $1.5 billion;
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•In spite of such U.S. losses during 2015 and 2016, we were not in a cumulative loss position for the three years endedDecember 31, 2016 on a consolidated basis; and

•

Our projections of U.S. income, inclusive of the reversal of taxable temporary differences, indicated we would realize
our U.S. NOL DTAs over ten years prior to their expiration in 2035. Our projections of U.S. income were supported
by a significant U.S. backlog of approximately $9.3 billion at December 31, 2016, and a strong forecasted U.S.
market for our EPC and technology products and services.
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Based on the aforementioned, we believed the positive evidence outweighed the negative evidence and concluded it
was more likely than not that we would utilize our U.S. DTAs, as of December 31, 2016.
Interim 2017 Assessment
During the first half of 2017 and the third quarter 2017, we incurred additional U.S. losses due to charges on certain
projects (discussed in Note 18 within Item 8). As a result of such losses, we were projecting a cumulative loss in the
U.S., and on a consolidated basis, for the three years ending December 31, 2017. Accordingly, in assessing the
positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of utilizing the U.S. DTAs, we again gave consideration to
multiple factors, including the following positive evidence:

•The aforementioned history of U.S. income and the fact that we had exited the businesses that resulted in the lossesfor 2015 and 2016;

•

In July 2017, we initiated steps to market and sell our Technology Operations (discussed in Note 2 within Item 8) and
classified the Technology Operations as a discontinued operation during the third quarter 2017. We anticipated that
proceeds from the transaction would result in a significant U.S. taxable gain that would be realized during the fourth
quarter 2017 or prior to filing our 2017 Form 10-K. Including the anticipated taxable gain, we projected we would not
have a cumulative loss on a consolidated basis for the three years ending December 31, 2017. Further, including the
anticipated taxable gain and excluding the non-deductible goodwill charges, we projected we would not have a
cumulative loss in the U.S. for the three years ending December 31, 2017; and

•
The aforementioned taxable gain would result in the accelerated realization of a significant portion of our U.S. NOL
DTAs. Further, our projections of U.S. income, inclusive of the reversal of taxable temporary differences, indicated
we would continue to realize the remaining U.S. NOL DTAs over ten years prior to their expiration in 2035.
Based on the aforementioned, during the first half of 2017 and the third quarter 2017, we believed the positive
evidence continued to outweigh the negative evidence and concluded that it was still more likely than not that we
would utilize our U.S. DTAs, as of June 30, 2017 and September 30, 2017.
Year End 2017 Assessment
During the fourth quarter 2017, we incurred additional U.S. losses primarily due to charges on certain projects
(discussed in Note 18 within Item 8). Further, we entered into the Combination Agreement (discussed in Note 2
within Item 8) and suspended our plan to sell our Technology Operations. As a result, the gain from the Technology
Sale was not realized during 2017. Because the gain from the Technology Sale was not realized, and due to the
additional losses, we had a cumulative U.S. and consolidated loss for the three years ended December 31, 2017
(representing our recent results as of December 31, 2017). Accordingly, in assessing the positive and negative
evidence related to the likelihood of utilizing the U.S. DTAs, we again gave consideration to multiple factors,
including the following positive evidence:

•

The Combination, which we anticipate will close in the second quarter 2018, will result in the sale of our Technology
Operations to McDermott in advance of the consummation of the transaction (“Combination Technology Sale”), which
will result in a significant U.S. taxable gain similar to the gain anticipated in connection with the original Technology
Sale.

•
Our projections of U.S. income, inclusive of the reversal of taxable temporary differences and the anticipated gain
resulting from the Combination, indicate we will continue to realize the remaining U.S. NOL DTAs prior to their
expiration in 2037.
Although we believe it is probable we will complete the Combination and realize the aforementioned gain, certain
factors required to complete the transaction are beyond our control, and as of December 31, 2017, we are unable to
consider the anticipated gain from the Combination Technology Sale as positive evidence in connection with our
assessment of the realizability of our U.S. NOL DTAs, or our remaining U.S. and non-U.S. DTAs. As a result, and
due to the cumulative U.S. and consolidated losses for the three years ended December 31, 2017, we believe the
negative evidence now outweighs the positive evidence with respect to our ability to utilize our U.S. NOL DTAs, and
our remaining net U.S. and non-U.S. DTAs. We therefore concluded that it is no longer more likely than not that we
will utilize our net DTAs as of December 31, 2017, and during the fourth quarter 2017 we recorded a VA of
approximately $702.0 million against our U.S. NOL DTAs, and our remaining net U.S. and non-U.S. DTAs. As a
result of the aforementioned and other VAs recorded during the first three quarters of 2017, we recorded total VAs
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during 2017 of approximately $750.8 million.
At December 31, 2017, excluding VAs we had Non-U.S. NOL DTAs of $67.1 million, representing Non-U.S. NOLs
of $298.0 million (including $162.3 million in the U.K. and $135.7 million in other jurisdictions); U.S.-Federal NOLs
DTAs of $376.3 million, representing U.S.-Federal NOLs of $1.8 billion; U.S.-State NOL DTAs of $225.2 million;
and foreign and other tax credits of $72.2 million. Excluding NOLs having an indefinite carryforward, principally in
the U.K., the Non-U.S. NOLs
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will expire from 2018 to 2037. Further, the U.S.-Federal NOLs will expire from 2033 to 2037 and the U.S.-State
NOLs will expire from 2018 to 2037. The other credits will expire from 2021 to 2037.
Other Tax Assessments—Income tax and associated interest and penalty reserves, where applicable, are recorded in
those instances where we consider it more likely than not that additional tax will be due in excess of amounts reflected
in income tax returns filed worldwide, irrespective of whether or not we have received tax assessments. At
December 31, 2017 and 2016, our reserves totaled approximately $16.3 million and $14.2 million, respectively. If
these income tax reserves are ultimately unnecessary, approximately $13.1 million and $11.0 million, respectively,
would benefit tax expense as we are contractually indemnified for the remaining balances. We continually review our
exposure to additional income tax obligations and, as further information is known or events occur, changes in our tax
and penalty reserves may be recorded within income tax expense and changes in interest reserves may be recorded in
interest expense.
Insurance
We maintain insurance coverage for various aspects of our business and operations. However, we retain a portion of
anticipated losses through the use of deductibles and self-insured retentions for our exposures related to third party
liability and workers’ compensation. We regularly review estimates of reported and unreported claims through analysis
of historical and projected trends, in conjunction with actuaries and other consultants, and provide for losses through
insurance reserves. As claims develop and additional information becomes available, adjustments to loss reserves may
be required. If actual results are not consistent with our assumptions, we may be exposed to gains or losses that could
be material. A hypothetical ten percent change in our self-insurance reserves at December 31, 2017 would have
impacted our pre-tax income by approximately $9.5 million for 2017.
Partnering Arrangements
In the ordinary course of business, we execute specific projects and conduct certain operations through joint venture,
consortium and other collaborative arrangements (collectively referred to as “venture(s)”). We have various ownership
interests in these ventures, with such ownership typically proportionate to our decision making and distribution rights.
The ventures generally contract directly with the third party customer; however, services may be performed directly
by the ventures, or may be performed by us, our partners, or a combination thereof.
Venture net assets consist primarily of working capital and property and equipment, and assets may be restricted from
being used to fund obligations outside of the venture. These ventures typically have limited third party debt or have
debt that is non-recourse in nature. However, they may provide for capital calls to fund operations or require
participants in the venture to provide additional financial support, including advance payment or retention letters of
credit.
Each venture is assessed at inception and on an ongoing basis as to whether it qualifies as a VIE under the
consolidations guidance in ASC 810. A venture generally qualifies as a VIE when it (i) meets the definition of a legal
entity, (ii) absorbs the operational risk of the projects being executed, creating a variable interest, and (iii) lacks
sufficient capital investment from the partners, potentially resulting in the venture requiring additional subordinated
financial support, if necessary, to finance its future activities.
If at any time a venture qualifies as a VIE, we perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether we are the
primary beneficiary of the VIE and, therefore, need to consolidate the VIE. We are the primary beneficiary if we have
(i) the power to direct the economically significant activities of the VIE and (ii) the right to receive benefits from, and
obligation to absorb losses of, the VIE. If the venture is a VIE and we are the primary beneficiary, or we otherwise
have the ability to control the venture, we consolidate the venture. If we determine that we are not the primary
beneficiary of the VIE, or only have the ability to significantly influence, rather than control the venture, we do not
consolidate the venture. We account for unconsolidated ventures using either (i) proportionate consolidation for both
the Balance Sheet and Statement of Operations, when we meet the applicable accounting criteria to do so, or (ii)
utilize the equity method. See Note 8 within Item 8 for additional discussion of our material partnering arrangements.
Financial Instruments
We do not engage in currency speculation; however, we utilize foreign currency exchange rate derivatives on an
ongoing basis to hedge against certain foreign currency related operating exposures. We generally seek hedge
accounting treatment for contracts used to hedge operating exposures and designate them as cash flow hedges.
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Therefore, gains and losses, exclusive of credit risk and forward points (which represent the time value component of
the fair value of our derivative positions), are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) until the
associated underlying operating exposure impacts our earnings. Changes in the fair value of (i) credit risk and forward
points, (ii) instruments deemed ineffective during the period, and (iii) instruments that we do not designate as cash
flow hedges are recognized within cost of revenue.
See Note 12 within Item 8 for additional discussion of our financial instruments.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Foreign Currency Risk—We are exposed to market risk associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
which may adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
One form of exposure to fluctuating exchange rates relates to the effects of translating financial statements of entities
with functional currencies other than the U.S. Dollar into our reporting currency. With respect to the translation of our
balance sheet, net movements in the Australian Dollar, British Pound, and Euro exchange rates against the U.S. Dollar
favorably impacted the cumulative translation adjustment component of AOCI by approximately $81.1 million, net of
tax, and our cash balance was favorably impacted by approximately $87.4 million. We generally do not hedge our
exposure to potential foreign currency translation adjustments.
Another form of exposure to fluctuating exchange rates relates to the effects of transacting in currencies other than
those of our entity’s functional currencies. We do not engage in currency speculation; however, we utilize foreign
currency exchange rate derivatives on an ongoing basis to hedge against certain foreign currency related operating
exposures. We generally seek hedge accounting treatment for contracts used to hedge operating exposures and
designate them as cash flow hedges. Therefore, gains and losses, exclusive of credit risk and forward points (which
represent the time value component of the fair value of our derivative positions), are included in AOCI until the
associated underlying operating exposure impacts our earnings. Changes in the fair value of (i) credit risk and forward
points, (ii) instruments deemed ineffective during the period, and (iii) instruments that we do not designate as cash
flow hedges are recognized within cost of revenue and were not material during 2017.
At December 31, 2017, the notional value of our outstanding forward contracts to hedge certain foreign currency
exchange-related operating exposures was $204.1 million, including net foreign currency exchange rate exposure
associated with the purchase of U.S. Dollars ($146.6 million), Russian Rubles ($30.3 million), Japanese Yen ($3.2
million), Kuwaiti Dinars ($2.5 million), Thai Baht ($0.1 million), and the sale of Euros ($21.4 million). The total fair
value of these contracts was a net liability of approximately $2.6 million at December 31, 2017. The potential change
in fair value for our outstanding contracts resulting from a hypothetical ten percent change in quoted foreign currency
exchange rates would have been approximately $6.9 million and $6.3 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. This potential change in fair value of our outstanding contracts would be offset by the change in fair
value of the associated underlying operating exposures.
Other—The carrying values of our cash and cash equivalents (primarily consisting of bank deposits), accounts receivable
and accounts payable approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. At
December 31, 2017, the fair value of our Second Term Loan, based on current market rates for debt with similar credit
risk and maturities, approximated its carrying values as interest is based upon LIBOR plus an applicable floating
margin. At December 31, 2017, the fair values of our Senior Notes and Second Senior Notes, based on the current
market rates for debt with similar credit risk and maturities, approximated the carrying values due to their
classification as current on our Balance Sheet. At December 31, 2016, our Senior Notes and Second Senior Notes had
a total fair value of approximately $785.7 million and $206.4 million, respectively, based on current market rates for
debt with similar credit risk and maturities and were categorized within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy. See Note 12
within Item 8 for additional discussion of our financial instruments.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Included in our system of internal control are written policies, an organizational structure providing
division of responsibilities, the selection and training of qualified personnel and a program of financial and operations
reviews by our professional staff of corporate auditors.
Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the underlying transactions, including the acquisition
and disposition of assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that our assets are safeguarded and transactions are
executed in accordance with management’s and our directors’ authorization and are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of our Financial Statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on our Financial Statements.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting. Our evaluation was based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013 Framework)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria).
Based on our evaluation utilizing the COSO criteria, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer
concluded our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2017. The conclusion of our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer is based upon the recognition that there are inherent
limitations in all systems of internal control, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or
overriding of controls. Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.
Our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
/s/ Patrick K. Mullen /s/ Michael S. Taff
Patrick K. Mullen Michael S. Taff

President and Executive Vice President and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
February 20, 2018
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Supervisory Board and Shareholders of
Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 Framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Chicago
Bridge & Iron Company N.V. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the 2017 consolidated financial statements of the Company and our report dated February 20, 2018,
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying
“Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.” Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered
with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Houston, Texas
February 20, 2018
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Supervisory Board and Shareholders of
Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V. (the
Company) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income, cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2017, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 Framework) and our report dated February 20, 2018, expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2005.
Houston, Texas
February 20, 2018
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CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue $6,673,330 $8,599,649 $10,630,812
Cost of revenue 6,666,218 7,722,239 9,277,318
Gross profit 7,112 877,410 1,353,494
Selling and administrative expense 275,421 298,041 336,282
Intangibles amortization 25,841 25,839 37,665
Equity earnings (48,397 ) (24,570 ) (14,777 )
Goodwill impairment (Note 7) — — 453,100
Loss on net assets sold and intangible assets impairment (Note 4) — 148,148 1,052,751
Restructuring related costs (Note 10) 114,525 — —
Other operating (income) expense, net (Note 2) (64,916 ) 2,411 3,060
(Loss) income from operations (295,362 ) 427,541 (514,587 )
Interest expense (228,945 ) (81,240 ) (70,503 )
Interest income 3,144 11,849 7,041
(Loss) income from operations before taxes (521,163 ) 358,150 (578,049 )
Income tax (expense) benefit (798,935 ) 20,926 102,194
Net (loss) income from continuing operations (1,320,098 ) 379,076 (475,855 )
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations (Note 5) (104,463 ) (618,899 ) 45,894
Net loss (1,424,561 ) (239,823 ) (429,961 )
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests ($870, $2,187 and
$2,511 related to discontinued operations) (33,632 ) (73,346 ) (74,454 )

Net loss attributable to CB&I $(1,458,193) $(313,169 ) $(504,415 )
Net (loss) income attributable to CB&I per share (Basic):
Continuing operations $(13.40 ) $2.99 $(5.13 )
Discontinued operations (1.04 ) (6.04 ) 0.41
Total $(14.44 ) $(3.05 ) $(4.72 )
Net (loss) income attributable to CB&I per share (Diluted):
Continuing operations $(13.40 ) $2.97 $(5.13 )
Discontinued operations (1.04 ) (5.99 ) 0.41
Total $(14.44 ) $(3.02 ) $(4.72 )
Cash dividends on shares:
Amount $14,109 $28,733 $29,847
Per share $0.14 $0.28 $0.28
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015
(In thousands)

Net loss $(1,424,561) $(239,823) $(429,961)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Change in cumulative translation adjustment (net of tax of $0, ($3,884) and
$960) 83,177 (55,966 ) (76,893 )

Change in unrealized fair value of cash flow hedges (net of tax of ($117),
($475) and ($678)) 512 754 1,746

Change in unrecognized prior service pension credits/costs (net of tax of $68,
$200 and $316) (136 ) (516 ) (819 )

Change in unrecognized actuarial pension gains/losses (net of tax of $1,253,
$15,184 and ($17,445)) (2,396 ) (46,533 ) 42,924

Other comprehensive loss from discontinued operations - change in cumulative
translation adjustment (net of tax of $0, $0 and $0) 270 (131 ) (1,235 )

Comprehensive loss (1,343,134 ) (342,215 ) (464,238 )
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (net of tax of $0, $0 and
($124)); ($870, $2,187 and $2,511 related to discontinued operations, net of tax
of $0, $0 and $0)

(33,632 ) (73,346 ) (74,454 )

Change in cumulative translation adjustment attributable to noncontrolling
interests (net of tax of $0, $0 and $0) (2,319 ) 816 2,634

Comprehensive loss attributable to CB&I $(1,379,085) $(414,745) $(536,058)
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2017 2016
(In thousands)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents ($165,771 and $328,387 related to variable interest entities
("VIEs")) $354,639 $490,679

Accounts receivable, net ($42,288 and $53,159 related to VIEs) 759,701 488,513
Inventory (Note 6) 101,573 190,102
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings ($42,997 and $26,186 related to VIEs)
(Note 2) 315,744 410,749

Current assets of discontinued operations (Note 5) — 414,732
Assets held for sale (Note 10) 17,845 —
Other current assets ($163,810 and $426,515 related to VIEs) (Note 9) 281,171 546,977
Total current assets 1,830,673 2,541,752
Equity investments (Note 8) 206,118 165,256
Property and equipment, net (Note 9) 418,531 505,944
Goodwill (Note 7) 2,836,582 2,813,803
Other intangibles, net (Note 7) 196,473 219,409
Deferred income taxes (Note 17) — 730,108
Non-current assets of discontinued operations (Note 5) — 462,144
Other non-current assets ($74,067 and $5,484 related to VIEs) (Note 9) 483,205 401,004
Total assets $5,971,582 $7,839,420
Liabilities
Revolving facility and other short-term borrowings (Note 11) $1,102,151 $407,500
Current maturities of long-term debt, net (Note 11) 1,160,291 503,910
Accounts payable ($348,872 and $337,089 related to VIEs) 971,735 964,548
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings ($130,484 and $407,325 related to VIEs)
(Note 2) 1,275,441 1,395,349

Current liabilities of discontinued operations (Note 5) — 247,469
Other current liabilities (Note 9) 752,294 1,017,473
Total current liabilities 5,261,912 4,536,249
Long-term debt, net (Note 11) — 1,287,923
Deferred income taxes (Note 17) 63,771 7,307
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations (Note 5) — 5,388
Other non-current liabilities (Note 9) 427,535 441,216
Total liabilities 5,753,218 6,278,083
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14) — —
Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock, Euro .01 par value; shares authorized: 250,000; shares issued: 108,857 and
108,857; shares outstanding: 101,705 and 100,113 1,288 1,288

Additional paid-in capital 743,128 782,130
Retained (deficit) earnings (101,696 ) 1,370,606
Treasury stock, at cost: 7,152 and 8,744 shares (254,642 ) (344,870 )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 15) (316,508 ) (395,616 )
Total CB&I shareholders’ equity 71,570 1,413,538
Noncontrolling interests (Note 8) ($0 and $6,874 related to discontinued operations) 146,794 147,799
Total shareholders’ equity 218,364 1,561,337
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Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $5,971,582 $7,839,420
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015
(In thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net loss $(1,424,561) $(239,823) $(429,961)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 92,248 122,522 161,135
Amortization of debt issuance costs 46,721 5,130 6,377
Goodwill impairment — 655,000 453,100
Loss on net assets sold and intangible assets impairment (net of cash paid for
transaction costs of $13,075 for 2017) 51,742 148,148 1,040,751

Loss on net assets held for sale 17,397 — —
Gain from insurance recoveries (62,664 ) — —
Deferred income taxes 792,121 (86,881 ) (146,453 )
Stock-based compensation expense 52,930 39,611 57,506
Other operating expense, net (excluding gain from insurance recoveries) 1,624 2,339 2,619
Unrealized loss on foreign currency hedges 2,103 2,178 2,853
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation — (51 ) (287 )
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in receivables, net (261,215 ) 603,558 (213,508 )
Change in contracts in progress, net (28,053 ) (360,486 ) (939,608 )
Decrease (increase) in inventory 90,233 95,528 (6,091 )
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable (63,107 ) (56,501 ) 105,856
Increase in other current and non-current assets (35,998 ) (232,075 ) (36,224 )
Decrease in other current and non-current liabilities (103,372 ) (40,512 ) (151,458 )
(Increase) decrease in equity investments (29,782 ) (14,932 ) 22,117
Change in other, net (47,720 ) 11,705 15,062
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (909,353 ) 654,458 (56,214 )
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operation, net of cash sold 645,506 — —
Capital expenditures (46,168 ) (52,462 ) (78,852 )
Advances with partners of proportionately consolidated ventures, net 235,946 (49,755 ) (253,890 )
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 9,344 4,763 9,235
Proceeds from insurance recoveries 99,000 — —
Other, net (14,918 ) (71,835 ) (58,169 )
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 928,710 (169,289 ) (381,676 )
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Revolving facility and other short-term borrowing (repayments), net 694,651 (245,500 ) 488,259
Long-term borrowings — — 700,000
Advances with equity method and proportionately consolidated ventures, net (229,225 ) 206,583 226,191
Repayments on long-term debt (632,781 ) (150,000 ) (420,155 )
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation — 51 287
Purchase of treasury stock (13,517 ) (206,569 ) (230,814 )
Issuance of stock 11,743 16,329 20,164
Dividends paid (14,109 ) (28,733 ) (29,847 )
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (29,921 ) (74,331 ) (56,681 )
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Capitalized debt issuance costs (44,134 ) — —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (257,293 ) (482,170 ) 697,404
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 87,419 (48,064 ) (60,616 )
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (150,517 ) (45,065 ) 198,898
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 505,156 550,221 351,323
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year $354,639 $505,156 $550,221
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year - discontinued operations — (14,477 ) (14,507 )
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year - continuing operations $354,639 $490,679 $535,714
Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures
Cash paid for interest $148,413 $99,333 $83,147
Cash paid for income taxes, net $84,849 $44,873 $132,489
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock
Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings
(Deficit)

Treasury Stock (Note 15)
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive(Loss)
Income

Non -
controlling
Interests

Total
Shareholders’
EquityShares Amount Shares Amount

 (In thousands, except per share data)
Balance at
December 31,
2014

107,806 $1,283 $776,864 $2,246,770 601 $(24,428 ) $ (262,397 ) $138,211 $2,876,303

Net (loss)
income — — — (504,415 ) — — — 74,454 (429,961 )

Other — — — — — — — (3,750 ) (3,750 )
Change in
cumulative
translation
adjustment, net

— — — — — — (75,494 ) (2,634 ) (78,128 )

Change in
unrealized fair
value of cash
flow hedges,
net

— — — — — — 1,746 — 1,746

Change in
unrecognized
prior service
pension
credits/costs,
net

— — — — — — (819 ) — (819 )

Change in
unrecognized
actuarial
pension
gains/losses,
net

— — — — — — 42,924 — 42,924

Distributions to
noncontrolling
interests

— — — — — — — (56,681 ) (56,681 )

Dividends paid
($0.28 per
share)

— — — (29,847 ) — — — — (29,847 )

Stock-based
compensation
expense

— — 57,506 — — — — — 57,506

Issuance to
treasury stock — 5 19,894 — 450 (19,899 ) — — —

Purchase of
treasury stock (5,001 ) — — — 5,001 (230,814 ) — — (230,814 )

1,622 — (53,623 ) — (1,622) 68,734 — — 15,111
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Issuance of
stock
Balance at
December 31,
2015

104,427 1,288 800,641 1,712,508 4,430 (206,407 ) (294,040 ) 149,600 2,163,590

Net (loss)
income — — — (313,169 ) — — — 73,346 (239,823 )

Change in
cumulative
translation
adjustment, net

— — — — — — (55,281 ) (816 ) (56,097 )

Change in
unrealized fair
value of cash
flow hedges,
net

— — — — — — 754 — 754

Change in
unrecognized
prior service
pension
credits/costs,
net

— — — — — — (516 ) — (516 )

Change in
unrecognized
actuarial
pension
gains/losses,
net

— — — — — — (46,533 ) — (46,533 )

Distributions to
noncontrolling
interests

— — — — — — — (74,331 ) (74,331 )

Dividends paid
($0.28 per
share)

— — — (28,733 ) — — — — (28,733 )

Stock-based
compensation
expense

— — 39,611 — — — — — 39,611

Purchase of
treasury stock (5,772 ) — — — 5,772 (206,569 ) — — (206,569 )

Issuance of
stock 1,458 — (58,122 ) — (1,458) 68,106 — — 9,984

Balance at
December 31,
2016

100,113 1,288 782,130 1,370,606 8,744 (344,870 ) (395,616 ) 147,799 1,561,337

Net (loss)
income — — — (1,458,193 ) — — — 33,632 (1,424,561 )

Disposition — — — — — — — (7,035 ) (7,035 )
Change in
cumulative
translation
adjustment, net

— — — — — — 81,128 2,319 83,447
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Change in
unrealized fair
value of cash
flow hedges,
net

— — — — — — 512 — 512

Change in
unrecognized
prior service
pension
credits/costs,
net

— — — — — — (136 ) — (136 )

Change in
unrecognized
actuarial
pension
gains/losses,
net

— — — — — — (2,396 ) — (2,396 )

Distributions to
noncontrolling
interests

— — — — — — — (29,921 ) (29,921 )

Dividends paid
($0.14 per
share)

— — — (14,109 ) — — — — (14,109 )

Stock-based
compensation
expense

— — 52,930 — — — — — 52,930

Purchase of
treasury stock (551 ) — — — 551 (13,517 ) — — (13,517 )

Issuance of
stock 2,143 — (91,932 ) — (2,143) 103,745 — — 11,813

Balance at
December 31,
2017

101,705 $1,288 $743,128 $(101,696 ) 7,152 $(254,642) $ (316,508 ) $146,794 $218,364

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
($ and share values in thousands, except per share data)
1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
Organization and Nature of Operations—Founded in 1889, Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V. (“CB&I” “we”, “our”, “us” or
the “Company”) provides a wide range of services, including conceptual design, technology, engineering, procurement,
fabrication, modularization, construction and commissioning services to customers in the energy infrastructure market
throughout the world. Our business is aligned into three operating groups, which represent our reportable segments:
Engineering & Construction; Fabrication Services; and Technology. Natural gas, petroleum, power and petrochemical
projects for the worldwide energy and natural resource industries accounted for a majority of our revenue in 2017,
2016 and 2015. See Note 2 and Note 5 for further discussion of our discontinued operations and Note 19 for further
discussion of our reportable segments and related financial information.
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Basis of Accounting and Consolidation—The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements (“Financial Statements”)
have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the United States (“U.S.”) Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) and accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).
These Financial Statements reflect all wholly-owned subsidiaries and those entities which we are required to
consolidate. See the “Partnering Arrangements” section of this footnote for further discussion of our consolidation
policy for those entities that are not wholly-owned. Intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in
consolidation. Certain balances at December 31, 2016 have been reclassified within our Consolidated Balance Sheet
(“Balance Sheet”) to conform to our December 31, 2017 presentation.
McDermott/CB&I Combination—On December 18, 2017, we entered into an agreement (the “Combination Agreement”)
to combine with McDermott International, Inc. (“McDermott”) in an all-stock transaction whereby McDermott
stockholders will own approximately 53% of the combined company and our shareholders will own approximately
47% (the “Combination”). Under the terms of the Combination Agreement, our shareholders would be entitled to
receive 2.47221 shares of McDermott common stock for each share of our common stock (or 0.82407 shares if
McDermott effects a planned three-to-one reverse stock split prior to closing), together with cash in lieu of fractional
shares and subject to any applicable withholding taxes. The Combination is anticipated to close in the second quarter
2018, subject to the approval of our shareholders and McDermott stockholders, regulatory approvals and other
customary closing conditions.
Discontinued Operations—On February 27, 2017, we entered into a definitive agreement (the “CS Agreement”) with
CSVC Acquisition Corp (“CSVC”), under which CSVC agreed to acquire our “Capital Services Operations” (primarily
comprised of our former Capital Services reportable segment). Our Capital Services Operations provided
comprehensive and integrated maintenance services, environmental engineering and remediation, construction
services, program management, and disaster response and recovery services for private-sector customers and
governments. We completed the sale of the Capital Services Operations on June 30, 2017 (the “Closing Date”). We
considered the Capital Services Operations to be a discontinued operation in the first quarter 2017, as the divestiture
represented a strategic shift and will have a material effect on our operations and financial results. Our classification
of the Capital Services Operations as a discontinued operation requires retrospective application to financial
information for all prior periods presented. Therefore, operating results of the Capital Services Operations through the
Closing Date and any post-closing adjustments have been recast on a retrospective basis and classified as a
discontinued operation within the Consolidated Statements of Operations (the “Statement of Operations”) for 2016 and
2015. Further, the assets and liabilities of the Capital Services Operations have been classified as assets and liabilities
of discontinued operations within our December 31, 2016 Balance Sheet, and our December 31, 2017 Balance Sheet
reflects the impact of the sale. Cash flows of the Capital Services Operations are not reported separately within our
Consolidated Statements of Cash flows. Unless otherwise noted, the values presented throughout the notes to our
Financial Statements relate to our continuing operations. See Note 5 for further discussion of our discontinued
operations.

Edgar Filing: WASTE MANAGEMENT INC - Form 424B5

42



In July 2017, we initiated a plan to market and sell our “Technology Operations” (primarily comprised of our
Technology reportable segment and our “Engineered Products Operations”, representing a portion of our Fabrication
Services reportable segment). We considered the Technology Operations to be a discontinued operation in the third
quarter 2017, as the anticipated divestiture represented a strategic shift and would have a material effect on our
operations and financial results. However, during the fourth quarter 2017, we suspended our plan to sell our
Technology Operations due to the Combination Agreement. As such, the Technology Operations are not reported as a
discontinued operation at December 31, 2017 or for any periods presented.
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Use of Estimates—The preparation of our Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and related
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We believe the most significant estimates and judgments are associated
with revenue recognition for our contracts, including estimating costs to complete each contract and the recognition of
incentive fees and unapproved change orders and claims; fair value and recoverability assessments that must be
periodically performed with respect to long-lived tangible assets, goodwill and other intangible assets; valuation of
deferred tax assets and financial instruments; the determination of liabilities related to self-insurance programs and
income taxes; and consolidation determinations with respect to our partnering arrangements. If the underlying
estimates and assumptions upon which our Financial Statements are based change in the future, actual amounts may
differ from those included in the Financial Statements.
Revenue Recognition—Our revenue is primarily derived from long-term contracts and is generally recognized using the
percentage of completion (“POC”) method, primarily based on the percentage that actual costs-to-date bear to total
estimated costs to complete each contract. We follow the guidance of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Revenue Recognition Topic 605-35 for accounting policies relating to our
use of the POC method, estimating costs, and revenue recognition, including the recognition of incentive fees,
unapproved change orders and claims, and combining and segmenting contracts. We primarily utilize the cost-to-cost
approach to estimate POC as we believe this method is less subjective than relying on assessments of physical
progress. Under the cost-to-cost approach, the use of estimated costs to complete each contract is a significant variable
in the process of determining recognized revenue and is a significant factor in the accounting for contracts. Significant
estimates that impact the cost to complete each contract are costs of engineering, materials, components, equipment,
labor and subcontracts; labor productivity; schedule durations, including subcontractor or supplier progress; liquidated
damages; contract disputes, including claims; achievement of contractual performance requirements; and contingency,
among others. The cumulative impact of revisions in total cost estimates during the progress of work is reflected in the
period in which these changes become known, including, to the extent required, the reversal of profit recognized in
prior periods and the recognition of losses expected to be incurred on contracts in progress. Due to the various
estimates inherent in our contract accounting, actual results could differ from those estimates, which could result in
material changes to our Financial Statements and related disclosures. See Note 18 for discussion of projects with
significant changes in estimated margins during 2017, 2016 and 2015.
Our long-term contracts are awarded on a competitively bid and negotiated basis and the timing of revenue
recognition may be impacted by the terms of such contracts. We use a range of contracting options, including
cost-reimbursable, fixed-price and hybrid, which has both cost-reimbursable and fixed-price characteristics.
Fixed-price contracts, and hybrid contracts with a more significant fixed-price component, tend to provide us with
greater control over project schedule and the timing of when work is performed and costs are incurred, and
accordingly, when revenue is recognized. Cost-reimbursable contracts, and hybrid contracts with a more significant
cost-reimbursable component, generally provide our customers with greater influence over the timing of when we
perform our work, and accordingly, such contracts often result in less predictability with respect to the timing of
revenue recognition. Contract revenue for our long-term contracts recognized under the POC method reflects the
original contract price adjusted for approved change orders and estimated recoveries for incentive fees, unapproved
change orders and claims, and liquidated damages. We recognize revenue associated with incentive fees when the
value can be reliably estimated and recovery is probable. We recognize revenue associated with unapproved change
orders and claims to the extent the related costs have been incurred, the value can be reliably estimated and recovery is
probable. Our recorded incentive fees, unapproved change orders and claims reflect our best estimates of recovery
amounts; however, the ultimate resolution and amounts received could differ from these estimates. Liquidated
damages are reflected as a reduction to contract price to the extent they are deemed probable. See Note 18 for further
discussion of our recorded unapproved change orders, claims and incentives.
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With respect to our engineering, procurement, and construction (“EPC”) services, our contracts are not segmented
between types of services, such as engineering and construction, if each of the EPC components is negotiated
concurrently or if the pricing of any such services is subject to the ultimate negotiation and agreement of the entire
EPC contract. However, an EPC contract including technology or fabrication services may be segmented if we satisfy
the segmenting criteria in ASC 605-35. Revenue recorded in these situations is based on our prices and terms for
similar services to third party customers. Segmenting a contract may result in different interim rates of profitability for
each scope of service than if we had recognized revenue without segmenting. In some instances, we may combine
contracts that are entered into in multiple phases, but are interdependent and include pricing considerations by us and
the customer that are impacted by all phases of the project. Otherwise, if each phase is independent of the other and
pricing considerations do not give effect to another phase, the contracts will not be combined.
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Cost of revenue for our long-term contracts includes direct contract costs, such as materials and labor, and indirect
costs that are attributable to contract activity. The timing of when we bill our customers is generally dependent upon
advance billing terms, milestone billings based on the completion of certain phases of the work, or when services are
provided. Projects with costs and estimated earnings recognized to date in excess of cumulative billings are reported
on the Balance Sheets as costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings. Projects with cumulative billings in excess
of costs and estimated earnings recognized to date are reported on the Balance Sheets as billings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings. The net balances on our Balance Sheets are collectively referred to as Contracts in Progress, net
and the components of these balances at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Asset Liability Asset Liability

Costs and estimated earnings on contracts in progress $7,267,316 $26,901,501 $8,466,638 $23,408,316
Billings on contracts in progress (6,951,572 ) (28,176,942 ) (8,055,889 ) (24,803,665 )
Contracts in progress, net $315,744 $(1,275,441 ) $410,749 $(1,395,349 )
Any uncollected billed amounts, including contract retentions, are reported as accounts receivable. At December 31,
2017 and 2016, accounts receivable included contract retentions of approximately $61,500 and $72,100, respectively.
Contract retentions due beyond one year were approximately $19,000 at December 31, 2017.
Revenue for our service contracts that do not satisfy the criteria for revenue recognition under the POC method is
recorded at the time services are performed. Revenue associated with incentive fees for these contracts is recognized
when earned. Unbilled receivables for our service contracts are recorded within accounts receivable and were
approximately $6,000 and $16,100 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Revenue for our pipe and steel fabrication and catalyst manufacturing contracts that are independent of an EPC
contract, or for which we satisfy the segmentation criteria discussed above, is recognized upon shipment of the
fabricated or manufactured units. During the fabrication or manufacturing process, all related direct and allocable
indirect costs are capitalized as work in process inventory and such costs are recorded as cost of revenue at the time of
shipment.
Our billed and unbilled revenue may be exposed to potential credit risk if our customers should encounter financial
difficulties, and we maintain reserves for specifically-identified potential uncollectible receivables. At December 31,
2017 and 2016, our allowances for doubtful accounts were not material.
Precontract Costs—Precontract costs are generally charged to cost of revenue as incurred, but, in certain cases their
recognition may be deferred if specific probability criteria are met. We had no significant deferred precontract costs at
December 31, 2017 or 2016.
Research and Development—Expenditures for research and development activities are charged to cost of revenue as
incurred and were $27,277, $27,973 and $28,226 for 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Other Operating (Income) Expense, Net—Other operating (income) expense, net, generally represents (gains) losses
associated with the sale or disposition of property and equipment. Other operating (income) expense, net, for 2017
also included a gain of approximately $62,700 resulting from the receipt of insurance proceeds (approximately
$99,000) in excess of associated costs (approximately $36,300) for a fabrication facility within our Fabrication
Services operating group that was damaged during Hurricane Harvey. The facility is anticipated to be sold within the
next year and was classified as held-for-sale during the fourth quarter 2017. The carrying value of the facility within
assets held-for-sale on our Balance Sheet was approximately $6,200 at December 31, 2017. Other operating (income)
expense, net for 2015 also included a gain of approximately $7,500 related to the contribution of a technology to our
unconsolidated Chevron-Lummus Global (“CLG”) joint venture and a foreign exchange loss of approximately $11,000
associated with the re-measurement of certain non-U.S. Dollar denominated net assets.
Restructuring Related Costs—Restructuring related costs were $114,525 for 2017 and included facility consolidation
costs, severance and other employee related costs, professional fees, and other miscellaneous costs resulting primarily
from our publicly announced cost reduction, facility rationalization and strategic initiatives. See Note 10 for further
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discussion of our restructuring related costs.
Depreciation Expense—Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, including buildings and improvements (10 to 40 years) and plant and field equipment (1 to 15
years). Renewals and betterments that substantially extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized and depreciated.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of the useful life of the asset or the applicable lease term.
Depreciation expense is
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primarily included within cost of revenue and was $62,534, $70,307 and $91,715 for 2017, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. See Note 9 for disclosure of the components of property and equipment.
Goodwill—Goodwill is not amortized to earnings, but instead is reviewed for impairment at least annually at a reporting
unit level, absent any indicators of impairment or when other actions require an impairment assessment (such as a
change in reporting units). We perform our annual impairment assessment during the fourth quarter of each year based
on balances as of October 1. We identify a potential impairment by comparing the fair value of the applicable
reporting unit to its net book value, including goodwill. If the net book value exceeds the fair value of the reporting
unit, we measure the impairment by comparing the carrying value of the reporting unit to its fair value. To determine
the fair value of our reporting units and test for impairment, we utilize an income approach (discounted cash flow
method) as we believe this is the most direct approach to incorporate the specific economic attributes and risk profiles
of our reporting units into our valuation model. This is consistent with the methodology used to determine the fair
value of our reporting units in previous years. We generally do not utilize a market approach given the lack of relevant
information generated by market transactions involving comparable businesses. However, to the extent market
indicators of fair value become available, we consider such market indicators in our discounted cash flow analysis and
determination of fair value. See Note 7 for further discussion of our goodwill.
Other Long-Lived Assets—We amortize our finite-lived intangible assets on a straight-line basis with lives ranging from
6 to 20 years, absent any indicators of impairment. We review tangible assets and finite-lived intangible assets for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If a
recoverability assessment is required, the estimated future cash flow associated with the asset or asset group will be
compared to their respective carrying amounts to determine if an impairment exists. See Note 7 for further discussion
of our intangible assets.
During 2017, we recorded impairment charges of approximately $17,400 within restructuring related costs for
fabrication facilities within our Fabrication Services operating group that are being sold as a result of our publicly
announced cost reduction, facility rationalization and strategic initiatives. The impairments were based on the
estimated fair values of the respective facilities based on market indicators of fair value. These facilities are
anticipated to be sold within the next year and were classified as held-for-sale during the fourth quarter 2017. The
carrying value of these facilities within assets-held-for sale on our Balance Sheet totaled approximately $11,600 at
December 31, 2017. See Note 10 for further discussion of our restructuring charges.
Earnings Per Share (“EPS”)—Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net income attributable to CB&I by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the assumed conversion of dilutive
securities, consisting of restricted shares, performance based shares (where performance criteria have been met), stock
options and directors’ deferred-fee shares. See Note 3 for calculations associated with basic and diluted EPS.
Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents are considered to be highly liquid securities with original maturities of three
months or less.
Inventory—Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value, and cost is determined using the
first-in-first-out or weighted-average cost method. The cost of inventory includes acquisition costs, production or
conversion costs, and other costs incurred to bring the inventory to a current location and condition. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion,
disposal and transportation. An allowance for excess or inactive inventory is recorded based on an analysis that
considers current inventory levels, historical usage patterns, estimates of future sales expectations and salvage value.
See Note 6 for further discussion of our inventory.
Foreign Currency—The nature of our business activities involves the management of various financial and market risks,
including those related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The effects of translating financial statements of
foreign operations into our reporting currency are recognized as a cumulative translation adjustment in accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) which is net of tax, where applicable. With the exception of a foreign
exchange loss of approximately $11,000 included within other operating (income) expense, net related to the
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re-measurement of certain non-U.S. Dollar denominated net assets during 2015, foreign currency transactional and
re-measurement exchange gains (losses) are included within cost of revenue and were not material in 2017, 2016 and
2015.
Financial Instruments—We do not engage in currency speculation; however, we utilize foreign currency exchange rate
derivatives on an ongoing basis to hedge against certain foreign currency related operating exposures. We generally
seek hedge accounting treatment for contracts used to hedge operating exposures and designate them as cash flow
hedges. Therefore, gains and losses, exclusive of credit risk and forward points (which represent the time value
component of the fair value of our derivative positions), are included in AOCI until the associated underlying
operating exposure impacts our earnings. Changes in the fair value of (i) credit risk and forward points, (ii)
instruments deemed ineffective during the period, and (iii) instruments that we do not designate as cash flow hedges
are recognized within cost of revenue.
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For those contracts designated as cash flow hedges, we document all relationships between the derivative instruments
and associated hedged items, as well as our risk-management objectives and strategy for undertaking hedge
transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives to specific firm commitments or highly-probable forecasted
transactions. We continually assess, at inception and on an ongoing basis, the effectiveness of derivative instruments
in offsetting changes in the cash flow of the designated hedged items. Hedge accounting designation is discontinued
when (i) it is determined that the derivative is no longer highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flow of the
hedged item, including firm commitments or forecasted transactions, (ii) the derivative is sold, terminated, exercised,
or expires, (iii) it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur, or (iv) we determine that designating
the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate. See Note 12 for further discussion of our financial
instruments.
Income Taxes—Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
basis using currently enacted income tax rates for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. A
valuation allowance (“VA”) is provided to offset any net deferred tax assets (“DTA(s)”) if, based on the available
evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the DTAs will not be realized. The realization of our net DTAs
depends upon our ability to generate sufficient future taxable income of the appropriate character and in the
appropriate jurisdictions.
Income tax and associated interest and penalty reserves, where applicable, are recorded in those instances where we
consider it more likely than not that additional tax will be due in excess of amounts reflected in income tax returns
filed worldwide, irrespective of whether or not we have received tax assessments. We continually review our exposure
to additional income tax obligations and, as further information is known or events occur, changes in our tax and
penalty reserves may be recorded within income tax expense and changes in interest reserves may be recorded in
interest expense. See Note 17 for further discussion of our income taxes.
Partnering Arrangements—In the ordinary course of business, we execute specific projects and conduct certain
operations through joint venture, consortium and other collaborative arrangements (collectively referred to as
“venture(s)”). We have various ownership interests in these ventures, with such ownership typically proportionate to our
decision making and distribution rights. The ventures generally contract directly with the third party customer;
however, services may be performed directly by the ventures, or may be performed by us, our partners, or a
combination thereof.
Venture net assets consist primarily of working capital and property and equipment, and assets may be restricted from
being used to fund obligations outside of the venture. These ventures typically have limited third party debt or have
debt that is non-recourse in nature. However, they may provide for capital calls to fund operations or require
participants in the venture to provide additional financial support, including advance payment or retention letters of
credit.
Each venture is assessed at inception and on an ongoing basis as to whether it qualifies as a VIE under the
consolidations guidance in ASC 810. A venture generally qualifies as a VIE when it (i) meets the definition of a legal
entity, (ii) absorbs the operational risk of the projects being executed, creating a variable interest, and (iii) lacks
sufficient capital investment from the partners, potentially resulting in the venture requiring additional subordinated
financial support, if necessary, to finance its future activities.
If at any time a venture qualifies as a VIE, we perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether we are the
primary beneficiary of the VIE and, therefore, need to consolidate the VIE. We are the primary beneficiary if we have
(i) the power to direct the economically significant activities of the VIE and (ii) the right to receive benefits from, and
obligation to absorb losses of, the VIE. If the venture is a VIE and we are the primary beneficiary, or we otherwise
have the ability to control the venture, we consolidate the venture. If we determine that we are not the primary
beneficiary of the VIE, or only have the ability to significantly influence, rather than control the venture, we do not
consolidate the venture. We account for unconsolidated ventures using either (i) proportionate consolidation for both
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the Balance Sheet and Statement of Operations, when we meet the applicable accounting criteria to do so, or (ii)
utilize the equity method. See Note 8 for additional discussion of our material partnering arrangements.
New Accounting Standards—In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, which
provides a single comprehensive accounting standard for revenue recognition for contracts with customers and
supersedes current industry-specific guidance, including ASC 605-35. The new standard prescribes a five-step
revenue recognition model that focuses on transfer of control and entitlement to payment when determining the
amount of revenue to be recognized. The new model requires companies to identify contractual performance
obligations and determine whether revenue should be recognized at a point in time or over time for each of these
obligations. Based on our assessment, we anticipate the adoption of the new standard will change the method and/or
timing of revenue recognition for our third party pipe and steel fabrication contracts and “non-generic” catalyst
manufacturing contracts; however, we do not anticipate any material changes to the method and/or timing of revenue
recognition for our remaining backlog. Specifically, we anticipate the following:
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•
Revenue for our third party pipe and steel fabrication contracts and “non-generic” catalyst contracts are currently
recognized at a point in time upon shipment; however, under the new standard we anticipate revenue will be
recognized over time utilizing the cost-to-cost measure of progress.

•Revenue for our “generic” catalyst contracts will be recognized at a point in time upon shipment of the manufacturedunits, consistent with current practice.

•Revenue for our inter-company pipe and steel fabrication contracts will be recognized over time utilizing thecost-to-cost measure of progress, consistent with current practice.

•
Revenue for our service contracts will be recognized at a point in time as services are performed, or over time
utilizing the cost-to-cost measure of progress, depending upon the nature of the service contracts, consistent with
current practice.

•Revenue for our remaining backlog, primarily representing our EPC contracts, engineering contracts and constructioncontracts, will be recognized over time utilizing the cost-to-cost measure of progress, consistent with current practice.
In addition, the new standard may require us to combine certain contracts that had historically been accounted for as
separate contracts. We also expect our revenue recognition disclosures to significantly expand due to the new
qualitative and quantitative requirements regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows arising from our contracts. We will adopt the standard, including any updates to the standard, upon its effective
date in the first quarter 2018 utilizing the modified retrospective approach. This approach will result in a cumulative
adjustment to beginning equity in the first quarter 2018 for uncompleted contracts impacted by the adoption of the
standard. However, based on our backlog at December 31, 2017 for those contracts that would potentially be impacted
by changes under the new standard, we anticipate the cumulative adjustment to beginning equity from adoption of the
new standard will not be material.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, which requires the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability for most lease arrangements with a term greater than one year, and increases qualitative and quantitative
disclosures regarding leasing transactions. The standard is effective for us in the first quarter 2019, although early
adoption is permitted. Transition requires application of the new guidance at the beginning of the earliest comparative
balance sheet period presented utilizing a modified retrospective approach. We are assessing the timing of adoption of
the new standard and its potential impact on our Financial Statements.
In the first quarter 2017, we adopted ASU 2015-11, which simplifies the subsequent measurement of our inventory by
requiring inventory to be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and
transportation. Our adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on our Financial Statements.
In the first quarter 2017, we adopted ASU 2016-09 on a prospective basis, which modified the accounting for excess
tax benefits and tax deficiencies associated with share-based payments, amended the associated cash flow
presentation, and allows for forfeitures to be either recognized when they occur, or estimated. ASU 2016-09
eliminated the requirement to recognize excess tax benefits in additional paid-in capital (“APIC”), and the requirement
to evaluate tax deficiencies for APIC or income tax expense classification, and provided for these benefits or
deficiencies to be recorded as an income tax expense or benefit in the Statement of Operations. Additionally, tax
benefits of dividends on share-based payment awards are reflected as an income tax expense or benefit in our
Statement of Operations. With these changes, tax-related cash flows resulting from share-based payments are
classified as operating activities as opposed to financing, as previously presented. We have elected to recognize
forfeitures as they occur, rather than estimating expected forfeitures. Our adoption of the standard did not have a
material impact on our Financial Statements.
In the first quarter 2017, we early adopted ASU 2017-04 which eliminated the second step of the goodwill impairment
test that required a hypothetical purchase price allocation. ASU 2017-04 requires that if a reporting unit’s carrying
value exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge would be recognized for the excess amount, not to exceed the
carrying amount of goodwill. Our early adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on our Financial
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Statements.
In December 2017, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”) to address the application of U.S.
GAAP in situations when a registrant does not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed
(including computations) in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Reform Act”) which was signed into law on December 22, 2017. We have recognized the
provisional tax impacts of the Tax Reform Act and anticipate completing our analysis in connection with the
completion of our tax return for 2017 to be filed in 2018. See Note 17 for further discussion of the Tax Reform Act.

73

Edgar Filing: WASTE MANAGEMENT INC - Form 424B5

53



Table of Contents
Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

3. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
A reconciliation of weighted average basic shares outstanding to weighted average diluted shares outstanding and the
computation of basic and diluted EPS are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Net (loss) income from continuing operations attributable to CB&I (net of
$32,762, $71,159 and $71,943 of noncontrolling interests) $(1,352,860) $307,917 $(547,798)

Net (loss) income from discontinued operations attributable to CB&I (net of
$870, $2,187 and $2,511 of noncontrolling interests) (105,333 ) (621,086 ) 43,383

Net loss attributable to CB&I $(1,458,193) $(313,169) $(504,415)

Weighted average shares outstanding—basic 100,991 102,811 106,766
Effect of restricted shares/performance based shares/stock options (1) — 837 —
Effect of directors’ deferred-fee shares (1) — 14 —
Weighted average shares outstanding—diluted 100,991 103,662 106,766
Net (loss) income attributable to CB&I per share (Basic):
Continuing operations $(13.40 ) $2.99 $(5.13 )
Discontinued operations (1.04 ) (6.04 ) 0.41
Total $(14.44 ) $(3.05 ) $(4.72 )
Net (loss) income attributable to CB&I per share (Diluted):
Continuing operations $(13.40 ) $2.97 $(5.13 )
Discontinued operations (1.04 ) (5.99 ) 0.41
Total $(14.44 ) $(3.02 ) $(4.72 )

(1)
The effect of restricted shares, performance based shares, stock options and directors’ deferred-fee shares were not
included in the calculation of diluted EPS for 2017 and 2015 due to the net loss from continuing operations for the
period. Antidilutive shares excluded from diluted EPS were not material for 2016.

4. DISPOSITION OF NUCLEAR OPERATIONS
On December 31, 2015 we completed the sale of our nuclear power construction business (our “Nuclear Operations”),
previously included within our Engineering & Construction operating group, to Westinghouse Electric Company LLC
(“WEC”) for transaction consideration of approximately $161,000, which was to be due upon WEC’s substantial
completion of the acquired VC Summer and Vogtle nuclear projects. At December 31, 2015, we recorded the present
value of the transaction consideration (the “Transaction Receivable”); however, during the fourth quarter 2016 we
determined that recovery was no longer probable and recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge of approximately $148,100
(approximately $96,300 after-tax) to reserve the Transaction Receivable. The charge is included in “Loss on net assets
sold and intangible assets impairment” in our Statement of Operations. See Note 14 for discussion of a dispute with
WEC relating to the sale of our Nuclear Operations.
As a result of the sale of our Nuclear Operations in 2015, we recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge related to the
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets and a loss on net assets sold. A summary of the charge is as follows:

Year
Ended
December
31, 2015

Loss on net assets sold $973,651
Intangible assets impairment 79,100
Loss on net assets sold and intangible assets impairment 1,052,751
Goodwill impairment 453,100
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Total pre-tax charge $1,505,851
The net tax benefit of the charge was approximately $370,700, reflecting the non-deductibility of the goodwill
impairment, and resulted in an after-tax charge of approximately $1,135,200. The impact of the loss on net assets sold
and intangible assets impairment is included in “Loss on net assets sold and intangible assets impairment” in our
Statement of Operations, and the impact of the goodwill impairment is included in “Goodwill impairment” in our
Statement of Operations.
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The revenue and pre-tax income of our former Nuclear Operations for 2015 was as follows:
Year
Ended
December
31, 2015

Revenue $2,061,167
Pre-tax income $215,150
5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
As discussed in Note 2, on June 30, 2017 we completed the sale of our Capital Services Operations as provided for by
the CS Agreement entered into on February 27, 2017. In connection therewith, during 2017 we received net proceeds
of approximately $599,000 (approximately $645,500 net of cash sold and including $46,500 for transaction costs and
estimated working capital and other adjustments required by the CS agreement). As a result of the aforementioned,
during 2017, we recorded a pre-tax charge of approximately $64,800, and income tax expense of approximately
$51,600 resulting from a taxable gain on the transaction (due primarily to the non-deductibility of goodwill). The
transaction did not result in any material cash taxes associated with the taxable gain due to the use of previously
recorded net operating loss carryforwards. The proceeds received on the Closing Date were used to reduce our
outstanding debt.
Assets and Liabilities—The carrying values of the major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinued Capital
Services Operations within our Balance Sheet at December 31, 2016 were as follows:

December
31,
2016

Assets
Cash $14,477
Accounts receivable 239,146
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 153,275
Other assets 7,834
Current assets of discontinued operations 414,732

Property and equipment, net 59,746
Goodwill (1) 229,607
Other intangible assets 148,440
Other assets 24,351
Non-current assets of discontinued operations 462,144

Total assets of discontinued operations $876,876

Liabilities
Accounts payable $141,028
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings 53,986
Other liabilities 52,455
Current liabilities of discontinued operations 247,469

Other liabilities 5,388
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations 5,388
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Total liabilities of discontinued operations $252,857

Noncontrolling interests of discontinued operations $6,874

(1) The carrying value of goodwill for the discontinued Capital Services Operations includes the impact of a $655,000
impairment charge recorded in the fourth quarter 2016 in connection with our annual impairment assessment.
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Results of Operations—The results of our Capital Services Operations that have been reflected within discontinued
operations in our Statement of Operations for 2017, 2016, and 2015 were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Revenue $1,114,655 $2,211,835 $2,385,863
Cost of revenue 1,047,614 2,063,189 2,227,041
Gross profit 67,041 148,646 158,822
Selling and administrative expense 29,541 51,833 50,745
Intangibles amortization 2,550 16,600 19,960
Loss on net assets sold (1) 64,817 — —
Other operating expense (income) 504 (2,328 ) (1,353 )
Goodwill impairment (2) — 655,000 —
(Loss) income from operations (30,371 ) (572,459 ) 89,470
Interest expense (3) (13,440 ) (24,109 ) (23,857 )
Interest income 16 1,155 1,244
(Loss) income from operations before taxes (43,795 ) (595,413 ) 66,857
Income tax expense (4) (60,668 ) (23,486 ) (20,963 )
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations (104,463 ) (618,899 ) 45,894
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (870 ) (2,187 ) (2,511 )
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations attributable to CB&I $(105,333 ) $(621,086 ) $43,383
(1) As noted above, the sale of the Capital Services Operations resulted in a loss on the sale of net assets sold.

(2) Represents a goodwill impairment charge recorded in the fourth quarter 2016 in connection with our annual
impairment assessment.

(3)
Interest expense, including amortization of capitalized debt issuance costs, was allocated to the Capital Services
Operations due to a requirement to use the proceeds from the transaction to repay our debt as described in Note 11.
The allocation of interest expense was based on the anticipated debt amounts to be repaid.

(4)
As noted above, the sale of the Capital Services Operations resulted in a taxable gain (due primarily to the
non-deductibility of goodwill) resulting in tax expense of approximately $51,600 for 2017. Income tax expense for
2016 reflects the non-deductibility of the aforementioned goodwill impairment charge.

Cash Flows—Cash flows for our Capital Services Operations for 2017, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Operating cash flows $(38,974) $145,643 $76,365
Investing cash flows $(1,459 ) $(6,561 ) $(11,706)
6. INVENTORY 
The components of inventory at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

December 31,
2017 2016

Raw materials $55,275 $65,969
Work in process 15,652 51,625
Finished goods 30,646 72,508
Total $101,573 $190,102
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7. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES 
Goodwill
At December 31, 2017 and 2016, our goodwill balances were $2,836,582 and $2,813,803, respectively, attributable to
the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in connection with our acquisitions. The
changes in goodwill by reporting segment for 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

Engineering
&
Construction

Fabrication
Services Technology Total

Balance at December 31, 2015 $1,860,181 $666,597 $ 300,121 $2,826,899
Amortization of tax goodwill in excess of book goodwill (338 ) (920 ) (2,268 ) (3,526 )
Foreign currency translation and other (9,570 ) — — (9,570 )
Balance at December 31, 2016 $1,850,273 $665,677 $ 297,853 $2,813,803
Amortization of tax goodwill in excess of book goodwill (434 ) (1,116 ) (2,916 ) (4,466 )
Foreign currency translation and other 27,245 — — 27,245
Balance at December 31, 2017 (1) $1,877,084 $664,561 $ 294,937 $2,836,582

(1)
At December 31, 2017, we had approximately $453,100 of cumulative impairment losses which were recorded in
our Engineering & Construction operating group during 2015 in connection with the sale of our Nuclear
Operations on December 31, 2015 (discussed in Note 4).

As discussed further in Note 2, goodwill is not amortized to earnings, but instead is reviewed for impairment at least
annually at a reporting unit level, absent any indicators of impairment or when other actions require an impairment
assessment (such as a change in reporting units). We perform our annual impairment assessment during the fourth
quarter of each year based on balances as of October 1.
Reporting Units—Prior to the recognition of our Capital Services Operations as a discontinued operation, we had the
following five reporting units within our four operating groups, which represented our reportable segments:
•Engineering & Construction—Our Engineering & Construction operating group represented a reporting unit.
•Fabrication Services—Our Fabrication Services operating group represented a reporting unit.
•Technology—Our Technology operating group represented a reporting unit.

•Capital Services—Our Capital Services operating group included two reporting units: Facilities & Plant Services and
Federal Services.
During the first quarter 2017, we classified our Capital Services Operations as a discontinued operation (discussed in
Note 5). Our Capital Services Operations were sold on June 30, 2017, and were primarily comprised of our former
Capital Services operating group, which included the aforementioned Facilities & Plant Services and Federal Services
reporting units.
During the third quarter 2017, we classified our Technology Operations as a discontinued operation (discussed in Note
2). Our Technology Operations are primarily comprised of our Technology operating group and reporting unit and our
Engineered Products Operations, representing a portion of our Fabrication Services operating group and reporting
unit. As a result of the classification of our Technology reporting unit as a part of our Technology Operations within
discontinued operations, all of its goodwill (approximately $297,000) was allocated to our Technology Operations.
Further, as a result of the classification of our Engineered Products Operations as part of our Technology Operations
within discontinued operations, we allocated a portion of the Fabrication Services reporting unit’s goodwill
(approximately $200,000) to our Technology Operations. The allocation was based on the relative fair values of the
Engineered Products Operations and remaining Fabrication Services reporting unit after removal of the Engineered
Products Operations. The fair value of the Engineered Products Operations was determined on a basis consistent with
the basis used for our annual impairment assessment (discussed in Note 2) and gave consideration to a market
indicator of fair value for the Technology Operations. The fair value of the remaining Fabrication Services reporting
unit was also determined on a basis consistent with the basis used for our annual impairment assessment. As a result
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of the aforementioned, at October 1, 2017 (the date of our annual assessment), we had the following two reporting
units within our two operating groups:
•Engineering & Construction—Our Engineering & Construction operating group represented a reporting unit.

•Fabrication Services—Our Fabrication Services operating group (excluding Engineered Products) represented a
reporting unit.
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However, as a result of the Combination (discussed in Note 2), during the fourth quarter 2017 we reclassified our
Technology Operations as a continuing operation. Further, our Engineered Products Operations were reclassified to
our Fabrication Services operating group (consistent with our previous segment reporting) and became a separate
reporting unit within our Fabrication Services operating group. The remaining portion of the Technology Operations
became a separate operating group (consistent with our previous segment reporting) and reporting unit. Because the
Technology Operations were not operationally combined while presented as a discontinued operation, the goodwill
allocated to the Engineered Products reporting unit and Technology reporting unit, when reclassified to continuing
operations, represented the original goodwill amounts allocated during the third quarter 2017 (discussed above). As a
result of the aforementioned, at December 31, 2017, we had the following four reporting units within our three
operating groups:
•Engineering & Construction—Our Engineering & Construction operating group represented a reporting unit.

•Fabrication Services—Our Fabrication Services operating group included two reporting units: Engineered Products and
Fabrication Services (excluding Engineered Products).
•Technology—Our Technology operating group represented a reporting unit.
Interim Impairment Assessment—During the second quarter 2017, we experienced a decline in our market capitalization
and incurred charges on certain projects (discussed in Note 18) within our Engineering & Construction reporting unit
that resulted in a net loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017. We believed these events and
circumstances were indicators that goodwill of our Engineering & Construction reporting unit was potentially
impaired. Accordingly, we performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill for our Engineering & Construction
reporting unit as of June 30, 2017. Based on this quantitative assessment, the fair value of the Engineering &
Construction reporting unit continued to substantially exceed its net book value, and accordingly, no impairment
charge was necessary as a result of our interim impairment assessment. There were no additional indicators of
impairment during 2017.
Annual Impairment Assessment—As part of our annual goodwill impairment assessment during the fourth quarter 2017,
we performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill for our Engineering & Construction reporting unit and
Fabrication Services reporting unit (excluding Engineered Products) as of October 1, 2017. Based on these
quantitative assessments, the fair value of the reporting units each substantially exceeded (in excess of 50%) their
respective net book values, and accordingly, no impairment charge was necessary as a result of our impairment
assessments. In addition, in connection with the fourth quarter reclassification of our Technology Operations as a
continuing operation and related change in reporting units, we performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill for our
Engineered Products reporting unit and Technology reporting unit. Based on these quantitative assessments, the fair
value of the reporting units substantially exceeded (in excess of 100%) their respective net book values, and
accordingly, no impairment charge was necessary as a result of our impairment assessments. If, based on future
assessments our goodwill is deemed to be impaired, the impairment would result in a charge to earnings in the period
of impairment. There can be no assurance that future goodwill impairment tests will not result in charges to earnings.
Other Intangible Assets
The following table presents our acquired finite-lived intangible assets at December 31, 2017 and 2016, including the
December 31, 2017 weighted-average useful lives for each major intangible asset class and in total:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Weighted Average Life
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Backlog and customer relationships 18 Years $99,086 $ (26,912 ) $99,086 $ (21,374 )
Process technologies 15 Years 265,742 (151,174 ) 258,516 (129,261 )
Tradenames 12 Years 27,479 (17,748 ) 27,090 (14,648 )
Total (1) 16 Years $392,307 $ (195,834 ) $384,692 $ (165,283 )
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(1)

The decrease in other intangibles, net during 2017 primarily related to amortization expense of approximately
$25,800. Amortization expense for our intangibles existing at December 31, 2017 is anticipated to be
approximately $25,900, $23,800, $23,400, $23,400 and $22,000 for 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022,
respectively.
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8. PARTNERING ARRANGEMENTS 
As discussed in Note 2, we account for our unconsolidated ventures using either proportionate consolidation, when we
meet the applicable accounting criteria to do so, or the equity method. Further, we consolidate any venture that is
determined to be a VIE for which we are the primary beneficiary, or which we otherwise effectively control.
Proportionately Consolidated Ventures—The following is a summary description of our significant joint ventures that
have been accounted for using proportionate consolidation:

•

CB&I/Zachry—We have a venture with Zachry (CB&I—50% / Zachry—50%) to perform EPC work for two liquefied
natural gas (“LNG”) liquefaction trains in Freeport, Texas. Our proportionate share of the venture project value is
approximately $2,700,000. In addition, we have subcontract and risk sharing arrangements with Chiyoda to support
our responsibilities to the venture. The costs of these arrangements are recorded in cost of revenue.

•
CB&I/Zachry/Chiyoda—We have a venture with Zachry and Chiyoda (CB&I—33.3% / Zachry—33.3% / Chiyoda—33.3%) to
perform EPC work for an additional LNG liquefaction train at the aforementioned project site in Freeport, Texas. Our
proportionate share of the venture project value is approximately $675,000.

•
CB&I/Chiyoda—We have a venture with Chiyoda (CB&I—50% / Chiyoda—50%) to perform EPC work for three LNG
liquefaction trains in Hackberry, Louisiana. Our proportionate share of the venture project value is approximately
$3,300,000.
The following table presents summarized balance sheet information for our share of our proportionately consolidated
ventures:

December 31,
2017 2016

CB&I/Zachry
Current assets (1) $140,900 $260,934
Non-current assets 1,096 3,204
Total assets $141,996 $264,138
Current liabilities(1) $171,953 $379,339
CB&I/Zachry/Chiyoda
Current assets (1) $98,680 $84,279
Non-current assets 1,129 1,969
Total assets $99,809 $86,248
Current liabilities(1) $68,556 $73,138
CB&I/Chiyoda
Current assets (1) $92,767 $337,479
Current liabilities(1) $150,126 $150,179

(1)

Our venture arrangements allow for excess working capital of the ventures to be advanced to the venture partners.
Such advances are returned to the ventures for working capital needs as necessary. Accordingly, at a reporting
period end a venture may have advances to its partners which are reflected as an advance receivable within current
assets of the venture. As summarized in Note 9, at December 31, 2017 and 2016, other current assets on the
Balance Sheet included approximately $138,900 and $374,800, respectively, related to our proportionate share of
advances from the ventures to our venture partners, and other current liabilities included approximately $138,600
and $394,400, respectively, related to advances to CB&I from the ventures.

Equity Method Ventures—The following is a summary description of our significant joint ventures which have been
accounted for using the equity method:

•
CLG—We have a venture with Chevron (CB&I—50% / Chevron—50%) which provides proprietary process technology
licenses and associated engineering services and catalyst, primarily for the refining industry. As sufficient capital
investments in CLG have been made by the venture partners, it does not qualify as a VIE.
•
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NET Power—We have a venture with Exelon and 8 Rivers Capital (CB&I—33.3% / Exelon—33.3% / 8 Rivers
Capital—33.3%) to commercialize a new natural gas power generation system that recovers the carbon dioxide
produced during combustion. NET Power is building a first-of-its-kind demonstration plant which is being funded by
contributions and services from the venture partners and other parties. We have determined the venture to be a VIE;
however, we do not effectively control NET Power and therefore do not consolidate it. Our cash commitment for NET
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Power increased during 2017 and totals $57,300, and at December 31, 2017, we had made cumulative investments
totaling approximately $47,300.

•

CB&I/CTCI—We have a venture with CTCI (CB&I—50% / CTCI—50%) to perform EPC work for a liquids ethylene
cracker and associated units in Sohar, Oman. We have determined the venture to be a VIE; however, we do not
effectively control the venture and therefore do not consolidate it. Our proportionate share of the venture project value
is approximately $1,400,000. Our venture arrangement allows for excess working capital of the venture to be
advanced to the venture partners. Such advances are returned to the venture for working capital needs as necessary.
As summarized in Note 9, at December 31, 2017 and 2016, other current liabilities included approximately $173,600
and $147,000, respectively, related to advances to CB&I from the venture.
Dividends received from our equity method ventures were $16,951, $6,451 and $26,240 during 2017, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. We have no other material unconsolidated ventures.
Consolidated Ventures—The following is a summary description of our significant joint ventures we consolidate due to
their designation as VIEs for which we are the primary beneficiary:

•

CB&I/Kentz—We have a venture with Kentz (CB&I—65% / Kentz—35%) to perform the structural, mechanical, piping,
electrical and instrumentation work on, and to provide commissioning support for, three LNG trains, including
associated utilities and a gas processing and compression plant, for the Gorgon LNG project, located on Barrow
Island, Australia. Our venture project value is approximately $5,900,000 and the project was substantially complete at
December 31, 2017.

•CB&I/AREVA—We have a venture with AREVA (CB&I—52% / AREVA—48%) to design, license and construct a mixed
oxide fuel fabrication facility in Aiken, South Carolina. Our venture project value is approximately $6,000,000.
The following table presents summarized balance sheet information for our consolidated ventures:

December 31,
2017 2016

CB&I/Kentz
Current assets $23,061 $68,867
Non-current assets 71,023 —
Total assets $94,084 $68,867
Current liabilities $30,082 $87,822
CB&I/AREVA
Current assets $32,621 $16,313
Current liabilities $57,820 $47,652
All Other (1)
Current assets $26,551 $69,785
Non-current assets 15,753 16,382
Total assets $42,304 $86,167
Current liabilities $10,404 $7,748

(1) Other ventures that we consolidate are not individually material to our financial results and are therefore
aggregated as “All Other”.

Other—The use of these ventures exposes us to a number of risks, including the risk that our partners may be unable or
unwilling to provide their share of capital investment to fund the operations of the venture or complete their
obligations to us, the venture, or ultimately, our customer. Differences in opinions or views among venture partners
could also result in delayed decision-making or failure to agree on material issues, which could adversely affect the
business and operations of the venture. In addition, agreement terms may subject us to joint and several liability for
our venture partners, and the failure of our venture partners to perform their obligations could impose additional
performance and financial obligations on us. The aforementioned factors could result in unanticipated costs to
complete the projects, liquidated damages or contract disputes, including claims against our partners.
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9. SUPPLEMENTAL BALANCE SHEET DETAIL
The components of property and equipment, other current assets, and other current and non-current liabilities at
December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

December 31,
2017 2016

Property and Equipment
Plant, field equipment and other $537,172 $595,919
Buildings and improvements 331,681 396,466
Land and improvements 51,069 72,880
Total property and equipment $919,922 $1,065,265
Accumulated depreciation (501,391 ) (559,321 )
Property and equipment, net $418,531 $505,944
Other Current Assets
Advances to proportionately consolidated ventures (1) $138,858 $374,803
Other (2) 142,313 172,174
Other current assets $281,171 $546,977
Other Non-Current Assets
Non-current project receivables (3) $314,100 $231,275
Other (4) 169,105 169,729
Other non-current assets $483,205 $401,004
Other Current Liabilities
Advances from equity method and proportionately consolidated ventures (1) $312,207 $541,432
Payroll-related obligations 113,217 212,441
Income taxes payable 41,897 46,741
Self-insurance and other insurance reserves 21,034 16,727
Other (5) 263,939 200,132
Other current liabilities $752,294 $1,017,473
Other Non-Current Liabilities
Pension obligations $178,927 $174,264
Self-insurance and other insurance reserves 73,566 87,680
Postretirement medical benefit obligations 30,337 30,931
Income tax reserves 16,251 14,162
Other (6) 128,454 134,179
Other non-current liabilities $427,535 $441,216

(1) Represents advances to our proportionately consolidated ventures and advances from our equity method and
proportionately consolidated ventures, as discussed in Note 8.

(2) Represents various assets that are each individually less than 5% of total current assets, including income tax
receivables and prepaid items.

(3)
Represents customer receivables for projects that are not anticipated to be collected within the next year. See Note
14 for discussion of outstanding receivables on one of our previously completed large cost-reimbursable projects
and one of our previously completed consolidated joint venture projects.

(4)
Represents various assets that are each individually less than 5% of total assets, including prepaid pension costs and
various other prepaid items.

(5)
Represents various accruals that are each individually less than 5% of total current liabilities, including accruals for
non-contract payables, taxes other than income taxes, country-specific employee benefits, operating lease
obligations, derivatives, and medical and legal obligations.
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Represents various accruals that are each individually less than 5% of total liabilities, including accruals for
non-contract payables, taxes other than income taxes, operating lease obligations, deferred rent, and
country-specific employee benefits.
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10. RESTRUCTURING RELATED COSTS 
During 2017, we recognized approximately $114,500 of restructuring related costs associated with facility
consolidations, severance and other employee related costs, professional fees, and other miscellaneous costs, resulting
primarily from our publicly announced cost reduction, facility rationalization and strategic initiatives, as described
below.
Facility Consolidation Costs—Facility consolidation costs totaled approximately $35,600 during 2017 and included
approximately $18,200 of accrued future operating lease expense for vacated leased facility capacity where we remain
contractually obligated to a lessor, and approximately $17,400 of impairment charges for owned facilities that were
classified as held-for-sale during the fourth quarter 2017 (discussed in Note 2). The liability for future lease
obligations was reflected within other current and non-current liabilities, as applicable, based upon the anticipated
timing of payments. The following table summarizes the changes in the facility consolidation liability during 2017:

Years Ended
December 31,
2017 2016

Beginning Balance $4,060 $5,334
Charges (1) 18,213 —
Cash payments (6,908 ) (1,274 )
Foreign exchange and other 241 —
Ending Balance (2) $15,606 $4,060
(1) The charges primarily relate to our Engineering & Construction operating group.

(2) Future cash payments for our existing obligations at December 31, 2017 are anticipated to be approximately
$7,200, $2,600, $2,300, $1,900, $1,500 and $100 in 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, and thereafter, respectively.

Severance and Other Employee Related Costs—Severance and other employee related costs totaled approximately
$33,700 for 2017, and included approximately $9,600 for severance costs, approximately $7,100 for incremental
incentive plan costs resulting from the Combination Agreement, and approximately $17,000 of union employee
related obligations resulting from the facility closures described above. At December 31, 2017, we had an accrual of
approximately $8,500 for the unpaid portion of our severance and incentive plan costs, which has been reflected
within other current liabilities. The union employee related obligations are expected to be paid over an extended
period of time and have been reflected within other non-current liabilities.
Professional Fees—Professional fees totaled approximately $41,100 for 2017, nearly all of which were paid during
2017, and were related to consulting, legal, audit and advisory related services associated with our recent lending
facility amendments and strategic initiatives, including costs associated with our previous plan to sell our Technology
Operations and the anticipated Combination. See Note 2 for further discussion of our previous plan to sell our
Technology Operations and the anticipated Combination.
Other Miscellaneous—Other miscellaneous costs totaled approximately $4,100 for 2017 and are anticipated to be paid
during 2018.
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11. DEBT 
Our outstanding debt at December 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

December 31,
2017 2016

Current
Revolving facility and other short-term borrowings $1,102,151 $407,500

Current maturities of long-term debt 1,167,219 506,250
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (6,928 ) (2,340 )
Current maturities of long-term debt, net of unamortized debt issuance costs 1,160,291 503,910
Current debt, net of unamortized debt issuance costs $2,262,442 $911,410
Long-Term
Term Loan: $1,000,000 term loan (interest at LIBOR plus a floating margin) $— $300,000
Second Term Loan: $500,000 term loan (interest at LIBOR plus a floating margin) 440,746 500,000
Senior Notes: $800,000 senior notes, series A-D (fixed interest ranging from 7.57% to
9.15%) 584,596 800,000

Second Senior Notes: $200,000 senior notes (fixed interest of 7.53%) 141,877 200,000
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs — (5,827 )
Less: current maturities of long-term debt (1,167,219 ) (506,250 )
Long-term debt, net of unamortized debt issuance costs $— $1,287,923
Committed Facilities—We have a five-year, $1,150,000 committed revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Facility”)
with Bank of America N.A. (“BofA”), as administrative agent, and BNP Paribas Securities Corp., BBVA Compass,
Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank (“Credit Agricole”) and TD Securities, each as syndication agents,
which expires in October 2018. The Revolving Facility has a $100,000 total letter of credit sublimit. At December 31,
2017, we had $683,202 and $52,084 of outstanding borrowings and letters of credit, respectively, under the facility,
providing $414,714 of available capacity, of which $47,916 was available for letters of credit based on our total letter
of credit sublimit.
We also have a five-year, $800,000 committed revolving credit facility (the “Second Revolving Facility”) with BofA, as
administrative agent, and BNP Paribas Securities Corp., BBVA Compass, Credit Agricole and Bank of Tokyo
Mitsubishi UFJ, each as syndication agents, which expires in July 2020. The Second Revolving Facility has a
$100,000 total letter of credit sublimit. At December 31, 2017, we had $418,949 of outstanding borrowings and
$91,905 of outstanding letters of credit under the facility (including $2,704 of financial letters of credit), providing
$289,146 of available capacity, of which $8,095 was available for letters of credit based on our total letter of credit
sublimit.
Maximum outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Facility and Second Revolving Facility (together, “Committed
Facilities”) during 2017 were approximately $1,700,000. We are assessed quarterly commitment fees on the unutilized
portion of the facilities as well as letter of credit fees on outstanding letters of credit. Interest on borrowings is
assessed at either prime plus 4.00% or LIBOR plus 5.00%. In addition, fees for financial and performance letters of
credit are 5.00% and 3.50%, respectively. During 2017, our weighted average interest rate on borrowings under the
Revolving Facility and Second Revolving Facility was approximately 4.78% and 6.00%, respectively, inclusive of the
applicable floating margin. As a result of the December 18, 2017 amendment described below, our debt obligations
under the Committed Facilities are required to be repaid in connection with the consummation of the Combination.
The Committed Facilities have financial and restrictive covenants described further below.
Uncommitted Facilities—We also have various short-term, uncommitted letter of credit facilities (the “Uncommitted
Facilities”) across several geographic regions, under which we had $1,535,061 of outstanding letters of credit at
December 31, 2017.
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Term Loans—On February 13, 2017, we paid the remaining $300,000 of principal on our four-year, $1,000,000
unsecured term loan (the “Term Loan”) with BofA as administrative agent. Interest was based on LIBOR plus an
applicable floating margin for the period (0.98% and 2.25%, respectively). In conjunction with the repayment of the
Term Loan, we also settled our associated interest rate swap that hedged against a portion of the Term Loan, which
resulted in a weighted average interest rate of approximately 2.60% during 2017 for the duration of the Term Loan.
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At December 31, 2017, we had $440,746 outstanding under a five-year, $500,000 term loan (the “Second Term Loan”)
with BofA as administrative agent. Interest and principal under the Second Term Loan is payable quarterly in arrears,
and interest is assessed at either prime plus 4.00% or LIBOR plus 5.00%. During 2017, our weighted average interest
rate on the Second Term Loan was approximately 4.42%, inclusive of the applicable floating margin. Future annual
maturities for the Second Term Loan are $75,000, $75,000 and $290,746 for 2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively. As a
result of the December 18, 2017 amendment described below, our debt obligations under the Second Term Loan are
required to be repaid in connection with the consummation of the Combination. The Second Term Loan has financial
and restrictive covenants described further below.
Senior Notes—We have a series of senior notes totaling $584,596 in aggregate principal amount outstanding at
December 31, 2017 (the “Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes include Series A through D and contained the following
terms at December 31, 2017:

•Series A—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 9.15%, with principal of $104,653 due in August 2018 (as a
result of the December 18, 2017 amendment described below)
•Series B—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 7.57%, with principal of $165,784 due in December 2019
•Series C—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 8.15%, with principal of $195,219 due in December 2022
•Series D—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 8.30%, with principal of $118,940 due in December 2024
The principal balances above reflect the use of $211,846 of the proceeds from the sale of our Capital Services
Operations to repay a portion of each series of senior notes during 2017 in the following amounts: Series A - $44,604,
Series B - $58,221, Series C - $78,485 and Series D - $30,536. As a result of the December 18, 2017 amendment
described below, our debt obligations under the Senior Notes are required to be repaid in connection with the
consummation of the Combination.
We also have senior notes totaling $141,877 in aggregate principal amount outstanding as of December 31, 2017 (the
“Second Senior Notes”) with BofA as administrative agent. Interest is payable semi-annually at a fixed rate of 7.53%,
with principal of $141,877 due in July 2025. The principal balance reflects the use of $57,100 of the proceeds from
the sale of the Capital Services Operations to repay a portion of the Second Senior Notes. As a result of the December
18, 2017 amendment described below, our debt obligations under the Second Senior Notes are required to be repaid in
connection with the consummation of the Combination.
The Senior Notes and Second Senior Notes (together, the “Notes”) have financial and restrictive covenants described
further below. The Notes also include provisions relating to our credit profile, which if not maintained will result in an
incremental annual cost of up to 1.50% of the outstanding balance under the Notes. Further, the Notes include
provisions relating to our leverage, which if not maintained, could result in an incremental annual cost of up to 1.00%
(depending on our leverage level) of the outstanding balance under the Notes, provided that the incremental annual
cost related to our credit profile and leverage cannot exceed 2.00% per annum. Finally, the Notes are subject to a
make-whole premium in connection with certain prepayment events.
Compliance—As a result of noncompliance with certain financial covenants, on February 24, 2017, May 8, 2017 and
August 9, 2017, we entered into amendments for our Revolving Facility, Second Revolving Facility, and Second
Term Loan (collectively, the “Bank Facilities”) and Notes (collectively, with the Bank Facilities, the “Senior Facilities”).
The amendments adjusted certain original and amended financial and restrictive covenants, introduced new financial
and restrictive covenants, and waived noncompliance with certain covenants and other defaults and events of default.
The amendments:

•

Required us to secure the Senior Facilities through the pledge of cash, accounts receivable, inventory, fixed assets,
certain real property, and stock of subsidiaries, which was in the process of being completed as of December 31,
2017, and will result in substantially all of our assets, subject to customary exceptions, being pledged as collateral for
our Senior Facilities.
•Required us to repay portions of the Senior Facilities with all of the net proceeds from the sale of our Capital Services
Operations (which occurred on June 30, 2017), the issuance of any unsecured debt that is subordinate (“Subordinated
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Debt”) to the Senior Facilities, the issuance of any equity securities, or the sale of any assets.

•Replaced the previous financial letter of credit sublimits for our Revolving Facility and Second Revolving Facilitywith a $100,000 letter of credit sublimit for each.

•Prohibited mergers and acquisitions, open-market share repurchases and dividend payments and certaininter-company transactions.
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•Adjusted the interest rates on our Senior Facilities.

•
Required us to execute on our plan to market and sell our Technology Operations by December 27, 2017 (the
“Technology Sale”), with an extension of up to 60 days at the discretion of the holders of a majority of the outstanding
Notes and at the discretion of the administrative agents of the Bank Facilities.

•

Required us to maintain a minimum aggregate availability under our Committed Facilities, including borrowings and
letters of credit, of $150,000 at all times from the date of the applicable amendment through the date of the
Technology Sale, and $250,000 thereafter (“Minimum Availability”). Our amendments required the proceeds from the
Technology Sale be used to repay our Senior Facilities (“Mandatory Repayment Amount”). Further, our aggregate
capacity under the Committed Facilities would be reduced by seventy percent (70%) of the portion of the Mandatory
Repayment Amount allocable to the Committed Facilities, upon closing the Technology Sale and certain other
mandatory prepayment events.

•

Required minimum levels of trailing 12-month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”), as defined by the amendments, as follows: $500,000 at September 30, 2017; $550,000 at December 31,
2017; $500,000 at March 31, 2018; $450,000 at June 30, 2018 and September 30, 2018; and $425,000 at December
31, 2018 and thereafter (“Minimum EBITDA”). Trailing 12-month EBITDA for purposes of determining compliance
with the Minimum EBITDA covenant is adjusted to exclude: an agreed amount attributable to restructuring or
integration charges during the third and fourth quarters of 2017; an agreed amount attributable to previous charges on
certain projects which occurred during the first and second quarters of 2017; and an agreed amount for potential future
charges for the same projects if they were to be incurred during the third and fourth quarters of 2017 (collectively, the
“EBITDA Addbacks”).

•

Provided for an amended maximum leverage ratio and minimum fixed charge ratio of 1.75 (“Maximum Leverage
Ratio”) and new minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 2.25 (“Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio”), which were
temporarily suspended and would resume as of March 31, 2018. Trailing 12-month EBITDA for purposes of
determining compliance with the Maximum Leverage Ratio and consolidated net income for purposes of determining
compliance with the Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio would be adjusted for the EBITDA Addbacks.

•

Limited the amount of certain of our funded indebtedness to $3,000,000 prior to the Technology Sale and $2,900,000
thereafter, in each case, subject to reduction pursuant to scheduled repayments and mandatory prepayments thereof
(but, with respect to the Committed Facilities, only to the extent the commitments have been reduced by such
prepayments) made by us after August 9, 2017.
As discussed above, our amended covenants following the August 9, 2017 amendment required, among other things,
the completion of our plan to sell the Technology Operations and utilization of the proceeds to repay our Senior
Facilities. In connection with the decision to pursue the Combination, we further amended our Senior Facilities on
December 18, 2017 (the “Effective Date”). The amendments:

•
Waive any noncompliance with the Maximum Leverage Ratio or Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio beginning
on the Effective Date and ending on the earlier of (i) June 18, 2018 or (ii) the occurrence of certain Combination
termination events (the “Covenant Relief Period”).

•Extend the maturity of the Series A Senior Notes, from December 27, 2017 to August 31, 2018 and increase theinterest rates on the Series A Senior Notes.

•Reduce the Minimum Availability threshold for the Committed Facilities from $150,000 to $50,000 during theCovenant Relief Period.

•
Adjust the required minimum levels of trailing 12-month EBITDA as follows: $550,000 at December 31, 2017,
$500,000 at March 31, 2018, $500,000 at June 30, 2018, $550,000 at September 30, 2018, and $575,000 at December
31, 2018 and each quarter thereafter.

•
For the duration of the Covenant Relief Period, increase the amount of certain of our funded indebtedness from
$3,000,000 to $3,140,000 less the aggregate amount of all scheduled repayments and mandatory prepayments of such
funded indebtedness made after the August 9, 2017 amendment date.
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•

Suspend the requirement to consummate the Technology Sale and require the completion of the Combination by June
18, 2018 (the “Combination Closing Deadline”), subject to earlier milestones including: (i) filing of a joint proxy
statement/prospectus (“Form S-4”) by February 15, 2018, (ii) filing of a solicitation/recommendation statement on
Schedule 14D-9 as promptly as reasonably practicable following (but in any event by no later than 10 business days
after) the commencement of the exchange offer related to the Combination, and (iii) duly calling and giving notice of
a
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meeting of the Company’s shareholders as promptly as reasonably practicable after the Form S-4 is declared effective
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (but in any event by no later than May 18, 2018) (collectively, the
“Combination Milestones”).

•

Provide for the mandatory repayment of the outstanding debt under the Senior Facilities on the day of the closing of
the Combination, which in the case of the Notes, is to be at the price of the make-whole amount as modified by the
amendments. During 2017, we accrued approximately $35,000 within interest expense related to the anticipated
modified make-whole payment.

•

Provide for certain events of default in respect of the Combination, including: (i) termination of documentation related
to the Combination, (ii) failure of the applicable proposals related to the Combination to be brought for a vote by the
shareholders of the Company or McDermott, (iii) the failure of the shareholders of either McDermott or the Company
to approve the applicable proposals related to the Combination at their respective shareholder meetings, subject to a
seven day grace period, (iv) the supervisory board of directors of the Company changing its recommendation to the
Company’s shareholders in respect of the Combination, or (v) the failure of certain financing commitments in respect
of the Combination, subject to customary minimum thresholds.

•
Provide for certain other information and modified reporting rights, modifications to mandatory prepayment
requirements, and consent rights of the holders of the outstanding Notes and administrative agents of the Bank
Facilities as more fully set forth in the amendments.
At December 31, 2017, we were in compliance with our amended restrictive and financial covenants, with a trailing
12-month EBITDA of $656,200, and aggregate availability under our Committed Facilities of at least $200,000 at all
times from August 9, 2017 through December 17, 2017, and at least $221,100 at all times from December 18, 2017
through December 31, 2017. Based on our forecasted EBITDA and cash flows, we project future compliance with our
financial covenants through the Combination Closing Deadline. Further, we believe we will successfully achieve the
various Combination Milestones required by our December 18, 2017 amendments, and believe it is probable we will
complete the Combination by the Combination Closing Deadline. Although we do not project future loan compliance
violations, due to the requirement for our debt obligations to be repaid in connection with the Combination, debt of
approximately $982,000, which by its terms is due beyond one year and would otherwise be shown as long-term, has
been classified as current.
Prior to the Combination Agreement, our plan to maintain compliance with our covenants, satisfy our debt
obligations, and continue as a going concern included the Technology Sale. However, our current plan is to complete
the aforementioned Combination, with no further financing alternatives beyond the Combination. Absent this plan, we
would be unable to satisfy our debt obligations, raising substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going
concern; however, the Combination alleviates the substantial doubt.
Other—In addition to providing letters of credit, we also issue surety bonds in the ordinary course of business to support
our contract performance. At December 31, 2017, we had $344,016 of outstanding surety bonds in support of our
projects. In addition, we had $411,445 of surety bonds maintained on behalf of our former Capital Services
Operations, for which we have received an indemnity from CSVC. We also continue to maintain guarantees on behalf
of our former Capital Services Operations in support of approximately $76,800 of backlog, for which we have also
received an indemnity. Capitalized interest was insignificant for 2017, 2016 and 2015.
12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Derivatives
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Derivatives—At December 31, 2017, the notional value of our outstanding forward
contracts to hedge certain foreign exchange-related operating exposures was approximately $204,100. These contracts
vary in duration, maturing up to four years from period-end. We designate certain of these hedges as cash flow hedges
and accordingly, changes in their fair value are recognized in AOCI until the associated underlying operating exposure
impacts our earnings. Forward points, which are deemed to be an ineffective portion of the hedges, are recognized
within cost of revenue and are not material.    
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Financial Instruments Disclosures
Fair Value—Financial instruments are required to be categorized within a valuation hierarchy based upon the lowest
level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels of the valuation hierarchy are as
follows:
•Level 1—Fair value is based on quoted prices in active markets.

86

Edgar Filing: WASTE MANAGEMENT INC - Form 424B5

77



Table of Contents
Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

•

Level 2—Fair value is based on internally developed models that use, as their basis, readily observable market
parameters. Our derivative positions are classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy as they are valued using
quoted market prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets. These level 2 derivatives are valued utilizing
an income approach, which discounts future cash flow based on current market expectations and adjusts for credit
risk.

•Level 3—Fair value is based on internally developed models that use, as their basis, significant unobservable market
parameters. We did not have any level 3 classifications at December 31, 2017 or 2016.
The following table presents the fair value of our foreign currency exchange rate derivatives and interest rate
derivatives at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, by valuation hierarchy and balance sheet classification:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Level
1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level

1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Derivative Assets (1)
Other current assets $—$1,671 $ —$1,671 $—$1,146 $ —$1,146
Other non-current assets —556 — 556 —82 — 82
Total assets at fair value $—$2,227 $ —$2,227 $—$1,228 $ —$1,228
Derivative Liabilities
Other current liabilities $—$(4,598) $ —$(4,598) $—$(3,509) $ —$(3,509)
Other non-current liabilities —(187 ) — (187 ) —(725 ) — (725 )
Total liabilities at fair value $—$(4,785) $ —$(4,785) $—$(4,234) $ —$(4,234)

(1)

We are exposed to credit risk on our hedging instruments associated with potential counterparty non-performance,
and the fair value of our derivatives reflects this credit risk. The total level 2 assets at fair value above represent the
maximum loss that we would incur on our outstanding hedges if the applicable counterparties failed to perform
according to the hedge contracts. To help mitigate counterparty credit risk, we transact only with counterparties
that are rated as investment grade or higher and monitor all counterparties on a continuous basis.

The carrying values of our cash and cash equivalents (primarily consisting of bank deposits), accounts receivable and
accounts payable approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. At December 31,
2017, the fair value of our Second Term Loan, based upon the current market rates for debt with similar credit risk and
maturities, approximated its carrying value as interest is based on LIBOR plus an applicable floating margin. At
December 31, 2017, the fair values of our Senior Notes and Second Senior Notes, based upon the current market rates
for debt with similar credit risk and maturities, approximated their carrying values due to their classification as current
on our Balance Sheet. At December 31, 2016, our Senior Notes and Second Senior Notes had a total fair value of
approximately $785,700 and $206,400, respectively, based on current market rates for debt with similar credit risk and
maturities and were categorized within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.
Derivatives Disclosures
Fair Value—The following table presents the total fair value by underlying risk and balance sheet classification for
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges and derivatives not designated as cash flow hedges at December 31, 2017
and 2016:

Other Current and
Non-Current Assets

Other Current and
Non-Current Liabilities

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Interest rate $— $ 49 $— $ —
Foreign currency 385 109 (140 ) (536 )
Fair value $385 $ 158 $(140 ) $ (536 )
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Derivatives not designated as cash flow hedges
Foreign currency $1,842 $ 1,070 $(4,645) $ (3,698 )
Fair value $1,842 $ 1,070 $(4,645) $ (3,698 )
Total fair value $2,227 $ 1,228 $(4,785) $ (4,234 )
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Master Netting Arrangements (“MNAs”)—Our derivatives are executed under International Swaps and Derivatives
Association MNAs, which generally allow us and our counterparties to net settle, in a single net payable or receivable,
obligations due on the same day, in the same currency and for the same type of derivative instrument. We have elected
the option to record all derivatives on a gross basis in our Balance Sheet. The following table presents our derivative
assets and liabilities at December 31, 2017 on a gross basis and a net settlement basis:

Gross
Amounts
Recognized
(i)

Gross Amounts
Offset on the
Balance Sheet
(ii)

Net Amounts
Presented on the
Balance Sheet
(iii) = (i) - (ii)

Gross Amounts Not Offset on
the Balance Sheet (iv) Net Amount

(v) = (iii) - (iv)Financial
Instruments

Cash
Collateral
Received

Derivative Assets
Foreign currency $ 2,227 $ —$ 2,227 $ (297 ) $ —$ 1,930
Total assets $ 2,227 $ —$ 2,227 $ (297 ) $ —$ 1,930
Derivative Liabilities
Foreign currency $ (4,785 ) $ —$ (4,785 ) $ 297 $ —$ (4,488 )
Total liabilities $ (4,785 ) $ —$ (4,785 ) $ 297 $ —$ (4,488 )
AOCI/Other—The following table presents the total value, by underlying risk, recognized in other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) and reclassified from AOCI to interest expense (interest rate derivatives) and cost of revenue (foreign
currency derivatives) during 2017 and 2016 for derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:

Amount of Gain (Loss) on Effective
Derivative Portion
Recognized in
OCI

Reclassified from
AOCI into Earnings (1)

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Interest rate $— $(740 ) $ 49 $ (510 )
Foreign currency 637 (304 ) 651 (835 )
Total $637 $(1,044) $ 700 $ (1,345 )

(1) Net unrealized gains totaling approximately $45 are anticipated to be reclassified from AOCI into earnings during
the next 12 months due to settlement of the associated underlying obligations.

The following table presents the total value recognized in cost of revenue for 2017 and 2016 for foreign currency
derivatives not designated as cash flow hedges:

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Earnings
Years Ended December
31,
2017 2016

Derivatives not designated as cash flow hedges
Foreign currency $ (8,598 ) $ (15,287 )
Total $ (8,598 ) $ (15,287 )
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13. RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
Defined Contribution Plans
We sponsor multiple defined contribution plans for eligible employees with various features, including voluntary
employee pre-tax and Roth-based contributions, and Company matching and other contributions. During 2017, 2016
and 2015, we expensed $31,764, $60,144 and $42,722, respectively, for these plans. In addition, we sponsor multiple
defined contribution plans that cover eligible employees for which we do not provide contributions. The cost of these
plans was not significant to us in 2017, 2016 or 2015.
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans
We sponsor various defined benefit pension plans covering eligible employees and provide specific post-retirement
benefits for eligible retired U.S. employees and their dependents through health care and life insurance benefit
programs. These plans may be changed or terminated by us at any time. The following tables present combined
information for our defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans:

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost Pension Plans Other Postretirement
Plans

2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015
Service cost $11,728 $9,337 $10,611 $685 $704 $791
Interest cost 19,120 23,078 23,242 1,366 1,361 1,545
Expected return on plan assets (23,969 ) (26,314 ) (28,341 ) — — —
Amortization of prior service credits (635 ) (617 ) (620 ) — — —
Recognized net actuarial losses (gains) 6,184 5,719 7,648 (2,741) (3,361 ) (2,696)
Settlement expense (1) 2,426 — — — — —
Net periodic benefit cost (income) $14,854 $11,203 $12,540 $(690) $(1,296) $(360)
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation Pension Plans Other Postretirement Plans

2017 2016 2017 2016
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $877,257 $824,968 $ 33,407 $ 30,948
Service cost 11,728 9,337 685 704
Interest cost 19,120 23,078 1,366 1,361
Actuarial (gain) loss (2) (422 ) 127,406 (1,121 ) 2,702
Plan participants’ contributions 2,880 2,850 598 502
Benefits paid (42,899 ) (36,955 ) (2,241 ) (2,810 )
Settlement (1) (4,556 ) — — —
Currency translation (3) 106,654 (73,427 ) — —
Projected benefit obligation at end of year $969,762 $877,257 $ 32,694 $ 33,407
Change in Plan Assets Pension Plans Other Postretirement Plans

2017 2016 2017 2016
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $703,104 $707,088 $ — $—
Actual return on plan assets 36,491 78,360 — —
Benefits paid (42,899 ) (36,955 ) (2,241 ) (2,810 )
Employer contributions (4) 17,775 16,770 1,643 2,308
Plan participants’ contributions 2,880 2,850 598 502
Settlement (1) (4,556 ) — — —
Currency translation (3) 85,141 (65,009 ) — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $797,936 $703,104 $ — $—
Funded status $(171,826) $(174,153) $ (32,694 ) $ (33,407 )
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Balance Sheet Position Pension Plans Other Postretirement Plans
2017 2016 2017 2016

Prepaid benefit cost within other non-current assets $9,884 $2,798 $ — $—
Accrued benefit cost within other current liabilities (2,783 ) (2,687 ) (2,357 ) (2,476 )
Accrued benefit cost within other non-current liabilities (178,927 ) (174,264 ) (30,337 ) (30,931 )
Net funded status recognized $(171,826) $(174,153) $ (32,694 ) $ (33,407 )

Unrecognized net prior service credits $(3,053 ) $(3,259 ) $ — $—
Unrecognized net actuarial losses (gains) 202,361 200,334 (23,888 ) (25,508 )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (income), before taxes (5) $199,308 $197,075 $ (23,888 ) $ (25,508 )

(1)
Net periodic benefit cost in 2017 was impacted by the settlement of our qualified Canadian pension plan in 2017.
The settlement resulted in the immediate recognition of previously unrecognized actuarial gains related to the plan
that were previously included in AOCI.

(2) The actuarial pension plan loss for 2016 was primarily associated with a decrease in discount rate assumptions for
our pension plans.

(3)

The currency translation gain for 2017 was primarily associated with the weakening of the U.S. Dollar against the
currencies associated with our international pension plans, primarily the Euro and British Pound. The currency
translation loss for 2016 was primarily associated with the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the currencies
associated with our international pension plans, primarily the Euro and British Pound.

(4) During 2018, we expect to contribute approximately $18,200 and $2,400 to our pension and other postretirement
plans, respectively.

(5) During 2018, we expect to recognize approximately $(600) and $3,000 of previously unrecognized net
prior service pension credits and net actuarial pension losses, respectively.

Accumulated Benefit Obligation—At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the accumulated benefit obligation for all defined
benefit pension plans was $968,446 and $859,501, respectively. The following table includes summary information
for those defined benefit plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:

December 31,
2017 2016

Projected benefit obligation $852,008 $766,618
Accumulated benefit obligation $850,692 $748,862
Fair value of plan assets $670,299 $589,667
Plan Assumptions—The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions used to measure our defined benefit
pension and other postretirement plans:

Pension Plans Other Postretirement Plans
2017 2016 2017 2016

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at
December 31,
Discount rate 2.08% 2.11% 3.69 % 4.15 %
Rate of compensation increase (1) 2.46% 2.36% n/a n/a
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost
for the years ended December 31,
Discount rate 2.11% 2.95% 4.15 % 4.47 %
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets (2) 3.27% 3.87% n/a n/a
Rate of compensation increase (1) 2.46% 2.36% n/a n/a

(1) The rate of compensation increase relates solely to the defined benefit plans that factor compensation increases into
the valuation.
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(2) The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was derived using historical returns by asset category and
expectations of future performance.

Benefit Payments—The following table includes the expected defined benefit and other postretirement plan payments
for the next 10 years:

Year Pension
Plans

Other
Postretirement
Plans

2018 $36,373 $ 2,357
2019 $36,489 $ 2,363
2020 $37,918 $ 2,314
2021 $38,579 $ 2,243
2022 $39,168 $ 2,174
2023-2027 $203,571 $ 9,958
Plan Assets—Our investment strategy for defined benefit plan assets seeks to optimize the proper risk-return relationship
considered appropriate for each respective plan’s investment goals, using a global portfolio of various asset classes
diversified by market segment, economic sector and issuer. The primary goal is to optimize the asset mix to fund
future benefit obligations, while managing various risk factors and each plan’s investment return objectives.
Our defined benefit plan assets in the U.S. are invested in well-diversified portfolios of equity (including U.S. large,
mid and small-capitalization and international equities) and fixed income securities (including corporate and
government bonds). Non-U.S. defined benefit plan assets are similarly invested in well-diversified portfolios of
equity, fixed income and other securities. At December 31, 2017, our target weighted-average asset allocations by
asset category were: equity securities (35%-40%), fixed income securities (60%-65%), and other investments
(0%-5%).
Our pension assets are categorized within the valuation hierarchy based upon the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. Assets that are valued using quoted prices are classified within level 1 of the
valuation hierarchy, assets that are valued using internally-developed models that use, as their basis, readily
observable market parameters, are classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy, and assets that are valued based
upon models with significant unobservable market parameters are classified within level 3 of the valuation hierarchy.
The following tables present the fair value of our plan assets by investment category and valuation hierarchy level at
December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017
Level
1 Level 2 Level

3 Total

Asset Category
Equity Securities:
Global Equities and Cash $3,663 $— $ —$3,663
International Funds (1) — 174,772 — 174,772
Emerging Markets Growth Funds — 19,753 — 19,753
U.S. Equity Funds — 15,113 — 15,113
Fixed Income Securities:
International Government Bonds (2) — 226,341 — 226,341
International Corporate Bonds (3) — 111,536 — 111,536
International Mortgage Funds (4) — 70,346 — 70,346
All Other Fixed Income Securities (5) — 52,998 — 52,998
Other Investments:
Asset Allocation Funds (6) — 123,414 — 123,414
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December 31, 2016
Level
1 Level 2 Level

3 Total

Asset Category
Equity Securities:
Global Equities and Cash $3,310 $— $ —$3,310
International Funds (1) — 155,560 — 155,560
Emerging Markets Growth Funds — 17,342 — 17,342
U.S. Equity Funds — 13,766 — 13,766
Fixed Income Securities:
International Government Bonds (2) — 180,850 — 180,850
International Corporate Bonds (3) — 110,626 — 110,626
International Mortgage Funds (4) — 64,174 — 64,174
All Other Fixed Income Securities (5) — 50,321 — 50,321
Other Investments:
Asset Allocation Funds (6) — 107,155 — 107,155
Total Assets at Fair Value $3,310 $699,794 $ —$703,104
The following provides descriptions for plan asset categories with significant balances in the tables above:
(1) Investments in various funds that track international indices.

(2) Investments in predominately E.U. government securities and U.K. Treasury securities with credit ratings primarily
AAA.

(3) Investments in European and U.K. fixed interest securities with credit ratings of primarily BBB and above.

(4) Investments in international mortgage
funds.

(5) Investments predominantly in various international fixed income obligations that are individually insignificant.

(6) Investments in fixed income securities, equities and alternative asset classes, including commodities and property
assets.

Health Care Cost Inflation—As noted above, we provide specific postretirement health care benefits for eligible retired
U.S. employees and their dependents. Eligible current and future retirees are covered by a defined fixed dollar benefit,
under which our costs for each participant are fixed based upon prior years of employee service. Since 2011, new
employees are not eligible for these post-retirement health care benefits. Additionally, there is a closed group of
retirees for which we assume some or all of the cost of coverage. For this group, health care cost trend rates are
projected at annual rates ranging from 5.8% in 2018 down to 5.0% in 2022 and beyond. A change in the assumed
health care cost trends by one percentage point is estimated to have an immaterial impact on the total service and
interest cost components of net postretirement health care cost for 2017 and the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation at December 31, 2017.
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Multi-Employer Pension Plans—We contribute to certain union sponsored multi-employer defined benefit pension plans
in the U.S. and Canada. Benefits under these plans are generally based upon years of service and compensation levels.
Under U.S. legislation regarding such pension plans, the risks of participation are different than single-employer
pension plans as (i) assets contributed to the plan by a company may be used to provide benefits to participants of
other companies, (ii) if a participating company discontinues contributions to a plan, other participating companies
may have to cover any unfunded liability that may exist, and (iii) a company is required to continue funding its
proportionate share of a plan’s unfunded vested benefits in the event of withdrawal (as defined by the legislation) from
a plan or plan termination. The following table provides additional information regarding our significant
multi-employer defined benefit pension plans, including the funding level of each plan (or zone status, as defined by
the Pension Protection Act), whether actions to improve the funding level of the plan have been implemented, where
required (a funding improvement plan (“FIP”) or rehabilitation plan (“RP”), and our contributions to each plan and total
contributions for 2017, 2016 and 2015, among other disclosures:

EIN/Plan
Number

Plan
Year
End

Pension Protection
Act (% Funded) (1)

FIP/RP
Plan (1)

Total Company
Contributions (2)

Expiration
Date of
Collective-
Bargaining
Agreement
(3)

Pension Fund 2017 2016 2017 2016 2015

Boilermaker-Blacksmith
National Pension Trust 48-6168020-001 12/31 <65% 65%-80% Yes $18,565 $26,375 $23,079 Various

Plumbers and Pipefitters
National Pension Fund 52-6152779-001 6/30 65%-80% 65%-80% Yes 4,597 2,241 2,144 Various

Utah Pipe Trades
Pension Trust Fund 51-6077569-001 12/31 >80% >80% No 1,219 3,372 5,522 07/19

Twin City Carpenters
and Joiners Pension
Fund

41-6043137-001 12/31 65%-80% 65%-80% Yes — 1,295 5,469 04/19

Twin City Ironworkers
Pension Plan 41-6084127-001 12/31 >80% >80% No 92 731 2,102 04/19

Middle Tennessee
Carpenters and
Millwrights Pension
Fund (4)

62-6101275-001 4/30 >80% >80% No — — 6,524 Various

Southern Ironworkers
Pension Fund (4) 59-6227091-001 12/31 >80% >80% No — — 3,458 Various

Plumbers and
Steamfitters Local 150
Pension Fund (4)

58-6116699-001 12/31 >80% >80% No — — 3,510 Various

Boilermakers’ National
Pension Plan (Canada) 366708 12/31 N/A N/A N/A 5,929 6,709 8,645 04/19

All Other (5) 18,535 19,216 19,110
Total $48,937 $59,939 $79,563
(1) Pension Protection Act Zone Status and FIP/RP plans are applicable to our U.S.-registered plans only, as these

terms are not defined within Canadian pension legislation. In the U.S., plans funded less than 65% are in the red
zone, plans funded at least 65%, but less than 80% are in the yellow zone, and plans funded at least 80% are in the
green zone. The requirement for FIP or RP plans in the U.S. is based on the funding level or zone status of the
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applicable plan.

(2)

Our 2017 contributions as a percentage of total plan contributions were not available for any of our plans. For
2016, our contributions to the Utah Pipe Trades Pension Trust Fund, the Southern Ironworkers Pension Fund, the
Plumbers and Steamfitters Local 150 Pension Fund and the Boilermakers’ National Pension Plan (Canada) each
exceeded 5% of total plan contributions. For 2015, our contributions to the Utah Pipe Trades Pension Trust Fund,
the Twin City Carpenters and Joiners Pension Fund, the Twin City Ironworkers Pension Plan, the Southern
Ironworkers Pension Fund, the Plumbers and Steamfitters Local 150 Pension Fund and the Boilermakers’ National
Pension Plan (Canada) each exceeded 5% of total plan contributions. The level of our contributions to each plan
noted above varies from period to period based upon the level of work being performed that is covered under the
applicable collective-bargaining agreement.
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(3) The expiration dates of our labor agreements associated with the plans noted as “Various” above vary based upon the
duration of the applicable projects.

(4) The contributions in 2015 were associated with plans that were included with our former Nuclear Operations,
which were sold on December 31, 2015.

(5) Our remaining contributions in 2017, 2016 and 2015 to various U.S. and Canadian plans, were individually
immaterial.

We also contribute to our multi-employer plans for annuity benefits covered under the defined contribution portion of
the plans as well as health benefits. We made contributions to our multi-employer plans of $49,907, $49,932 and
$57,364 during 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, for these additional benefits.
14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
Leases—Certain facilities and equipment, including project-related field equipment, are rented under operating leases
that expire at various dates through 2040. Rent expense for operating leases was $83,036, $93,577 and $127,394 for
2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Future minimum payments under non-cancelable operating leases having initial
terms of one year or more are as follows:
Year Amount
2018 $55,633
2019 40,802
2020 33,593
2021 26,980
2022 20,224
Thereafter58,209
Total $235,441
Certain lease agreements contain escalation provisions based upon specific future inflation indices which could impact
the future minimum payments presented above. The costs related to leases with an initial term of less than one year
have been reflected in rent expense but have been excluded from the future minimum payments presented above.
Legal Proceedings
General—We have been and may from time to time be named as a defendant in legal actions claiming damages in
connection with engineering and construction projects, technology licenses, other services we provide, and other
matters. These are typically claims that arise in the normal course of business, including employment-related claims
and contractual disputes or claims for personal injury or property damages which occur in connection with services
performed relating to project or construction sites. Contractual disputes normally involve claims relating to the timely
completion of projects, performance of equipment or technologies, design or other engineering services or project
construction services provided by us. We do not believe that any of our pending contractual, employment-related
personal injury or property damage claims and disputes will have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial position or cash flow. See Note 18 for additional discussion of claims associated with our
projects.
Project Arbitration Matters—We are in arbitration (governed by the arbitration rules of the International Chamber of
Commerce) with the customer for one of our previously completed large cost-reimbursable projects, in which the
customer is alleging cost overruns on the project. The customer has not provided evidence to substantiate its
allegations, and we believe all amounts incurred and billed on the project, including outstanding receivables of
approximately $243,000 as of December 31, 2017, are contractually due under the provisions of our contract and are
recoverable. The receivables have been classified as a non-current asset on our Balance Sheet as we do not anticipate
collection within the next year. We do not believe a risk of material loss is probable related to this matter, and
accordingly, no amounts have been accrued. While it is possible that a loss may be incurred, we are unable to estimate
the range of potential loss, if any.
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In addition, we are in arbitration (governed by the arbitration rules of the United Nations Commission on International
Trade Law) with the customer for one of our previously completed consolidated joint venture projects, regarding
differing interpretations of the contract related to up to $195,000 of reimbursable billings. Such amounts were
previously included within our disclosure of unapproved change orders and claims through the third quarter 2017. We
dispute the customer’s interpretation of the contract and believe all amounts incurred and billed on the project,
including outstanding receivables of approximately $40,000 as of December 31, 2017, are contractually due under the
provisions of our contract and are recoverable. The receivables have been classified as a non-current asset on our
Balance Sheet as we do not anticipate collection within the next
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year. We do not believe a risk of material loss is probable related to this matter, and accordingly, no amounts have
been accrued. While it is possible that a loss may be incurred, we are unable to estimate the range of potential loss, if
any.
Dispute Related to Sale of Nuclear Operations—On December 31, 2015, we sold our Nuclear Operations to WEC. In
connection with the transaction, a post-closing purchase price adjustment mechanism was negotiated between CB&I
and WEC to account for any difference between target working capital and actual working capital as finally
determined pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement. On April 28, 2016, WEC delivered to us a purported
closing statement that estimated closing working capital was negative $976,506, which was $2,150,506 less than the
target working capital amount. In contrast, we calculated closing working capital to be $1,601,805, which was
$427,805 greater than the target working capital amount. On July 21, 2016, we filed a complaint against WEC in the
Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware seeking a declaration that WEC has no remedy for the vast majority of its
claims, and we requested an injunction barring WEC from bringing such claims. On December 2, 2016, the Court of
Chancery granted WEC’s motion for judgment on the pleadings and dismissed our complaint, stating that the dispute
should follow the dispute resolution process set forth in the purchase agreement, which includes the use of an
independent auditor to resolve the working capital dispute. We appealed that ruling to the Delaware Supreme Court.
Due to WEC’s bankruptcy filing on March 29, 2017, all claim resolution proceedings were automatically stayed
pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code. At the parties’ request, the Bankruptcy Court lifted the automatic stay to permit the
appeal and dispute resolution process to continue. Oral argument before the Delaware Supreme Court was held on
May 3, 2017, and on June 27, 2017, the Delaware Supreme Court overturned the decision of the Court of Chancery
and instructed the Court of Chancery to issue an order enjoining WEC from submitting certain claims to the
independent auditor. The parties continue to move forward with those matters still subject to the dispute resolution
process and with the selection of a new independent auditor to replace the previous auditor, who had resigned. We do
not believe a risk of material loss is probable related to this matter, and, accordingly, no amounts have been accrued.
While it is possible that a loss may be incurred, we are unable to estimate the range of potential loss, if any. We
believe the Delaware Supreme Court ruling significantly improved our position on this matter and intend to continue
pursuing our rights under the purchase agreement. 
Asbestos Litigation—We are a defendant in numerous lawsuits wherein plaintiffs allege exposure to asbestos due to
work we may have performed at various locations. We have never been a manufacturer, distributor or supplier of
asbestos products. Over the past several decades and through December 31, 2017, we have been named a defendant in
lawsuits alleging exposure to asbestos involving approximately 6,200 plaintiffs and, of those claims, approximately
1,200 claims were pending and 5,000 have been closed through dismissals or settlements. Over the past several
decades and through December 31, 2017, the claims alleging exposure to asbestos that have been resolved have been
dismissed or settled for an average settlement amount of approximately two thousand dollars per claim. We review
each case on its own merits and make accruals based on the probability of loss and our estimates of the amount of
liability and related expenses, if any. Although we have seen an increase in the number of recent filings, especially in
one specific venue, we do not believe the increase or any unresolved asserted claims will have a material adverse
effect on our future results of operations, financial position or cash flow, and at December 31, 2017, we had
approximately $8,500 accrued for liability and related expenses. With respect to unasserted asbestos claims, we
cannot identify a population of potential claimants with sufficient certainty to determine the probability of a loss and
to make a reasonable estimate of liability, if any. While we continue to pursue recovery for recognized and
unrecognized contingent losses through insurance, indemnification arrangements or other sources, we are unable to
quantify the amount, if any, that we may expect to recover because of the variability in coverage amounts, limitations
and deductibles or the viability of carriers, with respect to our insurance policies for the years in question.
Environmental Matters—Our operations are subject to extensive and changing U.S. federal, state and local laws and
regulations, as well as the laws of other countries, that establish health and environmental quality standards. These
standards, among others, relate to air and water pollutants and the management and disposal of hazardous substances
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and wastes. We are exposed to potential liability for personal injury or property damage caused by any release, spill,
exposure or other accident involving such pollutants, substances or wastes. 
In connection with the historical operation of our facilities, including those associated with acquired operations,
substances which currently are or might be considered hazardous were used or disposed of at some sites that will or
may require us to make expenditures for remediation. In addition, we have agreed to indemnify parties from whom we
have purchased or to whom we have sold facilities for certain environmental liabilities arising from acts occurring
before the dates those facilities were transferred. 
We believe we are in compliance, in all material respects, with environmental laws and regulations and maintain
insurance coverage to mitigate our exposure to environmental liabilities. We do not believe any environmental matters
will have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations, financial position or cash flow. We do not
anticipate we will incur material capital expenditures for environmental controls or for the investigation or
remediation of environmental conditions during 2018 or 2019.
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Letters of Credit/Surety Bonds—In the ordinary course of business, we may obtain surety bonds and letters of credit,
which we provide to our customers to secure advance payment or our performance under our contracts, or in lieu of
retention being withheld on our contracts. In the event of our non-performance under a contract and an advance being
made by a bank pursuant to a draw on a letter of credit, the advance would become a borrowing under a credit facility
and thus our direct obligation. Where a surety incurs such a loss, an indemnity agreement between the parties and us
may require payment from our excess cash or a borrowing under our credit facilities. When a contract is completed,
the contingent obligation terminates and the bonds or letters of credit are returned. See Note 11 for further discussion
of our letters of credit and surety bonds.
Insurance—We have elected to retain portions of future losses, if any, through the use of deductibles and self-insured
retentions for our exposures related to third party liability and workers’ compensation. Liabilities in excess of these
amounts are the responsibilities of an insurance carrier. To the extent we are self-insured for these exposures, reserves
(see Note 9) have been provided based upon our best estimates, with input from our legal and insurance advisors.
Changes in assumptions, as well as changes in actual experience, could cause these estimates to change in the
near-term. We believe that reasonably possible losses, if any, for these matters, to the extent not otherwise disclosed
and net of recorded reserves, will not have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations, financial
position or cash flow. At December 31, 2017, we had outstanding surety bonds and letters of credit of $89,440 relating
to our insurance programs.
Income Taxes—Income tax and associated interest and penalty reserves, where applicable, are recorded in those
instances where we consider it more likely than not that additional tax will be due in excess of amounts reflected in
income tax returns filed worldwide, irrespective of whether or not we have received tax assessments. We continually
review our exposure to additional income tax obligations and, as further information is known or events occur,
changes in our tax and interest reserves may be recorded within income tax expense and interest expense, respectively.
15. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Treasury Stock—Under Dutch law and our Articles of Association, we may hold no more than 10% of our issued share
capital at any time.
AOCI—The following table presents changes in AOCI, net of tax, by component, during 2017:

Year Ended December 31, 2017
Currency
Translation
Adjustment
(1)

Unrealized
Fair Value Of
Cash Flow Hedges

Defined Benefit
Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans

Total

Balance at December 31, 2016 $(264,562) $ (213 ) $ (130,841 ) $(395,616)
OCI before reclassifications 81,128 976 (6,628 ) 75,476
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — (464 ) 4,096 3,632
Net OCI 81,128 512 (2,532 ) 79,108
Balance at December 31, 2017 $(183,434) $ 299 $ (133,373 ) $(316,508)

(1) During 2017, the currency translation adjustment component of AOCI was favorably impacted by net movements
in the Australian Dollar, British Pound, and Euro exchange rates against the U.S. Dollar.
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The following table presents reclassification of AOCI into earnings, net of tax, for each component, during 2017:
Amount
Reclassified
From AOCI

Unrealized Fair Value Of Cash Flow Hedges (1)
Interest rate derivatives (interest expense) $ (49 )
Foreign currency derivatives (cost of revenue) (651 )
Total before tax $ (700 )
Tax 236
Total net of tax $ (464 )
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans (2)
Amortization of prior service credits $ (635 )
Recognized net actuarial losses 5,941
Total before tax $ 5,306
Tax (1,210 )
Total net of tax $ 4,096

(1) See Note 12 for further discussion of our cash flow hedges, including the total value reclassified from AOCI to
earnings.

(2) See Note 13 for further discussion of our defined benefit and other postretirement plans, including the components
of net periodic benefit cost.

Other—Changes in common stock, APIC and treasury stock during 2017 and 2016 primarily relate to activity associated
with our stock-based compensation plans and share repurchases.
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16. EQUITY-BASED INCENTIVE PLANS 
General—Under our equity-based incentive plans (our “Incentive Plans”), we can issue shares to employees and directors
in the form of restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance based shares (including those based upon financial or stock
price performance) and stock options. Our Incentive Plans are administered by the Organization and Compensation
Committee of our Supervisory Board, which selects those employees eligible to receive awards and determines the
number of shares or stock options subject to each award, as well as the terms, conditions, performance measures, and
other provisions of the award.
In connection with the Combination Agreement, change in control (“CIC”) provisions were triggered for certain
management which resulted in their equity-based awards (including RSUs, financial performance based shares, and
stock performance based shares) becoming fully vested, as described further in the “RSUs” and “Performance Based
Shares” sections below.
Compensation expense related to our Incentive Plans was $56,775, $36,921 and $53,086 for 2017, 2016 and 2015,
respectively (including $6,798, $2,374 and $4,203, respectively, associated with our discontinued Capital Services
Operations). At December 31, 2017, 5,284 authorized shares remained available under our Incentive Plans for future
RSU, performance based share, or stock option grants.
Under our employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”), employees may make quarterly purchases of shares at a discount
through regular payroll deductions for up to 8% of their compensation. The shares are purchased at 85% of the closing
price per share on the first trading day following the end of the calendar quarter. Compensation expense related to our
ESPP, representing the difference between the fair value on the date of purchase and the price paid, was $1,649,
$2,499 and $3,042 for 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively (including $76, $418 and $535, respectively, associated with
our discontinued Capital Services Operations). At December 31, 2017, 2,225 authorized shares remained available for
purchase under the ESPP, however our ESPP program was suspended in anticipation of the Combination.
Total compensation expense for our Incentive Plans and ESPP was $58,424, $39,420 and $56,128 for 2017, 2016 and
2015, respectively (including $6,874, $2,792 and $4,738, respectively, associated with our discontinued Capital
Services Operations). At December 31, 2017, there was $24,238 of unrecognized compensation cost related to
share-based grants, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.
We receive a tax deduction during the period in which certain options are exercised, generally for the difference in the
option exercise price and the price of the shares at the date of exercise (“intrinsic value”). Additionally, we receive a tax
deduction upon the vesting of RSUs and performance based shares for the price of the shares at the date of vesting.
Our total recognized tax benefit based on our compensation expense was $12,676, $10,377 and $16,924 for 2017,
2016 and 2015, respectively (including $892, $527 and $854, respectively, associated with our discontinued Capital
Services Operations).
RSUs—Our RSU awards may not be sold or otherwise transferred until certain restrictions have lapsed, which is
generally over a four-year graded vesting period. The total initial fair value for these awards is determined based upon
the market price of our stock at the grant date applied to the total number of shares that we anticipate will vest. This
fair value is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, subject to retirement eligibility expense
acceleration, where applicable. RSUs granted to directors vest, and are expensed, over one year. During 2017, we
recognized $34,415 of compensation expense (including $6,491 of expense associated with our discontinued Capital
Services Operations), primarily within selling and administrative expense. In addition, during 2017, we recognized
$10,398 of additional compensation expense, primarily within selling and administrative expense, for the accelerated
vesting of RSUs in connection with the CIC provisions described above. The following table presents RSU activity
for 2017:

Shares Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
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Fair Value
per Share

Nonvested RSUs
Balance at December 31, 2016 1,834 $ 41.99
Granted 1,131 $ 31.84
Vested (1,469) $ 39.11
Forfeited (112 ) $ 37.73
Balance at December 31, 2017 1,384 $ 34.96
Directors’ RSUs
Balance at December 31, 2016 37 $ 38.18
Granted 47 $ 29.72
Vested (37 ) $ 38.18
Balance at December 31, 2017 47 $ 29.72
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During 2016, 1,058 RSUs (including 37 directors’ shares subject to restrictions) were granted with a weighted-average
grant-date fair value per share of $33.36. During 2015, 1,043 RSUs (including 28 directors’ shares subject to
restrictions) were granted with a weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of $42.39. The total fair value of
RSUs that vested during 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $13,889, $26,469 and $28,081, respectively.
Performance Based Shares—Our performance based share awards are subject to the achievement of specified Company
performance targets, including financial performance, stock price performance relative to industry peers or stock price
performance relative to a construction industry index.

•

Financial Performance Based Grants—Financial performance based share awards are based upon EPS and generally vest
over three years. The total initial fair value for these awards is determined based upon the market price of our stock at
the grant date applied to the total number of shares that we anticipate will vest. This fair value is expensed over the
vesting period based on the level of payout expected to be achieved, subject to retirement eligibility expense
acceleration, where applicable. During 2017, we did not recognize any expense relating to financial performance
based share awards as a result of the underlying performance conditions. However, we recognized $5,023 of expense
within restructuring related costs for approximately 280 performance based shares that were vested and converted to
liability awards in connection with the CIC provisions described above. These awards had a weighted average
grant-date fair value per share of $17.92 and will be paid during 2018 in connection with the Combination. In
addition, during 2017, 2016 and 2015, financial performance based shares totaling 597, 665 and 702, respectively,
were granted with a weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of $36.00, $33.56 and $41.67, respectively.
During 2017, upon vesting and achievement of certain 2016 performance goals, we distributed 50 financial
performance based shares with a weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of $35.98. The total fair value of
financial performance based share awards that vested during 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $1,781, $24,446 and $23,463,
respectively.

•

Stock Performance Based Grants—Stock performance based share awards are based upon stock price performance
relative to industry peers or a construction industry index, and generally vest over three years. The total initial fair
value for these awards is determined based upon a Monte Carlo simulation value at the grant date applied to the total
number of granted target shares. This fair value is expensed ratably over the vesting period, and during 2017, we
recognized $5,414 of compensation expense (including $307 associated with our discontinued Capital Services
Operations). In addition, during 2017 we recognized $1,525 of additional compensation expense, primarily within
selling and administrative expense, for approximately 60 performance based shares that were vested and converted to
liability awards in connection with the CIC provisions described above. These awards had a weighted average
grant-date fair value per share of $41.69, and will be paid 2018 in connection with the Combination. During 2017,
149 stock performance based shares were granted with a weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of $44.21
and was based upon a risk-free interest rate of 1.54%, historical volatility of 41% and a remaining performance period
of 2.9 years. During 2016, 166 stock performance-based shares were granted with a weighted-average grant-date fair
value per share of $37.41 and was based upon a risk-free interest rate of 0.86%, historical volatility of 38% and a
remaining performance period of 2.9 years. During 2015, 130 stock performance-based shares were granted with a
weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of $37.35 and was based upon a risk-free interest rate of 1.10%, an
expected dividend yield of 0.69%, historical volatility of 39% and a remaining performance period of 3.9 years (as
these shares cliff vest at the end of four years). The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve
on the grant date, expected dividend yield was based on dividend levels at the grant date, expected volatility was
based on the historical volatility of our stock, and the expected life of shares granted represents the longest remaining
performance period from the grant date. There were no vestings in 2017, 2016 or 2015.
Stock Options—Stock options are generally granted with an exercise price equivalent to the market price of our stock on
the date of grant and expire after 10 years. Options granted to employees generally vest over a period ranging from
three to seven years. The total initial fair value for option awards is determined based upon the calculated
Black-Scholes fair value of each stock option at the date of grant applied to the total number of options that we
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anticipate will vest. This fair value is expensed on a straight-line basis over the estimated vesting period, subject to
retirement eligibility expense acceleration, where applicable. There were no options granted during 2017, 2016 or
2015.
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The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised was $449, $533 and $1,126 for 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
During 2017, we received net cash proceeds of $1,138, and realized an actual income tax benefit of $149, from the
exercise of stock options. The following table presents stock option activity for 2017:

Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
per Share

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual
Life (in Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding options at December 31, 2016 598 $ 19.47
Exercised (66 ) $ 17.12
Forfeited / Expired (35 ) $ 51.88
Outstanding options at December 31, 2017 (1) 497 $ 17.55 1.1 $ 2,603
Exercisable options at December 31, 2017 490 $ 17.33 1.1 $ 2,603
(1) We estimate that all outstanding options will ultimately vest.
17. INCOME TAXES
Income Tax (Expense) Benefit
The following table presents the sources of (loss) income before taxes and income tax (expense) benefit, by tax
jurisdiction for 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Sources of (Loss) Income Before Taxes
U.S. $(821,900) $(54,587 ) $(1,007,172)
Non-U.S. 300,737 412,737 429,123
Total $(521,163) $358,150 $(578,049 )

Years Ended December 31,
Sources of Income Tax (Expense) Benefit 2017 (2) 2016 (3) 2015 (4)
Current income taxes
U.S. Federal (1) $1,020 $740 $9,605
U.S. State (5,770 ) (5,567 ) (5,893 )
Non-U.S. (62,571 ) (78,829 ) (80,488 )
Total current income taxes $(67,321 ) $(83,656 ) $(76,776 )
Deferred income taxes
U.S. Federal $(549,635) $100,686 $208,886
U.S. State (89,128 ) (2,707 ) 191
Non-U.S. (92,851 ) 6,603 (30,107 )
Total deferred income taxes $(731,614) $104,582 $178,970
Total income tax (expense) benefit $(798,935) $20,926 $102,194

(1) Tax expense of $6,409 and $4,925 associated with share-based compensation were recorded in APIC in 2016 and
2015, respectively.

(2)
Income tax expense for 2017 was impacted by approximately $1,051,000, primarily due to the revaluation of our
U.S. DTAs resulting from the impact of the Tax Reform Act and the establishment of VAs against our net U.S. and
non-U.S. DTAs, as further discussed below.

(3)
Income tax expense for 2016 benefited by approximately $15,000 from the release of VA for our Non-U.S. NOLs
and by approximately $67,000 from the reversal of a deferred tax liability associated with historical earnings of a
non-U.S. subsidiary for which the earnings are no longer anticipated to be subject to tax.

(4) Income tax expense for 2015 was impacted by approximately $62,600, primarily due to the establishment of VA
against U.S.-State NOLs generated in 2015 as a result of the impact of the sale of our Nuclear Operations
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(approximately $58,000). Income tax expense for 2015 also reflects the non-deductibility of the goodwill
impairment for the period.
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The following is a reconciliation of income taxes at The Netherlands’ (our country of domicile) statutory rate to
income tax (expense) benefit for 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Income tax benefit (expense) at statutory rate (25.0% for 2017, 2016 and 2015) $130,291 $(89,538) $144,512
U.S. State income taxes (61,684 ) (6,461 ) (3,984 )
Non-deductible meals and entertainment (15,493 ) (8,302 ) (8,951 )
U.S. Federal valuation allowance established (564,586 ) — —
U.S. Federal tax rate change (306,430 ) — —
Non-U.S. valuation allowance established (105,452 ) (8,020 ) (1,985 )
Non-U.S. valuation allowance utilized 1,700 23,809 4,642
Statutory tax rate differential 78,730 4,855 102,941
Unremitted earnings of subsidiaries 6,650 64,376 (10,369 )
Noncontrolling interests 9,002 20,165 19,427
Non-deductible goodwill impairment — — (158,585 )
Non-taxable interest income 28,773 18,856 —
Excess stock compensation tax expense (5,417 ) — —
Other, net 4,981 1,186 14,546
Income tax (expense) benefit $(798,935) $20,926 $102,194
Effective tax rate (153.3)% (5.8)% 17.7%
Deferred Taxes 
Summary—The principal temporary differences included in deferred income taxes reported on the December 31, 2017
and 2016 Balance Sheets were as follows:

December 31,
2017 2016

Deferred Tax Assets
U.S. Federal operating losses and credits $443,761 $595,630
U.S. State operating losses and credits 229,923 203,195
Non-U.S. operating losses 67,081 50,410
Contract revenue and cost 29,530 55,748
Employee compensation and benefit plan reserves 59,548 80,733
Insurance and legal reserves 7,682 16,209
Disallowed interest 145,833 117,558
Other 74,629 70,969
Total deferred tax assets $1,057,987 $1,190,452
Valuation allowance (954,299 ) (160,568 )
Net deferred tax assets $103,688 $1,029,884
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Investment in foreign subsidiaries $(1,586 ) $(14,644 )
Depreciation and amortization (165,873 ) (292,439 )
Net deferred tax liabilities $(167,459 ) $(307,083 )

Net total deferred tax assets $(63,771 ) $722,801
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At December 31, 2017, we did not provide deferred income taxes on temporary differences of approximately
$281,600 resulting primarily from earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries which are indefinitely reinvested. The
reversal of these temporary differences could result in additional tax; however, it is not practicable to estimate the
amount of any unrecognized deferred income tax liabilities at this time. Deferred income taxes are provided as
necessary with respect to earnings that are not indefinitely reinvested.
Deferred Tax Realization Assessments—At December 31, 2017 we had total DTAs of $1,057,987 (including U.S. DTAs
of $878,914 after the impacts of the Tax Reform Act discussed below), and at December 31, 2016 we had total DTAs
of $1,190,452 (including U.S. DTAs of $1,059,405). On a periodic and ongoing basis we evaluate our DTAs
(including our net operating loss (“NOL”) DTAs) and assess the appropriateness of our VAs. In assessing the need for a
VA, we consider both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the DTAs. If, based on
the weight of available evidence, our assessment indicates that it is more likely than not that a DTA will not be
realized, we record a VA. Our assessments include, among other things, the amount of taxable temporary differences
that will result in future taxable income, the value and quality of our backlog, evaluations of existing and anticipated
market conditions, analysis of recent and historical operating results (including cumulative losses over multiple
periods) and projections of future results, strategic plans and alternatives for associated operations, as well as asset
expiration dates, where applicable. If the factors upon which we based our assessment of realizability of our DTAs
differ materially from our expectations, including future operating results being lower than our current estimates, our
future assessments could be impacted and result in an increase in VA and increase in tax expense.
Year End 2016 Assessment
During 2015 and 2016, we incurred losses primarily resulting from goodwill impairment and other charges incurred as
a result of the sale of our Nuclear Construction business on December 31, 2015 (discussed in Note 4) and the
anticipated sale of our Capital Services Operations, which occurred on June 30, 2017 (discussed in Note 5). As a
result of such losses, we had a cumulative U.S. loss for the three years ended December 31, 2016 (representing our
recent results as of December 31, 2016). Accordingly, in assessing the positive and negative evidence related to the
likelihood of utilizing our significant U.S. DTAs (including our U.S. NOL DTAs), we gave consideration to multiple
factors, including the following positive evidence:

•

The operations that resulted in such losses were either sold as of December 31, 2016 or contemplated for sale as of the
filing of our 2016 Form 10-K. Specifically, absent the charges related to the exited businesses (including
non-deductible goodwill charges), our cumulative U.S. income for the three years ended December 31, 2016 was
approximately $1,096,700;

•We had a history of U.S. income prior to incurring the losses during 2015 and 2016. Specifically, our cumulative U.S.
income for the ten year period ended December 31, 2014 was approximately $1,509,000;

•In spite of such U.S. losses during 2015 and 2016, we were not in a cumulative loss position for the three years endedDecember 31, 2016 on a consolidated basis; and

•

Our projections of U.S. income, inclusive of the reversal of taxable temporary differences, indicated we would realize
our U.S. NOL DTAs over ten years prior to their expiration in 2035. Our projections of U.S. income were supported
by a significant U.S. backlog of approximately $9,305,000 at December 31, 2016, and a strong forecasted U.S. market
for our EPC and technology products and services.
Based on the aforementioned, we believed the positive evidence outweighed the negative evidence and concluded it
was more likely than not that we would utilize our U.S. DTAs, as of December 31, 2016.
Interim 2017 Assessment
During the first half of 2017 and the third quarter 2017, we incurred additional U.S. losses due to charges on certain
projects (discussed in Note 18). As a result of such losses, we were projecting a cumulative loss in the U.S., and on a
consolidated basis, for the three years ending December 31, 2017. Accordingly, in assessing the positive and negative
evidence related to the likelihood of utilizing the U.S. DTAs, we again gave consideration to multiple factors,
including the following positive evidence:
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•The aforementioned history of U.S. income and the fact that we had exited the businesses that resulted in the lossesfor 2015 and 2016;

•

In July 2017, we initiated steps to market and sell our Technology Operations (discussed in Note 2) and classified the
Technology Operations as a discontinued operation during the third quarter 2017. We anticipated that proceeds from
the transaction would result in a significant U.S. taxable gain that would be realized during the fourth quarter 2017 or
prior to filing our 2017 Form 10-K. Including the anticipated taxable gain, we projected we would not have a
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cumulative loss on a consolidated basis for the three years ending December 31, 2017. Further, including the
anticipated taxable gain and excluding the non-deductible goodwill charges, we projected we would not have a
cumulative loss in the U.S. for the three years ending December 31, 2017; and

•
The aforementioned taxable gain would result in the accelerated realization of a significant portion of our U.S. NOL
DTAs. Further, our projections of U.S. income, inclusive of the reversal of taxable temporary differences, indicated
we would continue to realize the remaining U.S. NOL DTAs over ten years prior to their expiration in 2035.
Based on the aforementioned, during the first half of 2017 and the third quarter 2017, we believed the positive
evidence continued to outweigh the negative evidence and concluded that it was still more likely than not that we
would utilize our U.S. DTAs, as of June 30, 2017 and September 30, 2017.
Year End 2017 Assessment
During the fourth quarter 2017, we incurred additional U.S. losses primarily due to charges on certain projects
(discussed in Note 18). Further, we entered into the Combination Agreement (discussed in Note 2) and suspended our
plan to sell our Technology Operations. As a result, the gain from the Technology Sale was not realized during 2017.
Because the gain from the Technology Sale was not realized, and due to the additional losses, we had a cumulative
U.S. and consolidated loss for the three years ended December 31, 2017 (representing our recent results as of
December 31, 2017). Accordingly, in assessing the positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of utilizing
the U.S. DTAs, we again gave consideration to multiple factors, including the following positive evidence:

•

The Combination, which we anticipate will close in the second quarter 2018, will result in the sale of our Technology
Operations to McDermott in advance of the consummation of the transaction (“Combination Technology Sale”), which
will result in a significant U.S. taxable gain similar to the gain anticipated in connection with the original Technology
Sale.

•
Our projections of U.S. income, inclusive of the reversal of taxable temporary differences and the anticipated gain
resulting from the Combination, indicate we will continue to realize the remaining U.S. NOL DTAs prior to their
expiration in 2037.
Although we believe it is probable we will complete the Combination and realize the aforementioned gain, certain
factors required to complete the transaction are beyond our control, and as of December 31, 2017, we are unable to
consider the anticipated gain from the Combination Technology Sale as positive evidence in connection with our
assessment of the realizability of our U.S. NOL DTAs, or our remaining U.S. and non-U.S. DTAs. As a result, and
due to the cumulative U.S. and consolidated losses for the three years ended December 31, 2017, we believe the
negative evidence now outweighs the positive evidence with respect to our ability to utilize our U.S. NOL DTAs, and
our remaining net U.S. and non-U.S. DTAs. We therefore concluded that it is no longer more likely than not that we
will utilize our net DTAs as of December 31, 2017, and during the fourth quarter 2017 we recorded a VA of
approximately $702,000 against our U.S. NOL DTAs, and our remaining net U.S. and non-U.S. DTAs. As a result of
the aforementioned and other VAs recorded during the first three quarters of 2017, we recorded total VAs during 2017
of approximately $750,800.
At December 31, 2017, excluding VAs we had Non-U.S. NOL DTAs of $67,100, representing Non-U.S. NOLs of
$298,000 (including $162,300 in the U.K. and $135,700 in other jurisdictions); U.S.-Federal NOLs DTAs of
$376,300, representing U.S.-Federal NOLs of $1,792,100; U.S.-State NOL DTAs of $225,200; and foreign and other
tax credits of $72,200. Excluding NOLs having an indefinite carryforward, principally in the U.K., the Non-U.S.
NOLs will expire from 2018 to 2037. Further, the U.S.-Federal NOLs will expire from 2033 to 2037 and the
U.S.-State NOLs will expire from 2018 to 2037. The other credits will expire from 2021 to 2037.
The Tax Reform Act
The Tax Reform Act was signed into law on December 22, 2017 and significantly changes U.S. tax law by, among
other things: reducing the U.S. Federal corporate income tax rate from a maximum of 35% to 21% (effective January
1, 2018); imposing a repatriation tax on deemed repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries; implementing a territorial
tax system; and eliminating U.S. federal income taxes on dividends from foreign subsidiaries. The Tax Reform Act
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also modifies: the limitation on the amount of deductible interest expense, the limitation on the deductibility of meals
and entertainment expenses, and the limitation on the deductibility of certain executive compensation.
Change in U.S. Corporate Tax Rate Impacts—As a result of the reduction in the U.S. corporate income tax rate, we
revalued our U.S. deferred taxes at December 31, 2017 and recognized income tax expense of approximately
$306,430 for 2017, representing our provisional estimate of the impact of the change in corporate tax rate.
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Repatriation Tax Impacts—The Tax Reform Act provides for a one-time deemed mandatory repatriation of post-1986
undistributed foreign subsidiary earnings and profits (“E&P”) through the year ended December 31, 2017. We estimated
that $47,100 of undistributed foreign E&P was subject to the deemed mandatory repatriation and recognized income
tax expense of approximately $7,900 for 2017, representing our provisional estimate of the impact of the Tax Reform
Act. No cash tax will be paid related to the transition tax as the repatriation income inclusion is offset by current year
losses in the U.S. In addition, we had previously accrued a deferred tax liability of $14,600 for undistributed foreign
E&P that was not considered permanently reinvested. As a result of these items, the net impact to income tax expense
for 2017 was an income tax benefit of $6,700, which is included in unremitted earnings of subsidiaries on our
reconciliation of income taxes.
Territorial Tax System Impacts—While the Tax Reform Act provides for a territorial tax system, beginning in 2018, it
includes two new U.S. tax base erosion provisions, (i) the global intangible low-taxed income (“GILTI”) provisions and
(ii) the base-erosion and anti-abuse tax (“BEAT”) provisions. The GILTI provisions will require us to include, in our
U.S. income tax return, foreign subsidiary earnings in excess of an allowable return on the foreign subsidiary’s tangible
assets. We are currently assessing the GILTI provisions and have not yet selected an accounting policy for its
application; however, we do not anticipate that it will have a material impact on our future tax expense as our
non-U.S. operations are generally not conducted by foreign subsidiaries of the U.S. consolidated group. The BEAT
provisions in the Tax Reform Act eliminate the deduction of certain base-erosion payments made to related foreign
corporations, and impose a minimum tax if greater than regular tax. We expect to be subject to this tax in future years
but have not completed our analysis of projected tax that could be owed in future periods as a result of the new
provisions.
Other Impacts—We are currently analyzing the anticipated effects of the other provisions of the Tax Reform Act. As
discussed in Note 2, the SEC issued SAB 118 to address the application of U.S. GAAP in situations when a registrant
does not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed (including computations) in reasonable detail
to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Reform Act. We have recognized the provisional
tax impacts related to the revaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities and deemed repatriated earnings and have
reflected those estimates in our Balance Sheet at December 31, 2017 and in our results for 2017. The ultimate impact
may differ from these provisional amounts, possibly materially, due to, among other things, additional analysis,
changes in interpretations and assumptions we have made, additional regulatory guidance that may be issued, and
actions we may take as a result of the Tax Reform Act. We anticipate completing our analysis in connection with the
completion of our tax return for 2017 to be filed in 2018.
Unrecognized Income Tax Benefits
At December 31, 2017 and 2016, our unrecognized income tax benefits totaled $16,251 and $14,162, respectively,
and we do not anticipate significant changes in this balance in the next year. The following is a reconciliation of our
unrecognized income tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Years Ended
December 31,
2017 2016

Unrecognized income tax benefits at the beginning of the year $14,162 $9,140
Increase as a result of:
Tax positions taken during the prior period 2,319 6,038
Decreases as a result of:
Lapse of applicable statute of limitations — —
Settlements with taxing authorities (230 ) (1,016 )
Unrecognized income tax benefits at the end of the year (1) $16,251 $14,162
(1) If these income tax benefits were ultimately recognized, approximately $13,100 and $11,000 of the December 31,

2017 and 2016 balances, respectively, would benefit tax expense as we are contractually indemnified for the
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remaining balances.
We have operations, and are subject to taxation, in various jurisdictions, including significant operations in the U.S.,
The Netherlands, Canada, the U.K., Australia, South America and the Middle East. Tax years remaining subject to
examination by worldwide tax jurisdictions vary by country and legal entity, but are generally open for tax years
ending after 2006. To the extent penalties and associated interest are assessed on any underpayment of income tax,
such amounts are accrued and classified as a component of income tax expense and interest expense, respectively. For
2017, 2016 and 2015, interest and penalties were not significant.

104

Edgar Filing: WASTE MANAGEMENT INC - Form 424B5

108



Table of Contents
Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

18. UNAPPROVED CHANGE ORDERS, CLAIMS, INCENTIVES AND OTHER PROJECT MATTERS
Unapproved Change Orders, Claims and Incentives—We have unapproved change orders and claims (collectively,
“Claims”) and incentives included in project price for consolidated and proportionately consolidated projects within our
Engineering & Construction and Fabrication Services operating groups.
At December 31, 2017 and 2016, our pro-rata share of Claims included in project price totaled approximately
$227,200 and $121,100, respectively, for projects in both operating groups. Our Claims at December 31, 2017 are
primarily related to a completed project and an active proportionately consolidated joint venture project. The Claims
are primarily associated with fabrication activities and schedule related delays (including force majeure weather
events for one of the projects) and related prolongation costs. Our claims increased by approximately $106,100 during
2017 primarily due to the aforementioned items. Approximately $102,600 of the Claim amounts at December 31,
2017 are subject to arbitration or dispute resolution proceedings that are progressing, and the remainder are subject to
ongoing commercial discussions. Further, approximately $194,700 of the Claim amounts had been recognized as
revenue on a cumulative POC basis through December 31, 2017. Of the recognized Claim amounts at December 31,
2017, approximately $14,700 had been paid by the respective customers and the remainder has been reflected within
cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on our Balance Sheet.
At December 31, 2017 and 2016, we also had incentives included in project price of approximately $77,000 and
$43,000, respectively, for projects within both operating groups. Our incentives at December 31, 2017 are primarily
related to one of our U.S. gas turbine power projects discussed further below. Approximately $55,800 of such
amounts had been recognized as revenue on a cumulative POC basis through December 31, 2017.
The aforementioned amounts recorded in project price and recognized as revenue reflect our best estimates of
recovery; however, the ultimate resolution and amounts received could differ from these estimates and could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position and cash flow. See Note 14 for further
discussion of outstanding receivables related to one of our completed large cost-reimbursable projects and one of our
completed consolidated joint venture projects.
Westinghouse Bankruptcy—At December 31, 2017, we had approximately $30,000 of accounts receivable and unbilled
amounts due from Westinghouse. On March 29, 2017, Westinghouse filed voluntary petitions to reorganize under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (“Westinghouse Bankruptcy”). We currently do not believe the Westinghouse
Bankruptcy will impact the realizability of the receivable amounts and therefore, no amounts have been reserved as of
December 31, 2017.
Project Changes in Estimates—Backlog for each of our operating groups generally consists of several hundred contracts
and our results may be impacted by changes in estimated project margins.
For 2017, significant changes in estimated margins on four projects within our Engineering & Construction operating
group resulted in a decrease to our income from operations of approximately $870,000 (approximately $404,000 for
our two U.S. gas turbine power projects in the Northeast and Midwest (“Two Gas Projects”) and approximately
$466,000 for our two U.S. LNG export facility projects (“Two LNG Projects”) as discussed further below). In addition,
changes in estimated margins on a large consolidated joint venture project and a separate cost reimbursable project
within our Engineering & Construction operating group resulted in an increase to our income from operations of
approximately $103,000 (both benefiting from changes in estimated recoveries on the projects).
For 2017, individual projects with significant changes in estimated margins within our Fabrication Services operating
group did not have a material net impact on our income from operations.
For 2016, significant changes in estimated margins on projects within our Engineering & Construction and
Fabrication Services operating groups resulted in a decrease to our income from operations of approximately
$328,000, and significant changes in estimated margins on projects within our Engineering & Construction operating
group resulted in an increase to our income from operations of approximately $124,000.
For 2015, individual projects with significant changes in estimated margins did not have a material net impact on our
income from operations.
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Two Gas Projects
The Two Gas Projects were in a loss position at December 31, 2017, and the aforementioned impacts for 2017 from
changes in estimates occurred primarily during the first half of 2017. The projects were impacted primarily by lower
than anticipated craft labor productivity (including reductions to our forecasted productivity estimates to levels that
are in line with our overall historical experience on the projects); slower than anticipated benefits from mitigation
plans; and further extensions of schedule and related prolongation costs (including schedule liquidated damages)
resulting from the aforementioned impacts.
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During the second half of 2017, the projects were further impacted by lower than anticipated craft labor productivity
and progress, and further extensions of schedule and related prolongation costs.
One of the projects was approximately 97% complete at December 31, 2017 and over 99% complete as of February
2018. If the project incurs schedule liquidated damages due to our inability to reach a favorable commercial resolution
on such matters, the project would experience further losses.
The other project was approximately 79% complete and had a reserve for estimated losses of approximately $77,000
at December 31, 2017, and is forecasted to be completed in October 2018 (representing a three month extension from
our estimates as of September 30, 2017). The aforementioned impact of changes in estimated margins includes the
benefit of a claims settlement (subject to final documentation) with the project owner, which resulted in a net increase
in project price during the fourth quarter for schedule incentives (based on a revised schedule) and the resolution of
schedule liquidated damages. Although our recent labor productivity and project progress were below our
expectations (due in part to weather related impacts during the fourth quarter 2017), our current forecast for the
project anticipates productivity levels that are consistent with our overall historical experience on the project and
improved progress (due in part to anticipated improvement in weather conditions as the project moves out of the
winter months), and actions to reduce our schedule related indirect costs. If future direct and subcontract labor
productivity differ from our current estimates, we are unable to achieve our progress estimates, our schedule is further
extended, or we do not achieve the schedule related incentives, the project would experience further losses.
Two LNG Projects
The Two LNG Projects represent our projects in Hackberry, Louisiana and Freeport, Texas. The aforementioned
impacts for 2017 from changes in estimates were primarily related to the project in Hackberry, which was in a loss
position at December 31, 2017. The project was impacted during the first half of 2017 primarily by lower than
anticipated craft labor productivity (including reductions to our forecasted productivity estimates as trending results of
certain disciplines provided increased evidence that previously forecasted productivity estimates were unlikely to be
achieved); weather related delays; increased material, construction and fabrication costs due to quantity growth and
material delivery delays; higher than anticipated estimates from subcontractors for their work scopes; and extensions
of schedule and related prolongation costs resulting from the aforementioned. During the second half of 2017 the
project was further impacted by extensions of schedule and related prolongation costs (due in part to Hurricane
Harvey). Such impacts were partly offset by the benefit of a claims settlement with the project owner, which resulted
in an increase in project price during the fourth quarter and established a new schedule for commencement of any
liquidated damages. At December 31, 2017, the project was approximately 77% complete, had a reserve for estimated
losses of approximately $14,000, and is forecasted to be completed in October 2019. Our current forecast for the
project anticipates improvement in productivity from our overall historical experience on the project (as we anticipate
improved construction performance for each subsequent LNG train) and actions to significantly reduce our schedule
related indirect costs. If future direct and subcontract labor productivity differ from our current estimates, we are
unable to achieve our progress estimates, our schedules are further extended, or we are unable to reduce our schedule
related costs to the levels anticipated, the project would experience further losses.
The remaining impacts from changes in estimates for 2017 relate to the project in Freeport, which was impacted
during the first half of 2017 primarily by increased material, construction and fabrication costs due to quantity growth
and material delivery delays, and potential extensions of schedule and related prolongation costs resulting from the
aforementioned. During the second half of 2017 the project was further impacted by Hurricane Harvey. The direct
impacts of Hurricane Harvey included the cost of demobilization and remobilization and damaged pipe and other
materials. These direct impacts have been included in our forecasts and were partially offset by an increase in project
price for claims and anticipated insurance recoveries on the project. We are continuing to evaluate and estimate the
indirect impacts of the hurricane, including potential impacts to productivity and schedule and related prolongation
costs, and the impact of owner decisions on whether to replace or refurbish damaged pipe and materials. We anticipate
providing the owner an estimate of the indirect impacts on the project in the second quarter 2018. Such impacts have
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not been included in our forecasts, and although such impacts could be significant, we believe any costs incurred as a
result of Hurricane Harvey (subject to unallowable costs which we have accounted for) are recoverable under the
contractual provisions of our contract, including force majeure. Our current forecast for the project anticipates
improvement in productivity from our overall historical experience on the project (as we anticipate improved
construction performance for each subsequent LNG train) and actions to significantly reduce our schedule related
indirect costs. If future direct and subcontract labor productivity differ from our current estimates, we are unable to
achieve our progress estimates, our schedules are further extended, we are unable to reduce our schedule related costs
to the levels anticipated, we are unable to fully recover the direct and indirect costs associated with the impacts of
Hurricane Harvey, or the project incurs schedule liquidated damages due to our inability to reach a favorable legal or
commercial resolution on such matters, the project would experience further decreases in estimated margins.
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19. SEGMENT AND RELATED INFORMATION 
Segment Information
Our management structure and internal and public segment reporting are aligned based upon the services offered by
our three operating groups, which represent our reportable segments:
Engineering & Construction—Engineering & Construction provides EPC services for major energy infrastructure
facilities.
Fabrication Services—Fabrication Services provides fabrication and erection of steel plate structures; fabrication of
piping systems and process modules; manufacturing and distribution of pipe and fittings; and engineered products for
the oil and gas, petrochemical, power generation, water and wastewater, mining and mineral processing industries.
Technology—Technology provides proprietary process technology licenses and associated engineering services and
catalysts, primarily for the petrochemical and refining industries, and offers process planning and project development
services and a comprehensive program of aftermarket support. Technology also has a 50% owned unconsolidated
joint venture that provides proprietary process technology licenses and associated engineering services and catalyst,
primarily for the refining industry, as well as a 33.3% owned unconsolidated joint venture that is commercializing a
new natural gas power generation system that recovers the carbon dioxide produced during combustion.
Our chief operating decision maker evaluates the performance of the aforementioned operating groups based on
revenue and income from operations. Each operating group’s income from operations reflects corporate costs, allocated
based primarily upon revenue. Intersegment revenue for our continuing operations is netted against the revenue of the
segment receiving the intersegment services. For 2017, 2016 and 2015, intersegment revenue totaled approximately
$474,400, $335,100 and $382,200, respectively. Intersegment revenue for these periods primarily related to services
provided by our Fabrication Services operating group to our Engineering & Construction operating group.
As a result of the classification of our Capital Services Operations (which was primarily comprised of our former
Capital Services reportable segment) as a discontinued operation, the 2016 and 2015 information for our remaining
segments presented below has been recast to reflect: (i) a reallocation of certain corporate amounts previously
allocated to the Capital Services segment that were not assignable to the discontinued operation, (ii) the portions of the
previously reported Capital Services segment that were not included in the Capital Services Operations, and (iii) the
portions of our remaining segments that were included in the Capital Services Operations. In addition, revenue for the
remaining segments has been recast to reflect the intersegment revenue with our Capital Services Operations that was
previously eliminated prior to the discontinued operations classification (approximately $34,400, $131,900 and
$87,200 for 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively).
The following table presents total revenue, depreciation and amortization, equity earnings (loss), income (loss) from
operations and capital expenditures by reportable segment for 2017, 2016, and 2015:

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Revenue
Engineering & Construction $4,526,093 $6,114,725 $7,767,707
Fabrication Services 1,827,126 2,200,500 2,464,006
Technology 320,111 284,424 399,099
Total revenue $6,673,330 $8,599,649 $10,630,812
Depreciation And Amortization
Engineering & Construction $16,987 $17,906 $49,395
Fabrication Services 48,686 55,188 57,121
Technology 22,702 23,052 22,864
Total depreciation and amortization $88,375 $96,146 $129,380
Equity Earnings (Loss)
Engineering & Construction $36,635 $9,818 $(2,427 )
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Fabrication Services — (1,486 ) (3,812 )
Technology 11,762 16,238 21,016
Total equity earnings (loss) $48,397 $24,570 $14,777
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Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

(Loss) Income From Operations
Engineering & Construction (1) $(544,202) $143,405 $(886,386)
Fabrication Services 258,451 179,319 221,333
Technology 104,914 104,817 150,466
Total operating groups $(180,837) $427,541 $(514,587)
Restructuring related costs (114,525 ) — —
Total (loss) income from operations $(295,362) $427,541 $(514,587)
Capital Expenditures
Engineering & Construction $14,037 $4,121 $15,331
Fabrication Services 22,572 32,328 42,105
Technology 7,551 10,038 8,091
Total capital expenditures $44,160 $46,487 $65,527

(1)

As discussed further in Note 4, during 2015 we recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge of approximately $1,505,900
within our Engineering & Construction operating group related to the sale of our Nuclear Operations. In addition,
during 2016 we recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge of approximately $148,100 resulting from a reserve for the
Transaction Receivable associated with the 2015 sale of our Nuclear Operations.

The following table presents total assets of our continuing operations by reportable segment and discontinued
operations at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Assets
Engineering & Construction $3,142,224 $3,572,399 $4,141,731
Fabrication Services 1,934,334 2,394,041 2,600,668
Technology 895,024 996,104 834,039
Total assets of continuing operations 5,971,582 6,962,544 7,576,438
Assets of discontinued Capital Service Operations (Note 5) — 876,876 1,615,622
Total assets $5,971,582 $7,839,420 $9,192,060
Geographic Information
The following table presents total revenue by country for those countries with revenue in excess of 10% of
consolidated revenue during a given year based upon the location of the applicable projects:

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Revenue by Country
United States $5,231,433 $5,627,776 $6,210,154
Australia 255,550 1,745,032 2,171,442
Other (1) 1,186,347 1,226,841 2,249,216
Total revenue $6,673,330 $8,599,649 $10,630,812

(1) Revenue earned in other countries, including The Netherlands (our country of domicile), was not individually
greater than 10% of our consolidated revenue in 2017, 2016 or 2015.

Our long-lived assets are primarily goodwill, other intangible assets and property and equipment. At December 31,
2017, 2016 and 2015, approximately 80%, 80% and 75% of property and equipment were located in the U.S.,
respectively, while our remaining assets were strategically located throughout the world. Our long-lived assets
attributable to operations in The Netherlands were not significant at December 31, 2017, 2016 or 2015.
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Significant Customers
For 2017, revenue for three customers in our Engineering & Construction operating group were approximately
$1,285,000 (approximately 19% of consolidated 2017 revenue), approximately $1,180,000 (approximately 18% of
consolidated 2017 revenue), and approximately $721,000 (approximately 11% of consolidated 2017 revenue),
respectively. For 2016, revenue for three customers in our Engineering & Construction operating group were
approximately $1,605,000 (approximately 19% of consolidated 2016 revenue), approximately $1,136,000
(approximately 13% of consolidated 2016 revenue), and approximately $1,099,000 (approximately 13% of
consolidated 2016 revenue), respectively. For 2015, revenue for a customer in our Engineering & Construction and
Fabrication Services operating groups was approximately $1,647,000 (approximately 15% of consolidated 2015
revenue) and revenue for another customer within our Engineering & Construction operating group was
approximately $1,179,000 (approximately 11% of consolidated 2015 revenue).
20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
Shareholder Litigation Related to Planned Combination with McDermott—Three shareholders of CB&I have filed
separate lawsuits under the federal securities laws in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
Texas challenging the accuracy of the disclosures made in the Form S-4 Registration Statement filed with the SEC on
January 24, 2018 in connection with the Combination.  The cases are captioned (i) McIntyre v. Chicago Bridge & Iron
Company N.V., et al., Case No. 4:18-cv-00273 (S.D. Tex.) (the “McIntyre Action”); (ii) The George Leon Family Trust
v. Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V., et al., Case No. 4:18-cv-00314 (S.D. Tex.) (the “Leon Action”); (iii) and
Maresh v. Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V., et al., Case No. 4:18-cv-00498 (S.D. Tex.) (the “Maresh Action”).
The McIntyre Action and Leon Action are asserted on behalf of putative classes of CB&I’s public shareholders, while
the Maresh Action is brought only on behalf of the named plaintiff. 
All three actions allege violations of Section 14(a) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14a-9 promulgated
thereunder based on various alleged omissions of material information from the Registration Statement.  The
McIntyre Action names as defendants CB&I, each of CB&I’s directors individually, and certain current and former
CB&I officers and employees individually.  It seeks to enjoin the Combination, an award of costs and attorneys’ and
expert fees, and damages. On February 7, 2018, the plaintiff in the McIntyre Action filed a motion for preliminary
injunction seeking to enjoin CB&I from consummating the Combination. The Leon Action names as defendants
CB&I, certain subsidiaries of CB&I and McDermott that are parties to the Combination Agreement, each of CB&I’s
directors individually, and McDermott as an alleged control person of CB&I.  The Leon Action seeks to enjoin the
Combination (or, in the alternative, rescission or an award for rescissory damages in the event the Combination is
completed), to compel CB&I to issue a revised Registration Statement, and an award of costs and attorneys’ and expert
fees. The Maresh Action, which was originally filed in Delaware and voluntarily dismissed without prejudice on
February 13, 2018, was re-filed in Texas and names as defendants CB&I, each of CB&I’s directors individually, and
certain current and former CB&I officers and employees individually. The Maresh Action seeks to enjoin the
Combination (or, in the alternative, an award for rescissory damages in the event the Combination is completed) and
an award of costs and attorneys’ and expert fees. 
We believe the actions are without merit and that there are substantial legal and factual defenses to the claims
asserted.  We intend to vigorously defend against the claims made in the actions. 
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21. QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS (UNAUDITED) 
The following table presents selected unaudited consolidated financial information on a quarterly basis for 2017 and
2016:

Quarter Ended 2017 March 31
(1) June 30 (1) September

30 (1) December 31

(In thousands, except per share data)
Revenue $1,827,352 $1,283,477 $1,868,896 $1,693,605
Gross profit (loss) (2) $150,951 $(378,057 ) $149,560 $84,658
Restructuring related costs (3) $— $4,000 $26,882 $83,643
Other operating expense (income), net (4) $31 $(363 ) $(45 ) $(64,539 )

Net income (loss) from continuing operations (5),(6) $42,411 $(301,663 ) $6,380 $(1,067,226)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations (7) 9,494 (120,847 ) 5,166 1,724
Net income (loss) $51,905 $(422,510 ) $11,546 $(1,065,502)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to
CB&I $15,574 $(304,115 ) $4,873 $(1,069,192)

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to
CB&I 9,081 (121,304 ) 5,166 1,724

Net income (loss) attributable to CB&I $24,655 $(425,419 ) $10,039 $(1,067,468)
Net income (loss) attributable to CB&I per share (Basic):
Continuing operations $0.16 $(3.02 ) $0.05 $(10.54 )
Discontinued operations 0.09 (1.20 ) 0.05 0.02
Total $0.25 $(4.22 ) $0.10 $(10.52 )
Net income (loss) attributable to CB&I per share (Diluted):
Continuing operations $0.15 $(3.02 ) $0.05 $(10.54 )
Discontinued operations 0.09 (1.20 ) 0.05 0.02
Total $0.24 $(4.22 ) $0.10 $(10.52 )

Quarter Ended 2016 March 31
(1) June 30 (1) September

30 (1)
December
31

(In thousands, except per share data)
Revenue $2,134,629 $2,161,164 $2,279,872 $2,023,984
Gross profit $255,570 $257,955 $286,414 $77,471
Loss on net assets sold and intangible assets impairment (8) $— $— $— $148,148

Net income (loss) from continuing operations (9) $113,923 $123,869 $157,329 $(16,045 )
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations (10) 6,039 8,679 11,090 (644,707 )
Net income (loss) $119,962 $132,548 $168,419 $(660,752 )

Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to CB&I $101,334 $115,597 $111,600 $(20,614 )
Net income from discontinued operations attributable to CB&I 5,591 8,242 10,160 (645,079 )
Net income (loss) attributable to CB&I $106,925 $123,839 $121,760 $(665,693 )
Net income (loss) attributable to CB&I per share (Basic):
Continuing operations $0.97 $1.10 $1.10 $(0.21 )
Discontinued operations 0.05 0.08 0.10 (6.44 )
Total $1.02 $1.18 $1.20 $(6.65 )
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Net income (loss) attributable to CB&I per share (Diluted):
Continuing operations $0.96 $1.09 $1.10 $(0.21 )
Discontinued operations 0.05 0.08 0.10 (6.44 )
Total $1.01 $1.17 $1.20 $(6.65 )
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(1)

In July 2017, we initiated a plan to market and sell our Technology Operations. Accordingly, we considered the
Technology Operations to be a discontinued operation during the third quarter 2017, and presented our third
quarter and year-to-date results as a discontinued operation within our September 30, 2017 Form 10-Q filed with
the SEC on October 31, 2017. However, during the fourth quarter 2017, we suspended our plan to sell our
Technology Operations due to the Combination Agreement. As such, the Technology Operations are not reported
as a discontinued operation at December 31, 2017. Accordingly, our third quarter 2017 results have been recast to
reflect the Technology Operations as a continuing operation. See Note 2 for further discussion of our previous plan
to sell our Technology Operations and the anticipated Combination.

(2)

Significant changes in estimated margins on projects resulted in a net decrease to our income from operations of
approximately $767,000 during 2017, of which of approximately $548,000 was recorded in the second quarter
2017, all within our Engineering & Construction operating group. See Note 18 for further discussion of projects
with significant changes in estimated margins.

(3)

Restructuring related costs for 2017 primarily relate to facility consolidations, severance and other employee
related costs, professional fees, and other miscellaneous costs resulting primarily from our publicly announced cost
reduction, facility rationalization and strategic initiatives. Approximately $4,000 of costs previously recorded
within other operating expense during the second quarter 2017 were reclassified to restructuring related costs. See
Note 10 for further discussion of restructuring related costs.

(4)

Other operating expense (income), net, for the fourth quarter 2017 included a gain of approximately $62,700
resulting from the receipt of insurance proceeds in excess of associated costs for a fabrication facility within our
Fabrication Services operating group that was damaged during Hurricane Harvey. See Note 2 for further discussion
of other operating expense (income), net.

(5)

Income tax expense for the fourth quarter 2017 included expense of approximately $306,430 resulting from
the revaluation of our U.S. deferred taxes due to a reduction in the U.S. corporate income tax rate, and a
benefit of approximately $6,700, both resulting from changes in U.S. tax law enacted during the fourth
quarter 2017. In addition, income tax expense for the fourth quarter 2017 included expense of
approximately $702,026 resulting from the establishment of valuation allowances on our remaining net
deferred tax assets. See Note 17 for further discussion of our income taxes.

(6)

Interest expense for the fourth quarter 2017 included an accrual of approximately $35,000 for modified
make-whole payments on our Notes that are required as a result of the anticipated early repayment of our Notes in
connection with the Combination. See Note 2 and Note 11 for further discussion of the anticipated Combination
and our Notes, respectively.

(7)

Net loss from discontinued operations attributable to CB&I for the second quarter 2017 included a pre-tax charge
of approximately $64,800 associated with the June 30, 2017 sale of our Capital Services Operations, and income
tax expense of approximately $61,000 resulting from a taxable gain on the transaction (due primarily to the
non-deductibility of goodwill). Net income from discontinued operations for the third quarter and fourth quarter of
2017 was due to an income tax benefit of approximately $5,200 and $1,700, respectively, resulting from updates to
our estimates of the tax effect of the disposition. See Note 5 for further discussion of our discontinued operations.

(8)

The fourth quarter 2016 included a non-cash pre-tax charge of approximately $148,100 (approximately
$96,300 after-tax) resulting from a reserve for the Transaction Receivable associated with the 2015 sale of
our Nuclear Operations. See Note 4 and Note 14 for further discussion of the sale of our Nuclear
Operations and related dispute with WEC, respectively.

(9)

Income tax expense for the fourth quarter 2016 included an income tax benefit of approximately $67,000
resulting from the reversal of a deferred tax liability associated with historical earnings of a non-U.S.
subsidiary for which the earnings are no longer anticipated to be subject to tax. See Note 17 for further
discussion of our income taxes.

(10)
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The fourth quarter 2016 included a non-cash pre-tax charge of approximately $655,000 related to the partial
impairment of goodwill for our former Capital Services operating group, resulting from our fourth quarter annual
impairment assessment. Net loss from discontinued operations reflects the non-deductibility of the goodwill
impairment charge for tax purposes. See Note 5 for further discussion of our discontinued operations.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, which can be found in Item 8, is incorporated
herein by reference.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of the end of the period covered by this annual report on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief
Financial Officer (“CFO”), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based upon such evaluation, the
CEO and CFO have concluded that, as of the end of such period, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.
Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Our internal control over financial reporting has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as indicated in their report, which can be found in Item 8 and is incorporated herein by
reference.
Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter 2017,
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial
reporting. Management’s Report on Internal Controls at December 31, 2017 is included in Item 8.
Item 9B. Other Information
None
PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
We have a code of ethics that applies to the CEO, the CFO and the Corporate Controller, as well as our directors and
all employees. Our code of ethics can be found at our Internet website “investors.cbi.com/corporate-governance” and is
incorporated herein by reference.
We submitted a Section 12(a) CEO certification to the New York Stock Exchange in 2017. Also during 2017, we filed
with the Securities Exchange Commission certifications, pursuant to Rule 13A-14 of the Exchange Act as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this Form 10-K.
Information required by this item will be provided by an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K containing
the applicable disclosures within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
Information required by this item will be provided by an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K containing
the applicable disclosures within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Information required by this item will be provided by an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K containing
the applicable disclosures within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report.
In addition, disclosure regarding equity compensation plan information in “Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common
Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities” of Part II of this report is herein
incorporated by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Information required by this item will be provided by an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K containing
the applicable disclosures within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
Information required by this item will be provided by an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K containing
the applicable disclosures within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
Financial Statements
The following Consolidated Financial Statements and Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
included under Item 8 of Part II of this report are herein incorporated by reference:
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Statements of Operations—For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income—For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
Consolidated Balance Sheets—As of December 31, 2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity—For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Financial Statement Schedules
All schedules have been omitted because the schedules are not applicable, the required information is not in amounts
sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or the information required is shown in the Consolidated Financial
Statements or notes thereto previously included under Item 8 of Part II of this report.
Quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is shown in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included under Item 8 of Part II of this report.
Exhibits
The Exhibit Index, starting on the next page, and Exhibits being filed are submitted as part of this report.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

2.1

Share Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 24, 2007, by and among ABB Holdings Inc., ABB
Holdings B.V., ABB Asea Brown Boveri Ltd., Chicago Bridge & Iron Company, Chicago Bridge & Iron
Company B.V. and Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 30, 2007 (File No. 1-12815))

2.2
Transaction Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2012, by and among The Shaw Group, Inc., Chicago Bridge &
Iron Company N.V. and Crystal Acquisition Subsidiary Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 1, 2012 (File No. 1-12815))

2.3

Purchase Agreement, dated October 27, 2015, by and among Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V., CB&I
Stone & Webster, Inc., WSW Acquisition Co., LLC and Westinghouse Electric Company LLC. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 28, 2015
(File No. 1-12815))

2.4

Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 27, 2017, by and among Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.,
The Shaw Group Inc., CBI Peruana SAC, Horton CBI, Limited and CSVC Acquisition Corp. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.4 to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2016 filed with the SEC
on March 1, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(a) Amendment Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2017, to the Purchase Agreement dated as of February 27,
2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
July 7, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(b) Letter Amendment, dated as of June 30, 2017, to the Purchase Agreement dated as of February 27, 2017
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July
7, 2017 (File No. 1-12815), which filing omitted the schedules to the Letter Amendment pursuant to Item 601
(b) of Regulation S-K and noted that a copy of the omitted schedules will be furnished to the SEC
supplementally upon request)

2.5

Business Combination Agreement by and among McDermott International, Inc., McDermott Technology,
B.V., McDermott Technology (Americas), LLC, McDermott Technology (US), LLC, Chicago Bridge & Iron
Company N.V., Comet I B.V., Comet II B.V., CB&I Oil & Gas Europe B.V., CB&I Group UK Holdings,
CB&I Nederland B.V. and The Shaw Group, Inc. dated as of December 18, 2017 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 2.1 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 2017 (File No.
1-12815))
(a) Amendment No.1 and Partial Assignment and Assumption of Business Combination Agreement dated as
of January 24, 2018 by and among McDermott International, Inc., McDermott Technology, B.V., McDermott
Technology (Americas), LLC, McDermott Technology (US), LLC, McDermott Technology (2), B.V.,
McDermott Technology (3), B.V., Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V., Comet I B.V., Comet II B.V.,
CB&I Oil & Gas Europe B.V., CB&I Group UK Holdings, CB&I Nederland B.V. and The Shaw Group, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to McDermott's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
January 24, 2018 (File No. 001-08430))

3
Amended Articles of Association of the Company (English translation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005, filed with the SEC on
August 8, 2005 (File No. 1-12815))

10.1 (1) Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and its Supervisory and Managing Directors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC
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on March 21, 1997 (File No. 333-18065))

10.2 (1)
The Company’s Deferred Compensation Plan As Amended and Restated January 1, 2008 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2014 filed with the SEC
on February 25, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))

10.3 (1) The Company’s Excess Benefit Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to CB&I's Annual Report onForm 10-K for the year ended 1997 filed with the SEC on March 31, 1998 (File No. 1-12815))
(a) Amendments of Sections 2.13 and 4.3 of the Company’s Excess Benefit Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6a to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004, filed with the
SEC on August 9, 2004 (File No. 1-12815)) (1)

10.4 (1) Employee Benefits Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to CB&I’s Registration Statementon Form S-1 filed with the SEC on March 21, 1997 (File No. 333-18065))

10.5 (1)
The Company’s Supervisory Board of Directors Fee Payment Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16
to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1998, filed with the SEC on
November 12, 1998 (File No. 1-12815))
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10.6 (1)
The Company’s Supervisory Board of Directors Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.17 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1998, filed with the
SEC on November 12, 1998 (File No. 1-12815))

10.7 (1)
The Chicago Bridge & Iron 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan As Amended May 8, 2008 (incorporated by
reference to Annex B to CB&I’s 2008 Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on April 8, 2008 (File
No. 1-12815))
(a) 2009 Amendment to the Chicago Bridge & Iron 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Annex B to CB&I’s 2009 Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on March 25, 2009 (File
No. 1-12815)) (1)
(b) 2012 Amendment to the Chicago Bridge & Iron 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Annex A to CB&I’s 2012 Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on March 22, 2012 (File
No. 1-12815)) (1)
(c) 2015 Amendment to the Chicago Bridge & Iron 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 30, 2015,
filed with the SEC on April 24, 2015 (File No. 1-12815)) (1)
(d) 2016 Amendment to the Chicago Bridge & Iron 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Annex A to CB&I’s 2016 Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on March 24, 2016 (File
No. 1-12815)) (1)

10.8 (1)
The Company’s Incentive Compensation Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to CB&I’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 30, 1999, filed with the SEC on May 14, 1999
(File No. 1-12815))

10.9 (1)
Chicago Bridge & Iron Savings Plan as amended and restated as of January 1, 2016 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2016, filed with the SEC on October 27, 2016 (File No. 1-12815))
(a) Amendment No. 2, dated as of June 22, 2017, to the Chicago Bridge & Iron Savings Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed
with the SEC on August 9, 2017 (File No. 1-12815)) (1)
(b) Amendment No. 3, dated as of June 30, 2017, to the Chicago Bridge & Iron Savings Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017,
filed with the SEC on August 9, 2017 (File No. 1-12815) (1)

10.10
(1)

Chicago Bridge & Iron 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit B to
CB&I’s 2001 Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on April 10, 2001 (File No. 1-12815))
(a) 2009 Amendment to Chicago Bridge & Iron 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by
reference to Annex D to CB&I’s 2009 Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on March 25, 2009 (File
No. 1-12815)) (1)

10.11
Sales Agency Agreement, dated August 18, 2009, between Chicago Bridge & Iron N.V. and Calyon
Securities (USA) Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on August 18, 2009 (File No. 1-12815))
(a) Amendment to the Sales Agency Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(a) to CB&I’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011, filed with the SEC on July 22, 2011
(File No. 1-12815))

10.12 Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated July 23, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, filed with the SEC on
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July 27, 2010 (File No. 1-12815))
(a) Exhibits and Schedules to the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1(a) to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, filed with
the SEC on July 27, 2010 (File No. 1-12815))
(b) Joinder to the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1(b) to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, filed with the SEC on
July 27, 2010 (File No. 1-12815))
(c) Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 14, 2011, to the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2011, filed with the SEC on October 26, 2011 (File No. 1-12815))
(d) Amendment No. 2, dated as of December 21, 2012, to the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 28, 2012 (File No. 1-12815))
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10.13

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2012, by and among Chicago Bridge & Iron Company
N.V., Chicago Bridge & Iron Company (Delaware), the Other Subsidiary Borrowers, Bank of America, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent and Swing Line Lender, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank as
Syndication Agent, and the lenders and other financial institutions party thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 28, 2012 (File No.
1-12815))
(a) Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 28, 2013, to the Revolving Credit Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013,
filed with the SEC on October 30, 2013 (File No. 1-12815))
(b) Amendment No. 2, dated as of December 31, 2014, to the Revolving Credit Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.13(b) to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2014 filed with the
SEC on February 25, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))

10.14

Term Loan Agreement, dated December 21, 2012, by and among Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.,
Chicago Bridge & Iron Company (Delaware), Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Crédit
Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank as Syndication Agent, and the lenders and other financial institutions
party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 28, 2012 (File No. 1-12815))
(a) Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 28, 2013, to the Term Loan Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, filed with
the SEC on October 30, 2013 (File No. 1-12815))
(b) Amendment No. 2, dated as of December 31, 2014, to the Term Loan Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.14(b) to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2014 filed with the SEC on
February 25, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
(c) Amendment No. 3, dated as of July 8, 2015, to the Term Loan Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 14, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
(d) Amendment No. 4, dated as of October 27, 2015, to the Term Loan Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 2.5 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 28, 2015 (File No.
1-12815))

10.15

Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement dated December 27, 2012, by and among Chicago Bridge & Iron
Company N.V., Chicago Bridge & Iron Company (Delaware) and each of the purchasers party thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
January 4, 2013 (File No. 1-12815))
(a) First Amendment, dated as of February 12, 2013, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.9 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October
28, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
(b) Amendment No. 2, dated as of June 30, 2015, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 2.10 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 28, 2015
(File No. 1-12815))
(c) Third Amendment, dated as of October 27, 2015, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.7 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October
28, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
(d) Fourth Amendment, dated as of December 29, 2016, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15(d) to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2016
filed with the SEC on March 1, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(e) Fifth Amendment, dated as of February 24, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15(e) to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2016
filed with the SEC on March 1, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
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(f) Sixth Amendment and Waiver, dated as of May 8, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2017, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(g) Seventh Amendment and Waiver, dated as of August 9, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on August 15, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(h) Consent and Eighth Amendment, dated as of October 5, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2017, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(i) Ninth Amendment, dated as of December 6, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 7, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
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(j) Tenth Amendment, dated as of December 18, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 20, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))

10.16
The Shaw Group Inc. 401(k) Plan as amended and restated as of January 1, 2014 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.27 to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2013 filed with the SEC on
February 27, 2014 (File No. 1-12815))

10.17 (1)
The Shaw Group Inc. 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to The Shaw
Group’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 2009, filed with the SEC on April
9, 2009 (File No. 1-12227))
(a) First Amendment to The Shaw Group Inc. 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to The Shaw Group's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 20, 2011 (File
No. 1-12815)) (1)
(b) Second Amendment to The Shaw Group Inc. 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to The Shaw Group's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 20, 2011 (File
No. 1-12227)) (1)
(c) Third Amendment to The Shaw Group Inc. 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 30, 2014, filed with the
SEC on April 23, 2014 (File No. 1-12227)) (1)
(d) Fourth Amendment to The Shaw Group Inc. 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 30, 2015, filed with the
SEC on April 24, 2015 (File No. 1-12815)) (1)

10.18 (1)
Form of Employee Incentive Stock Option Award under The Shaw Group Inc. 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 to The Shaw Group’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended November 30, 2009, filed with the SEC on January 6, 2010 (File No. 1-12227))

10.19 (1)

Form of Employee Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement under The Shaw Group Inc. 2008
Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68 to The Shaw Group’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 30, 2009, filed with the SEC on January 6, 2010 (File No.
1-12227))

10.20 (1)
Form of Employee Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under The Shaw Group Inc. 2008 Omnibus
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Shaw Group's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended 2012 filed with the SEC on October 19, 2012 (File No. 1-12227))

10.21 (1)
Form of Employee Cash Settled Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under The Shaw Group Inc. 2008
Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Shaw Group's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended 2012 filed with the SEC on October 19, 2012 (File No. 1-12227))

10.22
Bond Trust Deed, dated October 13, 2006, between Nuclear Energy Holdings, L.L.C. (“NEH”) and The Bank
of New York, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to The Shaw Group's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2006 (File No. 1-12227))

10.23
Parent Pledge Agreement, dated October 13, 2006, between the Company and The Bank of New York
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to The Shaw Group's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on October 18, 2006 (File No. 1-12227))
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10.24
Issuer Pledge Agreement, dated October 13, 2006, between NEH and The Bank of New York (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to The Shaw Group's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
October 18, 2006 (File No. 1-12227))

10.25
Deed of Charge, dated October 13, 2006, among NEH, The Bank of New York, as trustee, and Morgan
Stanley Capital Services Inc., as swap counterparty (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to The Shaw
Group's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2006 (File No. 1-12227))

10.26
Transferable Irrevocable Direct Pay Letter of Credit (Principal Letter of Credit) effective October 13, 2006
of Bank of America in favor of NEH (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to The Shaw Group's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2006 (File No. 1-12227))

10.27
Transferable Irrevocable Direct Pay Letter of Credit (Interest Letter of Credit) effective October 13, 2006 of
Bank of America in favor of NEH (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to The Shaw Group's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2006 (File No. 1-12227))

10.28
Reimbursement Agreement dated as of October 13, 2006, between The Shaw Group Inc. and Toshiba
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to The Shaw Group's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on October 18, 2006 (File No. 1-12227))
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10.29

First Lien Intercreditor Agreement Dated As Of November 29, 2010, Among Nuclear Innovation North
America LLC, Nina Investments Holdings LLC, Nuclear Innovation North America Investments LLC, Nina
Texas 3 Llc and Nina Texas 4 LLC, The Other Grantors Party Hereto, Toshiba America Nuclear Energy
Corporation, as Toshiba Collateral Agent, and The Shaw Group Inc., As Shaw Collateral Agent (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to The Shaw Group’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
November 30, 2010, filed with the SEC on January 6, 2011 (File No. 1-12227))

10.30

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2013, by and among Chicago Bridge & Iron Company
N.V., Chicago Bridge & Iron Company (Delaware), the Other Subsidiary Borrowers, Bank of America, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent and BNP Paribas Securities Corp., BBVA Compass, Crédit Agricole Corporate and
Investment Bank and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, as Syndication Agents, and the lenders and other
financial institutions party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, filed with the SEC on October 30, 2013 (File No.
1-12815))
(a) Amendment No. 1, dated as of June 11, 2014, to the Revolving Credit Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.30(a) to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2014 filed with the
SEC on February 25, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
(b) Amendment No. 2, dated as of December 31, 2014, to the Revolving Credit Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.30(b) to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2014 filed with the
SEC on February 25, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
(c) Amendment No. 3, dated as of July 8, 2015, to the Revolving Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 14, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
(d) Amendment No. 4, dated as of October 27, 2015, to the Revolving Credit Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.3 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 28, 2015 (File
No. 1-12815))
(e) Amendment No. 5, dated as of February 24, 2017, to the Revolving Credit Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.30(e) to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2016 filed with the
SEC on March 1, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(f) Amendment No. 6 and Waiver, dated as of May 8, 2017, to the Revolving Credit Agreement (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017,
filed with the SEC on May 10, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(g) Amendment No. 7, dated as of May 29, 2017, to the Revolving Credit Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 2, 2017 (File No.
1-12815))
(h) Amendment No. 8 and Waiver, dated as of August 9, 2017, to the Revolving Credit Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August
15, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(i) Amendment No. 9, dated as of December 18, 2017, to the Revolving Credit Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 2017
(File No. 1-12815))
(j) Amendment No. 10, dated as of February 9, 2018, to the Revolving Credit Agreement (2)

10.31

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of July 8, 2015, by and among Chicago Bridge
& Iron Company N.V., Chicago Bridge & Iron Company (Delaware), as the Initial Borrower, certain
Subsidiaries of Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V. party thereto, as Designated Borrowers, Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer, and the lenders party thereto, and
the agents party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on July 14, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
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(a) Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 27, 2015, to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.4 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on October 28, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
(b) Amendment No. 2, dated as of February 24, 2017, to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31(b) to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended 2016 filed with the SEC on March 1, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(c) Amendment No. 3 and Waiver, dated as of May 8, 2017, to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2017, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(d) Amendment No. 4, dated as of May 29, 2017, to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 2,
2017 (File No. 1-12815))
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(e) Amendment No. 5 and Waiver, dated as of August 9, 2017, to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on August 15, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(f) Amendment No. 6, dated as of December 18, 2017, to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 20, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))

10.32

Term Loan Agreement, dated as of July 8, 2015, by and among Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.,
Chicago Bridge & Iron Company (Delaware), as Borrower, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent,
the lenders party thereto, and the agents party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CB&I's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 14, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
(a) Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 27, 2015, to the Term Loan Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 2.6 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 28, 2015 (File No.
1-12815))
(b) Amendment No. 2, dated as of February 24, 2017, to the Term Loan Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.32(b) to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2016 filed with the SEC on
March 1, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(c) Amendment No. 3 and Waiver, dated as of May 8, 2017, to the Term Loan Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017,
filed with the SEC on May 10, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(d) Amendment No. 4, dated as of May 29, 2017, to the Term Loan Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 2, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(e) Amendment No. 5 and Waiver, dated as of August 9, 2017, to the Term Loan Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 15, 2017 (File
No. 1-12815))
(f) Amendment No. 6, dated as of December 18, 2017, to the Term Loan Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.5 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 2017 (File No.
1-12815))

10.33

Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement dated as of July 22, 2015, by and among Chicago Bridge & Iron
Company N.V., Chicago Bridge & Iron Company (Delaware) and each of the purchasers party thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2015, filed with the SEC on July 24, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
(a) First Amendment, dated as of October 27, 2015, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.8 to CB&I's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October
28, 2015 (File No. 1-12815))
(b) Second Amendment, dated as of December 29, 2016, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33(b) to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2016
filed with the SEC on March 1, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(c) Third Amendment, dated as of February 24, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33(c) to CB&I's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 2016
filed with the SEC on March 1, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(d) Fourth Amendment and Waiver, dated as of May 8, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2017, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(e) Fifth Amendment and Waiver, dated as of August 9, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August
15, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
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(f) Consent and Sixth Amendment, dated as of October 5, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2017, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(g) Seventh Amendment, dated as of December 6, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 7, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
(h) Eighth Amendment, dated as of December 18, 2017, to the Note Purchase and Guarantee Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CB&I’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 20, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))
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10.34

Employee Matters Agreement, dated October 27, 2015, by and among Chicago Bridge & Iron
Company N.V., CB&I Stone & Webster, Inc., WSW Acquisition Co., LLC and Westinghouse
Electric Company LLC. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to CB&I's Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on October 28, 2015 (File No. 1-12815)

10.35
Separation Agreement and Release (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2017
(File No. 1-12815))

10.36 (1)
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Letter pursuant to CB&I’s 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as
amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed with the SEC on August 9, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))

10.37 (1)
Form of Performance Share Award Letter pursuant to CB&I’s 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as
amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to CB&I’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed with the SEC on August 9, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))

10.38
Separation and Release Agreement dated as of June 27, 2017 between Chicago Bridge & Iron
Company (Delaware) and Philip K. Asherman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to CB&I’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 3, 2017 (File No. 1-12815))

10.39 (2) Separation and Release Agreement dated as of October 18, 2017 between Chicago Bridge & Iron
Company (Delaware) and Luke V. Scorsone

21.1 (2) List of Significant Subsidiaries

23.1 (2) Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 (2) Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13A-14 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 (2) Certification of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13A-14 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 (2) Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 (2) Certification of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS (2),(3) XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH (2),(3) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL (2),(3) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF (2),(3) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB (2),(3) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE (2),(3) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

(1) Management compensatory plan or arrangement
(2) Filed herewith
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(3)

Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following documents formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business
Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016
and 2015, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2017,
2016 and 2015, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, (iv) the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, (v) the Consolidated Statements
of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 20, 2018.

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

/s/ Patrick K. Mullen
Patrick K. Mullen
(Authorized Signer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 20, 2018.

Signature Title
/s/ Patrick K. Mullen President and Chief Executive Officer
Patrick K. Mullen (Principal Executive Officer)

Supervisory Director

/s/ Michael S. Taff Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Michael S. Taff (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Westley S. Stockton Vice President, Corporate Controller
Westley S. Stockton and Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ L. Richard Flury Supervisory Director and Non-Executive Chairman
L. Richard Flury

/s/ James R. Bolch Supervisory Director
James R. Bolch

/s/ Deborah M. Fretz Supervisory Director
Deborah M. Fretz

/s/ W. Craig Kissel Supervisory Director
W. Craig Kissel

/s/ Larry D. McVay Supervisory Director
Larry D. McVay

/s/ James H. Miller Supervisory Director
James H. Miller

/s/ Forbes I.J. Alexander Supervisory Director
Forbes I.J. Alexander

/s/ Marsha C. Williams Supervisory Director
Marsha C. Williams
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Registrant’s Agent for Service in the United States

/s/ Kirsten B. David
Kirsten B. David
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